PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY







C

PCD Collection: Eliminating Health Disparities A Collection of Papers Dedicated to the Life and Work of Dr. Timothy Cunningham

Contents

Advancing Health Disparities Research in Population Health Leonard Jack Jr, PhD, MSc	01
Using School Staff Members to Implement a Childhood Obesity Prevention Intervention in Low-Income School Districts: The Massachusetts Childhood Obesity Research Demonstration Rachel E. Blaine, DSc, RD; Rebecca L. Franckle, ScD; Claudia Ganter, MPH; Jennifer Falbe, ScD; Catherine Giles, MPH; Shaniece Criss, ScD; Jo-Ann Kwass, MS; Thomas Land, PhD; Steven L. Gortmaker, PhD; Emmeline Chuang, PhD; Kirsten K. Davison, PhD; MA-CORD Project Group	02
Geographic Association Between Income Inequality and Obesity Among Adults in New York State Daniel Kim; Fusheng Wang, PhD; Chrisa Arcan, PhD, MHS, MBA, RD	03
Longitudinal Analysis of Nut-Inclusive Diets and Body Mass Index Among Overweight and Obese African American Women Living in Rural Alabama and Mississippi, 2011–2013 Samara R. Sterling, PhD, MS; Brenda Bertrand, PhD, RD; Suzanne Judd, PhD; Tiffany L. Carson, PhD; Paula Chandler-Laney, PhD; Monica L. Baskin, PhD	04
Health Care Disparities Between Men and Women with Type 2 Diabetes Marady Sabiaga Mesa, MPH	05
Education, Income, and Employment and Prevalence of Chronic Disease Among American Indian/Alaska Native Elders Collette Adamsen, MPA; Shawnda Schroeder, PhD; Steven LeMire, PhD; Paula Carter, PhD	06
Falls and Fall-Related Injuries Among US Adults Aged 65 or Older with Chronic Kidney Disease Brandon M. Kistler, PhD, RD; Jagdish Khubchandani, MBBS, PhD; Gina Jakubowicz, MS, RDN; Kenneth Wilund, PhD; Jacob Sosnoff, PhD	07
Patterns of Screen Time Among Rural Mexican-American Children on the New Mexico-Mexico Border Jill A. McDonald, PhD, MS; Christopher Sroka, PhD; Elizabeth Olivares, MPH; Merranda Marin, PhD, LP; Maria Gurrola, PhD, MSW; Joseph R. Sharkey, PhD, MPH	08
A Diabetic Retinopathy Screening Tool for Low-Income Adults in Mexico Kenny Mendoza-Herrera, MS; Amado D. Quezada, MS; Andrea Pedroza-Tobías, MS; Cesar Hernández-Alcaraz, MS; Jans Fromow-Guerra, PhD; Simón Barquera, PhD	09
Achieving Excellence in the Practice of Chronic Disease Epidemiology Renee M. Calanan, PhD; Michelle Sandoval-Rosario, MPH; Janae D. Price, MPH; Claudine M. Samanic, PhD: Hua Lu, MS; Kamil E. Barbour, PhD	10

Eliminating Health Disparities: A Collection of Papers Dedicated to the Life and Work of Dr. Timothy Cunningham

PCD is fortunate to have some of the most talented, well-trained, and insightful public health professionals working closely with us to achieve our mission and vision. Dr. Timothy (Tim) Cunningham, ScD, SM, was one of those gifted individuals. He was appointed Associate Editor in June of 2017, and during his tenure he provided exemplary scientific review and oversight of manuscripts on many important research and evaluation topic areas, including randomized trials of behavioral interventions; epidemiological studies examining the influence of social determinants of health on health outcomes among racial/ethnic groups; the application of survey methods to assess effectiveness of local interventions; and public health approaches to mediating the effect of food insecurity among vulnerable populations.



Dr. Cunningham was masterful at providing both novice and seasoned researchers with accurate and detailed feedback that greatly improved the quality of research submitted to PCD. He assisted researchers with

developing and refining research topics; identifying and addressing research bias; critically examining the quality of data and determining its fit for reported use; assessing the quality of statistical analyses; and communicating in writing to convey complex information in user-friendly ways. Dr. Cunningham brought his rich research experience to every article assigned to him as Associate Editor, and he had a thirst for knowledge that encouraged authors to move past the familiar to make a stronger case for publication in our journal. He strongly encouraged authors to challenge their work by sharing not only the strengths but also the limitations of their research. Dr. Cunningham was a tremendous asset to PCD in so many ways. He was a vital member of our team of Associate Editors and brought an impressive blend of expertise to the journal.

Dr. Cunningham understood and shared the journal's commitment to serving the public, and his contributions helped us to fulfill our mission of disseminating proven and promising public health findings, innovations, and practices. In honor of Dr. Cunningham's illustrious career and in appreciation for his many contributions to the journal, this collection is dedicated in memory of his career as a social epidemiologist, published author, and esteemed PCD Associate Editor.

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND PUBLIC HEALTH POLICY Volume 15. E147 NOVEMBER 2018

EDITOR IN CHIEF'S COLUMN

Advancing Health Disparities Research in **Population Health**

Leonard Jack Jr, PhD, MSc

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2018/18 0588.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Jack L Jr. Advancing Health Disparities Research in Population Health. Prev Chronic Dis 2018; 15:180588. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd15.180588.



Leonard Jack Jr, PhD, MSc

The mission of Preventing Chronic Disease (PCD) is to promote dialogue among researchers, practitioners, and policy makers worldwide on the integration and application of research findings and practical experience to improve population health (1). Published by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), PCD is a peer-reviewed journal respected for its integrity and relevance to chronic disease prevention and whose articles are authored by experts worldwide. PCD is committed to publishing content that elucidates worldwide understanding of health disparities and determinants linked to disparate health outcomes. Toward that end, PCD was fortunate to have had the expertise of Dr Tim Cunningham as an associate editor. Until his untimely passing (2), Dr Cunningham provided exemplary review and oversight of manuscripts related to social determinants of health and health disparities. Through his efforts, PCD published critical research on this important topic. In honor of Dr Cunningham's career and in appreciation for his service to the journal, PCD is dedicating to his memory this special collection of articles on effective and innovative ways to address causes of disparities from a multifactorial perspective.

Healthy People 2020 defines health disparities as "a particular type of health difference that is closely linked with social, economic, and/or environmental disadvantage" (3). As part of its mission, PCD has published papers identifying the effect of behavioral, psychological, genetic, environmental, biological, and social factors on health outcomes. PCD has also sought out research on the effectiveness of interventions addressing these factors, with the focus on reducing the disproportionate burden of chronic diseases among at-risk populations. This collection features 9 articles that address this topic from multiple perspectives:

- 1. The influence of implementation factors on the efficacy of school-based behavioral change interventions in low-income schools;
- 2. The economic factors linked to food insecurity and dietary consumption on obesity among diverse populations;
- 3. The relationships between consuming nuts, obesity-related foods, and body mass index among overweight and obese African American women in a rural setting;
- 4. The differences in health care services for diabetes care between men and women:
- 5. The influence of income, employment status, and education level on the prevalence of chronic disease among American Indian/Alaska Natives;
- 6. The contribution of falls and fall-related injuries to injury and death among older adults with chronic kidney disease;
- 7. The influence of sedentary behavior and the use of electronic screen devices among Mexican-origin children;
- 8. The creation of a diabetic retinopathy screening tool for a lowincome population; and



9. The building of chronic disease epidemiology, surveillance, and evaluation in state and local health departments.

Childhood obesity continues to be a national concern, especially among low-income households (4). Blaine and colleagues described efforts to implement the "Eat Well and Keep Moving" and "Planet Health" behavioral change interventions as part of the Massachusetts Childhood Obesity Research Demonstration (MA-CORD) project in 2 school districts facing resource limitations and competing priorities (5). Researchers shared important insights on the role that key implementation outcomes such as fidelity, cost, reach, and sustainability played in school participation and sustainability of intervention activities.

The effect of short-term and long-term economic strain on the health and well-being of individuals and families is well established in published literature (6). Economic factors have been linked to food insecurity and obesity across the life stages (7). Using a spatial-based approach, Kim and colleagues identified new insights into the relationship between county-level income inequality, poverty, and obesity prevalence across New York State (8). Researchers found that higher income inequality was associated with lower obesity rates and that higher percentages of poverty were associated with higher obesity rates.

High obesity rates among African Americans continue to be a tremendous public health concern (9). High obesity rates have been linked to numerous factors, including biology, dietary consumption, population characteristics, access to care, socioeconomic status, and environment (10). Sterling and coauthors conducted research that monitored and analyzed changes in nut intake, other obesity-related foods (red or processed meats, added sugars), and body mass index during a 2-year weight loss intervention (11). The weight loss intervention targeted 383 overweight and obese African American women living in rural Alabama and Mississippi. Researchers found that nut consumers had a lower body mass index than non-nut eaters. Even after accounting for kilocalorie consumption and physical activity engagement, weight loss by the end of the intervention was significant among nut consumers but not among non-nut consumers. Researchers found that intervention results were linked to nut consumers consuming less red meat than non-nut consumers and greater amounts of other nutritionally rich foods, such as fruits and vegetables.

The existence of disparities in the use of health care services by men and women has been the subject of increased empirical study in recent years (12,13). Mesa observed 100 patients with type 2 diabetes aged 45 or older who lived in Ventura County, California, to compare differences in health care services (hemoglobin A_{1c} test, cholesterol test, and retina examination) between men and women (14). During 1 year, although men and women had access to similar health care services for diabetes, men had higher hemoglobin A_{1c} levels and lower rates of showing up for appointments. Findings from this study provide evidence that continued efforts are needed to identify motivating factors to increase appointment scheduling and attendance among men.

Chronic diseases such as heart disease, diabetes, kidney disease, and chronic lower respiratory disease disproportionately affect American Indians/Alaska Native populations, resulting in low life expectancy (15). Adamsen and colleagues conducted a national survey to measure the influence of income, employment status, and education level on the prevalence of chronic disease in a sample of 14,632 American Indians/Alaska Natives from 2011 through 2014 (16). Researchers found that most (89.7%) study participants were diagnosed with at least 1 chronic disease. American Indians/Alaska Natives with middle-to-low income levels and those who were unemployed were more likely to have received a diagnosis of a chronic disease. The authors discussed how economic development and job creation may decrease the prevalence of chronic disease in tribal communities.

Falls and fall-related injuries are the leading cause of injury and death among adults aged 65 or older (17), especially among those with chronic kidney disease (18). Kistler and colleagues performed a secondary analysis of 157,753 adults aged 65 or older in the 2014 Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (19). Researchers found that adults aged 65 or older with chronic kidney disease were at increased risk of falling compared with adults in the same age range without chronic kidney disease. Researchers also found that modifiable factors such as physical function and recent exercise were most closely related to reduced risk and could be an appropriate target for fall prevention and rehabilitation programs.

Diverse factors, including family history, behavior, dietary habits, and environmental characteristics, simultaneously influence obesity among children in the United States (20). McDonald and her team of researchers examined sedentary behavior and the use of electronic screen devices among low-income Mexican-origin children aged 6 to 10 years living in rural communities near the US–Mexico border (21). Through interviews of 202 parents, researchers found that increased odds of heavy screen use were associated with having a television on while children ate. Parents reported that children also had access to electronic devices, social media, and the internet. Consistent with previously published research, this research affirmed the need to reduce screen time among children, particularly those at high risk for obesity.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

Diabetes is a major public health crisis in Mexico, with mortality rates among the highest in the world (22). Diabetes is associated with complications, such as diabetic retinopathy, that impede quality of life among patients (23). Last year's PCD Student Research Paper Contest winner in the graduate (master's degree) category, authored by Mendoza-Herrera and colleagues, presented research results on a tool they developed to screen for diabetic retinopathy in a low-income population (24). These researchers developed the screening tool after analyzing biochemical, clinical, anthropometric, and sociodemographic information on 1,000 adults living with diabetes in low-income communities in Mexico. They developed a low-cost and easy-to-use screening tool that accounted for risk factors for diabetic retinopathy such as time since diabetes diagnosis, high blood glucose levels, systolic hypertension, and physical inactivity.

And finally in this collection, PCD examined the unique position of public health workers in state and local health departments to address social determinants of health, health inequities, and population health improvements across a range of chronic conditions in the United States (25). Calanan and colleagues described the efforts of CDC's State Chronic Disease Epidemiology Assignee Program, a national program designed to build state and local chronic disease epidemiology, surveillance, and evaluation capacity by placing CDC field assignees in state and local health departments (26). The authors discussed how these assignees provide assistance in critical areas including conducting epidemiologic studies, building surveillance systems, evaluating chronic disease prevention and control programs, analyzing data, and training entry-level and mid-level chronic disease epidemiologists.

The articles selected for this collection demonstrate PCD's commitment to publishing cutting-edge research for researchers, practitioners, and policy makers to better understand the multifactorial causes of health disparities, so they can develop the most effective strategies for improving health outcomes. Findings across research shared in this collection highlight the importance of employing effective interventions that address both individual and contextual factors (27). In dedicating this special collection to Dr Cunningham for his career as a social epidemiologist, published author, and esteemed PCD associate editor, we honor the excellent work that has been accomplished so far and promise to continue identifying and publishing health disparities research that increases the public health field's understanding of what actions to take. Authors are encouraged to visit the Author's Corner section of the journal's website at https://www.cdc.gov/pcd/for_authors/ index.htm to learn more about article types that best fit their research addressing population-based approaches to ameliorate health disparities.

Author Information

Leonard Jack Jr, PhD, MSc, Editor in Chief, *Preventing Chronic Disease: Public Health Research, Practice, and Policy*, Office of Medicine and Science, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 4770 Buford Hwy NE, Mailstop F-80, Atlanta, GA 30341. Email: ljack@cdc.gov.

References

- 1. Jack L Jr. Using *PCD*'s first-ever external review to enhance the journal's worldwide usefulness to researchers, practitioners, and policy makers. Prev Chronic Dis 2018;15:E41.
- 2. Jack L Jr. In memory of Dr. Timothy Cunningham. https:// www.cdc.gov/pcd/announcements.htm/#tim. Accessed November 13, 2018.
- 3. US Department of Health and Human Services. Section IV: Advisory Committee findings and recommendation. In: The Secretary's Advisory Committee on National Health Promotion and Disease Prevention Objectives for 2020. Phase I report: recommendations for the framework and format of Healthy People 2020. http://www.healthypeople.gov/sites/ default/files/phaseI_0.pdf. Accessed November 17, 2018.
- 4. Li M, Mustillo S, Anderson J. Childhood poverty dynamics and adulthood overweight/obesity: unpacking the black box of childhood. Soc Sci Res 2018;76(Nov):92–104.
- 5. Blaine RE, Franckle RL, Ganter C, Falbe J, Giles C, Criss S, et al. Using school staff members to implement a childhood obesity prevention intervention in low-income school districts: the Massachusetts Childhood Obesity Research Demonstration (MA-CORD Project), 2012–2014. Prev Chronic Dis 2017; 14:E03.
- 6. Doom JR, Mason SM, Suglia SF, Clark CJ. Pathways between childhood/adolescent adversity, adolescent socioeconomic status, and long-term cardiovascular disease risk in young adulthood. Soc Sci Med 2017;188(Sept):166–75.
- 7. Gundersen C, Ziliak JP. Food insecurity and health outcomes. Health Aff (Millwood) 2015;34(11):1830–9.
- 8. Kim D, Wang F, Arcan C. Geographic association between income inequality and obesity among adults in New York State. Prev Chronic Dis 2018;15:E123.
- 9. Warnecke RB, Oh A, Breen N, Gehlert S, Paskett E, Tucker KL, et al. Approaching health disparities from a population perspective: the National Institutes of Health Centers for Population Health and Health Disparities. Am J Public Health 2008;98(9):1608–15.

- 10. Fosse E, Helgesen MK, Hagen S, Torp S. Addressing the social determinants of health at the local level: opportunities and challenges. Scand J Public Health 2018;46(20_suppl):47–52.
- 11. Sterling SR, Bertrand B, Judd S, Carson TL, Chandler-Laney P, Baskin ML. Longitudinal analysis of nut-inclusive diets and body mass index among overweight and obese African American women living in rural Alabama and Mississippi, 2011–2013. Prev Chronic Dis 2017;14:E82.
- 12. Pietrzak M, Pasek J, Cieślar G, Senejko M, Szajkowski S, Sieroń A. [Analysis of the most common reasons for patient visits to the primary care physician during a 6-month followup]. Pol Merkur Lekarski 2018;45(265):38–40. Polish.
- Vaidya V, Partha G, Karmakar M. Gender differences in utilization of preventive care services in the United States. J Womens Health (Larchmt) 2012;21(2):140–5.
- 14. Mesa MS. Health care disparities between men and women with type 2 diabetes. Prev Chronic Dis 2018;15:E46.
- 15. Espey DK, Jim MA, Cobb N, Bartholomew M, Becker T, Haverkamp D, et al. Leading causes of death and all-cause mortality in American Indians and Alaska Natives. Am J Public Health 2014;104(Suppl 3):S303–11.
- Adamsen C, Schroeder S, LeMire S, Carter P. Education, income, and employment and prevalence of chronic disease among American Indian/Alaska Native elders. Prev Chronic Dis 2018;15:E37.
- 17. Bergen G, Stevens MR, Burns ER. Falls and fall injuries among adults aged ≥65 years — United States, 2014. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2016;65(37):993–8.
- 18. Paliwal Y, Slattum PW, Ratliff SM. Chronic health conditions as a risk factor for falls among the community-dwelling US older adults: a zero-inflated regression modeling approach. BioMed Res Int 2017;2017:5146378.
- 19. Kistler BM, Khubchandani J, Jakubowicz G, Wilund K, Sosnoff J. Falls and fall-related injuries among US adults aged 65 or older with chronic kidney disease. Prev Chronic Dis 2018;15:E82.
- 20. Lynch BA, Finney Rutten LJ, Wilson PM, Kumar S, Phelan S, Jacobson RM, et al. The impact of positive contextual factors on the association between adverse family experiences and obesity in a national survey of children. Prev Med 2018; 116:81–6.
- 21. McDonald JA, Sroka C, Olivares E, Marin M, Gurrola M, Sharkey JR. Patterns of screen time among rural Mexican-American children on the New Mexico–Mexico border. Prev Chronic Dis 2018;15:E113.
- 22. Villalpando S, de la Cruz V, Rojas R, Shamah-Levy T, Avila MA, Gaona B, et al. Prevalence and distribution of type 2 diabetes mellitus in Mexican adult population: a probabilistic survey. Salud Publica Mex 2010;52(Suppl 1):S19–26.

- 23. Yau JWY, Rogers SL, Kawasaki R, Lamoureux EL, Kowalski JW, Bek T, et al.; Meta-Analysis for Eye Disease (META-EYE) Study Group. Global prevalence and major risk factors of diabetic retinopathy. Diabetes Care 2012;35(3):556–64.
- 24. Mendoza-Herrera K, Quezada AD, Pedroza-Tobías A, Hernández-Alcaraz C, Fromow-Guerra J, Barquera S. A diabetic retinopathy screening tool for low-income adults in Mexico. Prev Chronic Dis 2017;14:E95.
- 25. Bernstein MF, Cinnick SE, Franzosa E, Murrman MK, Freudenberg N. Rationale and design of distance-based training to persuade local health department employees that addressing social determinants of health is their job, too. J Public Health Manag Pract 2018;1.
- 26. Calanan RM, Sandoval-Rosario M, Price JD, Samanic CM, Lu H, Barbour KE. Achieving excellence in the practice of chronic disease epidemiology. Prev Chronic Dis 2018; 15:180526.
- 27. Singh GK, Daus GP, Allender M, Ramey CT, Martin EK, Perry C, et al. Social determinants of health in the United States: addressing major health inequality trends for the nation, 1935–2016. Int J MCH AIDS 2017;6(2):139–64.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE public health research, practice, and policy

Volume 14, E03

JANUARY 2017

ORIGINAL RESEARCH

Using School Staff Members to Implement a Childhood Obesity Prevention Intervention in Low-Income School Districts: the Massachusetts Childhood Obesity Research Demonstration (MA-CORD Project), 2012–2014

Rachel E. Blaine, DSc, RD¹; Rebecca L. Franckle, ScD²; Claudia Ganter, MPH³; Jennifer Falbe, ScD⁴; Catherine Giles, MPH⁵; Shaniece Criss, ScD⁶; Jo-Ann Kwass, MS⁷; Thomas Land, PhD⁸; Steven L. Gortmaker, PhD⁵; Emmeline Chuang, PhD⁹; Kirsten K. Davison, PhD²; MA-CORD Project Group

Suggested citation for this article: Blaine RE, Franckle RL, Ganter C, Falbe J, Giles C, Criss S, et al. Using School Staff Members to Implement a Childhood Obesity Prevention Intervention in Low-Income School Districts: the Massachusetts Childhood Obesity Research Demonstration (MA-CORD Project), 2012–2014. Prev Chronic Dis 2017;14:160381. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd14.160381.

PEER REVIEWED

Abstract

Introduction

Although evidence-based interventions to prevent childhood obesity in school settings exist, few studies have identified factors that enhance school districts' capacity to undertake such efforts. We describe the implementation of a school-based intervention using classroom lessons based on existing "Eat Well and Keep Moving" and "Planet Health" behavior change interventions and schoolwide activities to target 5,144 children in 4th through 7th grade in 2 low-income school districts

Methods

The intervention was part of the Massachusetts Childhood Obesity Research Demonstration (MA-CORD) project, a multisector community-based intervention implemented from 2012 through 2014. Using mixed methods, we operationalized key implementation outcomes, including acceptability, adoption, appropriateness, feasibility, implementation fidelity, perceived implementation cost, reach, and sustainability.

Results

MA-CORD was adopted in 2 school districts that were facing resource limitations and competing priorities. Although strong leadership support existed in both communities at baseline, one district's staff reported less schoolwide readiness and commitment. Consequently, fewer teachers reported engaging in training, teaching lessons, or planning to sustain the lessons after MA-CORD. Interviews showed that principal and superintendent turnover, statewide testing, and teacher burnout limited implementation; passionate wellness champions in schools appeared to offset implementation barriers.

Conclusion

Future interventions should assess adoption readiness at both leadership and staff levels, offer curriculum training sessions during school hours, use school nurses or health teachers as wellness champions to support teachers, and offer incentives such as staff stipends or play equipment to encourage school participation and sustained intervention activities.

Introduction

Childhood obesity threatens the health of American children, especially those in low-income households (1,2). Although evidence



supports the efficacy of school-based interventions in reducing obesogenic behaviors and body mass index (BMI) among children (3-6), limited data describe school districts' capacity to undertake such interventions (7). In 2011, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention funded 4 grantees to conduct a 4-year Childhood Obesity Research Demonstration (CORD) project aimed at improving low-income children's nutrition and physical activity behaviors. This study describes the implementation of a school-based obesity prevention intervention within the Massachusetts CORD project (MA-CORD) in 2 low-income school districts (8). Using a mixed methods design, we assessed facilitators and barriers to achieving implementation outcomes adapted from the taxonomy of Proctor et al (9). We hypothesized that a classroom-based health behavior intervention for 4th through 7th grade students would be most effective when the school staff felt activities were appropriate, feasible, and supported by district administrators.

Examining implementation outcomes (eg, extent to which an intervention is adopted by teachers) provides context for intervention outcomes (eg, change in children's BMI) and is needed to ensure that interventions are effectively adopted, translated, and sustained in community settings. Implementation outcomes can also serve as proximal indicators of intervention outcomes, which are described elsewhere (10). We provide an overview of MA-CORD adoption, implementation, and potential to be sustained, along with a summary of strategies for remediating implementation barriers.

Methods

MA-CORD was a multilevel, multisector intervention to prevent or control obesity among children aged 2 to 12 years in 2 low-income communities (mean annual per capita income <\$35,000) in Massachusetts with greater-than-average prevalence of childhood obesity (combined mean, 26%) relative to national estimates (17%) (10). Community 1's population of approximately 40,000, and Community 2's population of approximately 95,000 each has a single school district. MA-CORD was implemented from 2012 through 2014 across 6 sectors (health care; early childhood care and education; school; afterschool; Women, Infants, and Children [WIC]; and the broad community). MA-CORD targeted obesityrelated behaviors: fruit and vegetable consumption, sugarsweetened beverage consumption, physical inactivity, screen time, and insufficient sleep duration and quality. Detailed information on MA-CORD intervention components is published elsewhere (8,10).

The MA-CORD school intervention consisted of evidence-based components: teacher training, curriculum delivery, use of well-

ness champions (eg, school nurses, teachers), provision of physical activity supplies (eg, balls, jump ropes), and educational materials (eg, flyers, banners). Each district used one part-time, paid coordinator to oversee administration of MA-CORD. Wellness champions were identified at baseline in each school and compensated \$1,000 per academic year to lead school-wide wellness activities (eg, improved policies, fun runs, student media competitions) that reinforced MA-CORD messages and classroom interventions. School nurses received \$500 per academic year to support MA-CORD data collection and wellness activities.

We focused on the role of teachers in administering adapted versions of evidence-based interventions designed for students in 4th and 5th grade elementary school (Eat Well and Keep Moving) and 6th and 7th grade middle school (Planet Health) (3,4). In year 1, teachers received a 3-hour training that introduced curricula materials to be integrated across major subjects (ie, math, language arts, and social studies). In Community 1, teachers were trained during school hours, and MA-CORD funds supplied substitute teachers for the time. In Community 2, teachers were trained after school hours and compensated \$100. Teachers were encouraged to incorporate at least 6 lesson plans aligned with MA-CORD behavioral targets per academic year. In lieu of training all classroom teachers, Community 1 administrators opted to train health education teachers exclusively to implement the lessons across grades 4 through 7. Because each health teacher taught multiple classes across grades, this meant fewer teachers required training. In Community 2, both classroom teachers (grades 4 and 5) and health teachers (grades 6 and 7) received training.

We employed a convergent, parallel mixed-methods design (11) to examine facilitators and barriers to implementing MA-CORD. Informed by the taxonomy of Proctor et al of outcomes for implementation research (9), outcomes included were acceptability, adoption, appropriateness, feasibility, implementation fidelity, perceived implementation cost, reach, and sustainability. Throughout the intervention we collected data from school staff members using both qualitative methods (ie, in-depth interviews) and quantitative methods (eg, cross-sectional surveys) to assess these outcomes (Figure 1). Our design was ideally suited for process evaluation because interview findings provided context for outcomes not easily explained through survey data alone.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.



Figure 1. MA-CORD school sector implementation data used in a convergent parallel mixed methods design. The MA-CORD intervention occurred over a 2-year period and was evaluated using both quantitative and qualitative measures.

For both in-depth interviews and readiness surveys we used a convenience sample of school leaders (eg, principals, community coordinators, wellness champions) and staff members (eg, teachers, school nurses) in MA-CORD schools in Community 1 (n = 6) and Community 2 (n = 22). End-of-year curriculum surveys were collected from eligible teachers. The number of eligible teachers varied slightly by year in Community 1 (n = 7 in year 1; n = 6 in year 2) and Community 2 (n = 117 in year 1; n = 122 in year 2). Interviewees from each community were principals and superintendents (n = 5), wellness champions and school nurses (n = 11), and teachers eligible to offer the curricula (n = 7).

Two anonymous surveys were administered at baseline to assess stakeholder readiness for implementing MA-CORD (Figure 1). In addition, 2 anonymous surveys were administered to teachers at the end of each academic year to assess the delivery of the MA-CORD intervention. These surveys were administered online via Qualtrics Insight (Qualtrics) or pen-to-paper (Appendix A, Appendix B). In-depth interviews were conducted by telephone with school leaders and staff members in year 2 to assess implementation of MA-CORD activities. Study procedures were approved by the human subjects committees of the Massachusetts Department of Public Health, Harvard T.H. Chan School of Public Health, Massachusetts General Hospital, and Harvard Pilgrim Health Care Institute in June 2012 (#331765).

Measures

Readiness surveys. Two measures of organizational readiness for change were used to measure program acceptability. The first, provided to school leaders, contained items adapted from an existing tool (12) and assessed school and district readiness for adoption and leadership support for MA-CORD. The second survey given to school staff (eg, teachers, nurses) contained items adapted from an existing readiness-for-change scale for employees within an organization (13,14) to assess staff engagement and support for MA-CORD.

Curriculum surveys. Curriculum surveys collected at the end of years 1 and 2 assessed appropriateness (eg, lessons perceived as positive addition to curriculum), feasibility, perceived implementation cost (eg, perceived competence to teach curriculum, perceived effort to obtain materials to complete lessons), implementation fidelity (eg, proportion of MA-CORD lessons taught), and sustainability (eg, plans to continue offering the lessons in the following year).

In-depth interviews. Using semi-structured interview guides, participants were asked about appropriateness of MA-CORD, barriers and facilitators to adoption, implementation fidelity, perceived intervention cost, and changes in activities over time. To examine sustainability of MA-CORD activities, participants were also asked about intervention reach based on links to activities in their school and community.

Internal records. For each community, we obtained a census roll of superintendents, principals, school nurses, school coordinators, wellness champions, and eligible teachers. These records were updated regularly on the basis of reports from internal research group meetings (eg, staff layoffs, medical leave) or delays in intervention activities (eg, snow days). Sign-in sheets indicated the number of teachers who completed the MA-CORD curriculum training.

Data analysis

We used SAS 9.3 (SAS Institute) to generate descriptive statistics including means, standard deviations, and frequencies for survey and internal record data. Interviews were digitally recorded, transcribed verbatim, and analyzed using NVivo 10 (QSR International). A coding scheme was developed based on a conceptual framework (9) and piloted with 5 transcripts among 3 coders to ensure internal consistency (Appendix C). Transcripts were double coded using the constant comparative method (15) to identify emergent themes, and discrepancies were discussed through peer review to clarify coded passages and resulting themes. Finalized themes

within implementation outcome categories were coded and summarized within and across both MA-CORD communities (Appendix D). Qualitative and quantitative data were triangulated across outcomes to identify factors that influenced implementation.

Results

Table 1 summarizes characteristics of communities, schools, students and staff. Quantitative and qualitative measures were used to assess outcomes based on the taxonomy for implementation research outcomes of Proctor et al (9) (Table 2). MA-CORD implementation barriers and facilitators were assessed during year 2 using in-depth interviews and summarized based on implementation outcomes (Table 3).

Acceptability. Before the intervention, leaders in both districts reported high levels of support for MA-CORD (Table 2). Among school staff members, scores for organizational commitment, motivation, and confidence in their school's ability to support MA-CORD were lower in Community 2 than Community 1. In interviews, staff members in Community 2 discussed concerns about changing administrative priorities and focusing on standardized testing, which competed with outside activities. Acceptability facilitators were preexisting wellness activities related to nutrition and physical activity, parental involvement, and strong principal support.

Adoption. Teachers in both communities participated in MA-CORD curriculum training (C1:100%; C2:72%) and in a curriculum survey in year 1, which assessed initial adoption (C1:100%; C2:44%). Most teachers reported teaching at least one lesson during both year 1 (C1:100%, C2:60%) and year 2 (C1:100%; C2:75%) (Table 2). During interviews, participants from Community 2 described difficulty coordinating afterschool schedules of teachers for training sessions. Teachers in both communities described motivated wellness champions as a driving force behind adoption of MA-CORD lesson plans.

Appropriateness. In interviews, teachers and staff members in both communities reported that MA-CORD training and curricula were appropriate for their students and teaching priorities. In curriculum surveys, teachers in both communities unanimously agreed (n = 35, 100%) that the lessons were a positive addition to their curriculum.

Feasibility. Although teachers in both communities reported being able to obtain necessary lesson materials (>80%), fewer teachers in Community 2 reported feeling competent to teach the content (Community 2, 57% vs Community 1, 86%). In interviews, participants across both communities identified competing priorities

for teachers' time as barriers to administering classroom lessons. Standardized tests, statewide campaigns (anti-bullying curriculum), and general burnout were cited as barriers to the staff teaching lessons on wellness or being involved in wellness activities.

Implementation fidelity. In year 1, teachers in Community 1 nearly met the teaching goal of 6 MA-CORD lessons per year (mean, 5.8: standard deviation [SD], 2.7); Community 2 reported fewer lessons (mean, 3.6; SD, 2.5) (Figure 2). In year 2, mean lessons taught dropped slightly for Community 1 and increased for Community 2. In Community 2, administrative changes, including a new superintendent, principal turnover, and district-wide teacher layoffs, were described in interviews as barriers to implementation fidelity.



Figure 2. MA-CORD Implementation Fidelity: Curriculum lessons taught by 4th, 5th, 6th, and 7th grade school teachers, Massachusetts, 2012–2014. Using end-of-year surveys, teachers reported the number of lessons taught from the MA-CORD curricula, which were adapted from "Eat Well and Keep Moving" and "Planet Health" (Appendix A).

Perceived implementation cost. In surveys, school leaders in both communities were neutral or agreed that their schools had resources to support MA-CORD and could manage risks associated with implementing the intervention. In interviews, leaders and staff members in both communities reported satisfaction with the availability of supplies and resources needed to implement activities. Community 2 staff members reported receiving physical activity play equipment as a major benefit of MA-CORD participation.

Reach. On the basis of the number of 4th through 7th grade students eligible to receive the intervention; (Community1: 1,486; Community 2: 3,658) (Table 1) and the percentage of eligible teachers who completed trainings (Community 1, 100%; Community 2, 72%) (Table 2), we estimate that 1,486 students in Community 1 (100%) and 2,626 students in Community 2 (72%) were

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

reached by the intervention. In interviews, leaders and staffs in both communities reported classroom activities effectively tied into larger school and city-wide campaigns, thus increasing student and family awareness.

Sustainability. In end-of-year curriculum surveys in year 2, most teachers in Community 1 (100%, n = 5) and Community 2 (76%, n = 29) reportedly planned to continue teaching MA-CORD lessons. In interviews, staff members described health teachers as strong implementers of the curriculum. One principal made MA-CORD activities part of teachers' professional evaluation, ensuring MA-CORD lessons would be sustained through supervisory accountability. Barriers to long-term sustainability were teacher turnover, lack of ongoing leadership from principals, or lack of active wellness champions.

Discussion

Our study describes barriers and facilitators to implementing a school-based obesity intervention in 2 low-income communities. MA-CORD was adopted at a rate comparable to similar classroom-based lifestyle interventions (16–18) in districts facing competing priorities. Understanding factors facilitating implementation is necessary to develop targeted technical assistance and resources for successful implementation. Our findings provide insight into benefits of pre-intervention assessment of staff readiness and selection of ideal teachers and curricula to ensure activities are integrated and sustained in schools. Our study yielded 4 key lessons learned:

Lesson 1: Assess organizational readiness of all staff members. Strong leadership support for MA-CORD existed in both communities at baseline, but implementers (ie, teachers, nurses) in Community 2 reported lower perceived readiness to implement MA-CORD than did implementers in Community 1. In fact, proportionally fewer teachers in Community 2 engaged in training, taught lessons, completed curriculum surveys, or planned to sustain lessons post-intervention. These teachers described administrative shifts and staff turnover (45% of schools in Community 2 received new principals), in contrast with administratively stable Community 1, which also had a history of parent involvement and wellness activities before MA-CORD.

Health education teachers administered lessons in Community 1, whereas a mix of health education teachers and classroom teachers in Community 2 administered them. In low-resourced communities with few health education teachers, additional strategies to identify motivated teachers or parents could be beneficial. Lack of parental involvement is reported as a barrier to implementation in school-based obesity prevention projects serving low-income children (19,20). Interviewees suggested parents could support teachers delivering MA-CORD lessons by bringing healthy snacks to taste-test or by planning school wellness events. In future projects, school leaders should consider collaboratively addressing barriers to implementation by increasing parental involvement before launching intervention activities.

Lesson 2: Identify and support passionate wellness champions. Using school wellness champions was one of the strongest reported facilitators of MA-CORD implementation, consistent with previous research indicating the use of outside staff to implement an intervention significantly reduced its likelihood of being sustained (21). We found that champions who were health education teachers or nurses reported the highest satisfaction with their role because it fit well with their job description. In Community 2, busy principals and classroom teachers served as wellness champions, but some colleagues reported waning support from them because of shifting administrative priorities over time.

Although some schools may not have health education teachers or nurses who can take on additional roles, investigators may increase engagement and buy-in from champions by using strategies adapted from workplace wellness programs: ongoing training, recognition, and incentive programs linked with key intervention outcomes (22,23). Wellness champions who efficiently train and motivate busy teachers to adopt new classroom activities play a critical role in implementation success. These champions are also likely to support overall district and school-level wellness policy implementation.

Lesson 3: Build on existing curricula combined with incentives. Tailored messaging and print materials are valuable contributors to successful obesity-related intervention outcomes in school-based settings (24). In our study, teachers consistently conveyed satisfaction with the lesson plans and print materials adapted from existing interventions. For example, one Eat Well and Keep Moving lesson titled "Sugar Water: Think about Your Drink," contained activities crossing various core curricula (eg, multiplication to find grams of sugar in soda, interpreting a soda can label). Obesity prevention lessons that fulfill multiple core classroom subjects support adoption and sustainability of intervention activities in schools (18). Curriculum delivery was maximized by incentivizing aspects of program participation with grant funding. Teachers were compensated for attending MA-CORD training sessions after school or they attended sessions during the school day, which probably contributed to greater than 70% teacher participation in both communities. As an additional incentive, some schools received play equipment such as balls and hula hoops, which promoted active indoor play during winter months and supported the intervention's physical activity goal.

Lesson 4: Sustainability is maximized through ongoing training and institutional adoption. Teachers who continued to teach MA-CORD lessons beyond year 1 of the intervention described having a wellness champion who offered ongoing support through formal and informal training. Both in our study and elsewhere, staff turnover is a barrier to intervention sustainability in schools, because repeated training is expensive and difficult to coordinate across campuses (25-27). However, we identified sustainable strategies, which included incorporating the curricula into lesson plans that continued year-to-year (eg, math lessons, writing), acknowledging MA-CORD activities in performance evaluations, and schoolwide policies supporting messages taught during lessons (eg, no sugary drinks on campus). Additionally, online training modules are being considered as a low-cost way to train a school's staff on health topics (28) and could be a way to overcome issues related to staff turnover. One study found no significant difference in adoption of an after-school nutrition and physical activity intervention when the staff were trained online versus face-to-face (29).

As in other process analyses, our study's findings rely on self-report from a convenience sample (17). In one community, nearly half of eligible teachers did not complete follow-up curriculum surveys, reflecting possible unmeasured levels of implementation in nonparticipating schools. Because student-level data were not collected because of privacy restrictions, we based our estimate of reach on the number of eligible students and percentage of eligible teachers who attended MA-CORD trainings. Although small sample sizes limited our ability to generalize beyond our population, using mixed methods offered detailed context, which may be useful for others working to implement similar programs in resource-poor schools. Because long-term follow-up data beyond the intervention period were not available, we could not assess the intervention's long-term sustainability.

To improve child health and maximize limited resources, there remains a need for continued collection and publication of both quantitative and qualitative process evaluation data describing school-based obesity prevention interventions. Sharing null findings, barriers, and implementation failure is critical to refining and promoting best practices in implementation to identify strategies to encourage sustainable changes in schools.

Acknowledgments

Rachel E. Blaine and Rebecca L. Franckle contributed equally to this article and are co-first authors. This study was supported by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion (award: U18DP003370). R.E.B. was supported by a National Institutes of Health (NIH) Doctoral Training Grant in Cancer Epidemiology (no. T32CA0900). R.L.F. was supported by predoctoral (T32DK007703) and postdoctoral (T32HL098048) training grants from NIH. J.F. was supported by an American Heart Association postdoctoral fellowship (14POST20140055). The work is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not represent official views of the CDC or the NIH.

Author Information

Corresponding Author: Dr. Rachel Blaine, California State University, Long Beach, 1250 Bellflower Blvd. FCS FA-15, Long Beach, California 90840. Telephone: 562-985-2141. Email: rachel.blaine@csulb.edu.

Author Affiliations: ¹Department of Family and Consumer Sciences, California State University, Long Beach, California. ²Department of Nutrition, Harvard T.H. Chan School of Public Health, Boston, Massachusetts. ³Medical Faculty Mannheim, Heidelberg University, Mannheim Institute of Public Health, Social and Preventive Medicine, Mannheim, Germany. ⁴University of California, Berkeley, Berkeley, California. ⁵Department of Social and Behavioral Sciences, Harvard T.H. Chan School of Public Health, Boston, Massachusetts. ⁶Health Sciences Department, Furman University, Greenville, South Carolina. ⁷Bureau of Community Health and Prevention, Massachusetts Department of Public Health, Boston, Massachusetts. ⁸Office of Data Management and Outcomes Assessment, Massachusetts Department of Public Health, Boston, Massachusetts. ⁹University of California, Los Angeles, Fielding School of Public Health, Los Angeles, California.

References

- 1. Pan L, May AL, Wethington H, Dalenius K, Grummer-Strawn LM. Incidence of obesity among young US children living in low-income families, 2008–2011. Pediatrics 2013; 132(6):1006–13.
- 2. Ogden CL, Carroll MD, Fryar CD, Flegal KM. Prevalence of obesity among adults and youth: United States, 2011–2014. NCHS Data Brief 2015;(219):1–8.
- 3. Gortmaker SL, Cheung LWY, Peterson KE, Chomitz G, Cradle JH, Dart H, et al. Impact of a school-based interdisciplinary intervention on diet and physical activity among urban primary school children: eat well and keep moving. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 1999;153(9):975–83.
- 4. Gortmaker SL, Peterson K, Wiecha J, Sobol AM, Dixit S, Fox MK, et al. Reducing obesity via a school-based interdisciplinary intervention among youth: Planet Health. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 1999;153(4):409–18.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

- 5. James J, Thomas P, Cavan D, Kerr D. Preventing childhood obesity by reducing consumption of carbonated drinks: cluster randomised controlled trial. BMJ 2004;328(7450):1237.
- 6. Summerbell CD, Waters E, Edmunds LD, Kelly S, Brown T, Campbell KJ. Interventions for preventing obesity in children. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2005;3(3):CD001871.
- 7. Khambalia AZ, Dickinson S, Hardy LL, Gill T, Baur LA. A synthesis of existing systematic reviews and meta-analyses of school-based behavioural interventions for controlling and preventing obesity. Obes Rev 2012;13(3):214–33.
- 8. Taveras EM, Blaine RE, Davison KK, Gortmaker S, Anand S, Falbe J, et al. Design of the Massachusetts Childhood Obesity Research Demonstration (MA-CORD) study. Child Obes 2015;11(1):11–22.
- 9. Proctor E, Silmere H, Raghavan R, Hovmand P, Aarons G, Bunger A, et al. Outcomes for implementation research: conceptual distinctions, measurement challenges, and research agenda. Adm Policy Ment Health 2011;38(2):65–76.
- Davison KK, Falbe J, Taveras EM, Gortmaker S, Kulldorff M, Perkins M, et al. Evaluation Overview for the Massachusetts Childhood Obesity Research Demonstration (MA-CORD) project. Child Obes 2015;11(1):23–36.
- 11. Creswell JW, Clark VLP. Designing and conducting mixed methods research. 2nd ed. Thousand Oaks (CA): Sage Publications; 2007.
- 12. Shea CM, Jacobs SR, Esserman DA, Bruce K, Weiner BJ. Organizational readiness for implementing change: a psychometric assessment of a new measure. Implement Sci 2014;9:7.
- Holt DT, Armenakis AA, Feild HS, Harris SG. Readiness for organizational change the systematic development of a scale. J Appl Behav Sci 2007;43(2):232–55.
- 14. Jacobs SR, Weiner BJ, Bunger AC. Context matters: measuring implementation climate among individuals and groups. Implement Sci 2014;9(1):46.
- 15. Grove RW. An analysis of the constant comparative method. Int J Qual Stud Educ 1988;1(3):273–9.
- 16. Lee H, Contento IR, Koch P. Using a systematic conceptual model for a process evaluation of a middle school obesity risk-reduction nutrition curriculum intervention: choice, control & change. J Nutr Educ Behav 2013;45(2):126–36.
- 17. Gibson CA, Smith BK, Dubose KD, Greene JL, Bailey BW, Williams SL, et al. Physical activity across the curriculum: year one process evaluation results. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2008;5(1):36.
- Wiecha JL, El Ayadi AM, Fuemmeler BF, Carter JE, Handler S, Johnson S, et al. Diffusion of an integrated health education program in an urban school system: planet health. J Pediatr Psychol 2004;29(6):467–74.

- 19. Schetzina KE, Dalton WT 3d, Lowe EF, Azzazy N, Vonwerssowetz KM, Givens C, et al. Developing a coordinated school health approach to child obesity prevention in rural Appalachia: results of focus groups with teachers, parents, and students. Rural Remote Health 2009;9(4):1157.
- 20. Van Lippevelde W, Verloigne M, De Bourdeaudhuij I, Brug J, Bjelland M, Lien N, et al. Does parental involvement make a difference in school-based nutrition and physical activity interventions? A systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Int J Public Health 2012;57(4):673–8.
- 21. Brown T, Summerbell C. Systematic review of school-based interventions that focus on changing dietary intake and physical activity levels to prevent childhood obesity: an update to the obesity guidance produced by the National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Obes Rev 2009;10(1):110–41.
- 22. Michaels CN, Greene AM. Worksite wellness: increasing adoption of workplace health promotion programs. Health Promot Pract 2013;14(4):473–9.
- 23. Schmidt W, Welch L, Wilson M, Murphy L, Cooper C. Healthy and productive work: an international perspective. New York (NY): Taylor and Francis; 2000.133–47.
- 24. Katz DL, O'Connell M, Njike VY, Yeh MC, Nawaz H. Strategies for the prevention and control of obesity in the school setting: systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Obes 2008;32(12):1780–9.
- 25. Dowda M, James F, Sallis JF, McKenzie TL, Rosengard P, Kohl HW 3d. Evaluating the sustainability of SPARK physical education: a case study of translating research into practice. Res Q Exerc Sport 2005;76(1):11–9.
- 26. van Nassau F, Singh AS, Broekhuizen D, van Mechelen W, Brug J, Chinapaw MJ. Barriers and facilitators to the nationwide dissemination of the Dutch school-based obesity prevention programme DOiT. Eur J Public Health 2016; 26(4):611–6.
- 27. Wang LY, Yang Q, Lowry R, Wechsler H. Economic analysis of a school-based obesity prevention program. Obes Res 2003; 11(11):1313–24.
- Elgie R, Sapien R, Fullerton L, Moore B. School nurse online emergency preparedness training: an analysis of knowledge, skills, and confidence. J Sch Nurs 2010;26(5):368–76.
- 29. Irish Hauser S, Goldberg JP, Wilde P, Bers M, Ioannone L, Economos CD. Comparison of online and face-to-face dissemination of a theory-based after school nutrition and physical activity training and curriculum. J Health Commun 2010;15(8):859–79.
- 30. US Census Bureau. QuickFacts: United States. http:// quickfacts.census.gov/qfd/states/25/2545000.html. Accessed December 1, 2015.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

31. Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education. School and district profiles. http://profiles.doe.mass.edu/. Accessed December 1, 2015.

Tables

Table 1. Characteristics of Communities, Schools, Students, and Staff Members Participating in the MA-CORD Intervention, Massachusetts, 2012–2014

Characteristic	Community 1	Community 2
Community		
Population total (30), n	40,318	95,072
Race/ethnicity (30), %		
White	68.2	67.9
Hispanic	21.6	16.7
African American	5.1	6.4
Multi-race, Non-Hispanic	3.7	5.7
Asian	3.6	0.9
Average per capita income (30), \$	22,620	21,056
Persons below poverty level (30), %	20.6	23.5
School	· · ·	
Schools eligible to participate in MA-CORD ^a , n	6	22
Elementary schools	4	19
Middle schools	3	3
Health education staff		
Schools with nurses, n	6	25
Schools with a health education teacher, n (% of schools)	6 (100.0)	3 (13.6)
District-wide staff retention rates, n (% of schools)		
Superintendent	1 (100.0)	0 (0.0)
Principals	7 (87.5)	19 (79.2)
Teachers	315 (92.9)	777 (90.0)
Teacher		
Total eligible to teach MA-CORD curricula, n		
Year 1	7	117
Year 2	6	122
Female, % of eligible teachers (31)	81.3	81.4
Race/ethnicity, % of eligible teachers (31)		
White	90.5	90.7
Hispanic	6.8	2.5

Abbreviation: MA-CORD: Massachusetts Childhood Obesity Research Demonstration Project.

^a Community 1 consisted of 6 schools, but 1 school served kindergarten through eighth-grade students and was counted as both an elementary and a middle school.

^b Students enrolled in fourth, fifth, sixth, and seventh grade were eligible to receive the curricula used in MA-CORD.

^c Defined as being eligible for either free or reduced price lunch, transitional aid to families, or the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program based on family household income.

^d Intervention readiness surveys were distributed to MA-CORD school leaders and staff members (Table 2); participants were not identified by school.

^e School principals, superintendents, intervention coordinators, and MA-CORD wellness champions.

^f In-depth qualitative interviews conducted during year 1 of the intervention with school leaders (superintendent, principals, wellness champions), teachers, and nurses.

(continued on next page)

(continued)

Table 1. Characteristics of Communities, Schools, Students, and Staff Members Participating in the MA-CORD Intervention, Massachusetts, 2012–2014

Characteristic	Community 1	Community 2
African American	2.0	5.7
Multi-race, Non-Hispanic	0.2	0.6
Asian	0.5	1.3
Student		
Total eligible to receive MA-CORD curricula ^b (31), n	1486	3658
Race/ethnicity, % of students (31)		
White	38.2	49.2
Hispanic	46.6	31.1
African American	5.8	11.7
Multi-race, Non-Hispanic	5.7	6.1
Asian	5.5	0.8
Low-income ^c (31)	76.9	73.4
Engagement in Process Evaluation		
Surveys of intervention readiness ^d		
Leaders ^e , n	5	18
Teachers or nurses, n	4	49
Qualitative interviews, n	•	
Schools represented in qualitative interviews, n (% of schools) ^f	5 (83.3)	11 (50.0)
Leaders ^e , n	4	2
Teachers or nurses, n	7	10
Year-end teacher curriculum surveys, n (% of teachers)		
Year 1	7 (100)	51 (43.6)
Year 2	5 (83.0)	41 (33.6)

Abbreviation: MA-CORD: Massachusetts Childhood Obesity Research Demonstration Project.

^a Community 1 consisted of 6 schools, but 1 school served kindergarten through eighth-grade students and was counted as both an elementary and a middle school.

^b Students enrolled in fourth, fifth, sixth, and seventh grade were eligible to receive the curricula used in MA-CORD.

^c Defined as being eligible for either free or reduced price lunch, transitional aid to families, or the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program based on family household income.

^d Intervention readiness surveys were distributed to MA-CORD school leaders and staff members (Table 2); participants were not identified by school.

^e School principals, superintendents, intervention coordinators, and MA-CORD wellness champions.

^f In-depth qualitative interviews conducted during year 1 of the intervention with school leaders (superintendent, principals, wellness champions), teachers, and nurses.

Table 2. Outcomes of an Implementation Assessment of MA-CORD School-Based Intervention^a, Massachusetts, 2012–2014

Measures	Community 1	Community 2	
Acceptability ^b	·,		
Beliefs of school leaders ^{c,d} , mean (standard deviation)			
Commitment to prevent or reduce childhood obesity in the community	4.9 (0.2)	4.7 (0.2)	
Compatibility of program with organization's approach	4.2 (0.8)	4.3 (0.5)	
Timing of implementation was good	4.3 (0.7)	4.0 (0.6)	
Intervention will distract from other organizational priorities	2.4 (0.7)	1.7 (0.5)	
Beliefs of school staff members ^{d,e} , mean (standard deviation)			
Commitment of staff to implementation	4.2 (0.5)	3.8 (0.9)	
Motivation of staff for implementation	4.3 (0.5)	3.6 (0.8)	
Confidence of staff to implement tasks smoothly	4.0 (0.8)	3.6 (0.9)	
Confidence of staff to handle implementation challenges	4.3 (0.5)	3.6 (0.8)	
Confidence of staff members that organization can support them during transition to intervention	4.3 (0.5)	3.6 (0.8)	
Adoption ^f			
Teacher adoption of MA-CORD lessons, n (% of teachers)			
Eligible teachers completed MA-CORD curriculum training in year 1 ^g	7 (100.0)	84 (71.8)	
Taught any MA-CORD lessons in year 1 ^h	7 (100.0)	28 (59.6)	
Taught any MA-CORD lessons in year 2 ⁱ	5 (100.0)	39 (75.0)	
Appropriateness			
"Lessons I taught were a positive addition to my curriculum" (Agree or strongly agree) ⁱ	7 (100.0)	28 (100.0)	
Feasibility ^k /Perceived Implementation Cost ^I			
Beliefs of MA-CORD eligible teachers, n (%)			
"I felt competent to teach the content" (agree or strongly agree) ⁱ	6 (85.7)	25 (56.8)	
"Overall, the effort required to obtain needed materials not provided [by MiM Kids] was acceptable"	4 (80.0)	29 (90.6)	
Beliefs of school leaders ^{c,d} , mean (standard deviation)			

Abbreviations: MA-CORD, Massachusetts Childhood Obesity Research Demonstration Project; MiM KIDS, Mass in Motion KIDS intervention.

^a The community-level name for the intervention that was part of the larger MA-CORD project was MiM KIDS.

^b Acceptability is the initial perception of the intervention's fit.

^c Data obtained from survey of leaders in the school sector (administrators, principals, school wellness champions) using an adapted version of the Adoption De-

cision Questionnaire: Community 1 (n = 5), Community 2 (n = 18).

^d Response options ranged from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree).

^e Data obtained from survey of staff members in the school sector (teachers, school nurses) using an adapted version of the Organizational Readiness for Change Questionnaire: Community 1 (n=4), Community 2 (n = 49).

^f Adoption in initial participation.

^g Based on sign-in sheets and internal records.

^h Data obtained from year 1 curriculum survey of staff members eligible to teach MA-CORD curriculum: Community 1 (n = 7), Community 2 (n = 51).

ⁱ Data obtained from year 2 curriculum survey of staff members eligible to teach MA-CORD curriculum: Community 1 (n = 5), Community 2 (n = 41).

^jAppropriateness is the perception of MiM Kids as being good for teachers/children

^k Feasibility is the actual fit/compatibility of conducting MiM Kids activities in a school setting.

¹Perceived implementation cost refers to the resources required to conduct activities (eg, financial, time, parent support).

^m Implementation fidelity is the quantity and quality of MiM Kids activities conducted.

ⁿ Compared with goal of 6 MA-CORD lessons taught per year.

^o Reach is the impact of MiM Kids on students, parents, staff, and community.

^p Sustainability is the continuation/institutionalization of MiM Kids activities.

(continued on next page)

(continued)

Table 2. Outcomes of an Implementation Assessment of MA-CORD School-Based Intervention^a, Massachusetts, 2012–2014

Measures	Community 1	Community 2	
Organization has resources necessary for implementation	3.5 (0.8)	3.8 (0.8)	
Organization can manage risks associated with implementation	3.7 (1.0)	3.7 (0.5)	
Implementation Fidelity ^m			
Lessons taught from MA-CORD curriculum in year 1 (mean, SD) ⁿ	5.8 (2.7)	3.6 (2.5)	
Lessons taught from MA-CORD curriculum in year 2 (mean, SD) ⁿ	5.2 (3.0)	4.5 (2.8)	
Reach ^o			
Estimated number of students who received MA-CORD curriculum ^h (31)	1,486	2,262	
Sustainability ^p			
Teachers sustaining MA-CORD curriculum, n (%)			
Plan to teach curriculum after year 1 (yes vs no/undecided) ^h	7 (100.0)	40 (83.3)	
Plan to teach curriculum after year 2 (yes vs no/undecided) ⁱ	5 (100.0)	29 (76.3)	

Abbreviations: MA-CORD, Massachusetts Childhood Obesity Research Demonstration Project; MiM KIDS, Mass in Motion KIDS intervention.

^a The community-level name for the intervention that was part of the larger MA-CORD project was MiM KIDS.

^b Acceptability is the initial perception of the intervention's fit.

^c Data obtained from survey of leaders in the school sector (administrators, principals, school wellness champions) using an adapted version of the Adoption Decision Questionnaire: Community 1 (n = 5), Community 2 (n = 18).

^d Response options ranged from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree).

^e Data obtained from survey of staff members in the school sector (teachers, school nurses) using an adapted version of the Organizational Readiness for Change Questionnaire: Community 1 (n=4), Community 2 (n = 49).

^f Adoption in initial participation.

^g Based on sign-in sheets and internal records.

^h Data obtained from year 1 curriculum survey of staff members eligible to teach MA-CORD curriculum: Community 1 (n = 7), Community 2 (n = 51).

¹ Data obtained from year 2 curriculum survey of staff members eligible to teach MA-CORD curriculum: Community 1 (n = 5), Community 2 (n = 41).

^jAppropriateness is the perception of MiM Kids as being good for teachers/children

^k Feasibility is the actual fit/compatibility of conducting MiM Kids activities in a school setting.

¹Perceived implementation cost refers to the resources required to conduct activities (eg, financial, time, parent support).

^m Implementation fidelity is the quantity and quality of MiM Kids activities conducted.

ⁿ Compared with goal of 6 MA-CORD lessons taught per year.

^o Reach is the impact of MiM Kids on students, parents, staff, and community.

^p Sustainability is the continuation/institutionalization of MiM Kids activities.

Table 3. Barriers and Facilitators to Implementation of the MA-CORD School-Based Intervention Based on In-Depth Interviews of School Administrators, Teachers, and Nurses (n = 23)^a, Massachusetts, 2013–2014

Implementation Outcome Constructs	Facilitators ^b	Barriers ^b
Acceptability ^c	Principal is a champion for health activities	Pressure of standardized testing or academic demands in district
	Existing wellness initiatives and policies (C1)	New superintendent and administrative turnover (C2)
	School nurses and health education teachers found the project fit well within their work tasks	
Adoption ^d	Rapport between wellness champions and the staff	Weather interrupting trainings (C2)
		Lack of time for teachers to attend trainings
		Teachers not informed about intervention (C2)
Appropriateness ^e	Training and curricula were well-received	Concerns about messages that children do not have
	Message appropriate for students	control over (eg, sate outdoor play, sleep environments)
	Teachers liked being part of a larger movement across schools	
Feasibility ^f /implementation fidelity ^g	A champion at the school who maintains enthusiasm	Lack of time for teachers to teach lessons
	Using students to engage other students	Competing priorities with other schoolwide campaigns
	Technical assistance to change policies in the school	Principal and teacher turnover (C2)
Perceived implementation cost ^h	Providing physical activity equipment to schools (C2)	Inadequate printing resources to provide materials for conducting lessons
Reach	School-wide integration of messaging	Limited collaboration between some sectors
	Linkages with other school health priorities	
	Media coverage	
	Children bringing messages home from school	
Sustainability ^I	Health education teachers implementing curriculum	Staff turnover
	Enjoyable activities that are adopted long-term	Lack of ongoing leadership
	Intervention involvement acknowledged in teacher evaluations	

Abbreviations: C1, Community 1; C2, Community 2; MA-CORD Project, Massachusetts Childhood Obesity Research Demonstration Study.

^a Based on sample of 11 school staff members in Community 1 and 12 school staff members in Community 2.

^b Themes reported in both communities unless otherwise specified.

^c Acceptability: Initial perception of intervention fit.

^d Adoption: Initial participation.

^e Appropriateness: Perception of Mass in Motion [MiM] Kids being good for teachers/children (MiM KIDS was the community-level name for the intervention that was part of the larger MA-CORD project).

^f Feasibility: Actual fit/compatibility of conducting MiM Kids activities in school setting.

^g Implementation Fidelity: Quantity and quality of MiM Kids activities conducted.

^h Perceived implementation cost: Resources required to conduct activities.

ⁱ Reach: Impact of MiM Kids on students, parents, staff, and community.

^j Sustainability: Continuation/institutionalization of MiM Kids activities.

Appendix A. – Questionnaires Used in Process Evaluation of School Intervention

This file is available for download as a Microsoft Word file at https://www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2017/docs/16_0381AppendixA.docx. [DOCX - 132KB]

Appendix B. – Interview Guides

This file is available for download as a Microsoft Word file at https://www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2017/docs/16_0381AppendixB.docx. [DOCX - 27KB]

Appendix C. - Interview Coding Scheme

This file is available for download as a Microsoft Word file at https://www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2017/docs/16_0381AppendixC.docx. [DOCX - 23KB]

Appendix D. – Key Illustrative Quotes Obtained From Qualitative Interviews of School Staff Members Participating in MA-CORD in Massachusetts, 2012–2013 (n = 23)

This file is available for download as a Microsoft Word file at https://www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2017/docs/16_0381AppendixD.docx. [DOCX - 26KB]

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND PUBLIC HEALTH POLICY OCTOBER 2018

Volume 15, E123

ORIGINAL RESEARCH

Geographic Association Between Income Inequality and Obesity Among Adults in New York State

Daniel Kim¹; Fusheng Wang, PhD¹; Chrisa Arcan, PhD, MHS, MBA, RD²

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2018/18 0217.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Kim D, Wang F, Arcan C. Geographic Association Between Income Inequality and Obesity Among Adults in New York State. Prev Chronic Dis 2018; 15:180217. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd15.180217.

PEER REVIEWED

Abstract

Introduction

In addition to economic factors and geographic area poverty, area income inequality — the extent to which income is distributed in an uneven manner across a population - has been found to influence health outcomes and obesity. We used a spatial-based approach to describe interactions between neighboring areas with the objective of generating new insights into the relationships between county-level income inequality, poverty, and obesity prevalence across New York State (NYS).

Methods

We used data from the 2015 American Community Survey and 2013 obesity estimates from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention for NYS to examine correlations between county-level economic factors and obesity. Spatial mapping and analysis were conducted with ArcMap. Ordinary least squares modeling with adjusting variables was used to examine associations between county-level obesity percentages and county-level income inequality (Gini index). Univariate spatial analysis was conducted between obesity and Gini index, and globally weighted regression and Hot Spot Analysis were used to view spatial clustering.

Results

Although higher income inequality was associated with lower obesity rates, a higher percentage of poverty was associated with higher obesity rates. A higher percentage of Hispanic population was associated with lower obesity rates. When tested spatially, higher income inequality was associated with a greater decrease in obesity in southern and eastern NYS counties than in the northern and western counties, with some differences by sex present in this association.

Conclusion

Increased income inequality and lower poverty percentage were significantly linked to lower obesity rates across NYS counties for men. Income inequality influence differed by geographic location. These findings indicate that in areas with high income inequality, currently unknown aspects of the environment may benefit low-income residents. Future studies should also include environmental factors possibly linked to obesity.

Introduction

Economic factors have been linked to numerous health outcomes, including obesity (1). However, research on area income inequality — the extent to which income is distributed unevenly across a population — and obesity rates is limited and inconsistent, because income inequality is a contextual variable specific to geographic scale and is differentially associated with social conditions. The relationship between income inequality and obesity changes by geographic area and is not fully understood.

In the United States, obesity is related to poverty, low individual income, and food-insecurity (1). A study that used data from the 2003-2008 National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey showed that at the tract and county levels, high degrees of income inequality was correlated with low obesity rates (2), suggesting that community affluence has a positive effect on residents' lifestyles. Similarly, city-level and tract-level income inequality was negatively associated with body weight in Los Angeles county in 2000-2001 (3). A study using the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) found that a high prevalence of income inequality was associated with reduced odds of obesity among non-Hispanic white women (4). To our knowledge, previous studies have not used spatial regression methods to examine the relationship between area income inequality and obesity rates. To address this research gap, we used spatial analysis to examine associations between small-area income inequality and obesity among adults in



New York State (NYS). We hypothesized that income inequality would have an inverse relationship with obesity rates and that a geographic difference exists between the two.

Methods

Data sources

Our study used a cross-sectional design of publicly available data sources to create estimates related to NYS residents. Data from the American Community Survey (ACS) (https://www.census.gov/ programs-surveys/acs) were used for all independent variables, including area poverty prevalence and area income inequality. ACS is an annual survey conducted by the US Census Bureau throughout the United States and provides annual estimates of a series of monthly samples of people living in housing units, such as houses or apartments, and in institutional and noninstitutional group quarters, such as correctional facilities, mental hospitals, college dormitories, military barracks, and shelters. The Census Bureau uses several data collection methods (internet, mailed paper questionnaire, telephone, personal visit) to ensure representation of the US population. The ACS survey is mandatory by law, resulting in an extremely high response rate. Participants were excluded for refusal to participate based on legal or other reasons, insufficient data, inability to locate participants, temporary absences from their place of residence, and language barriers. ACS is conducted in English, meaning that results cannot be retrieved if interpreters are unavailable. Our study used ACS 5-year estimates (2011–2015), representing 790,051 observations. Even at a 99.5% confidence interval, the necessary sample size to ensure correct estimates for the NYS population was 38,341, less than the number of participants in the ACS survey.

County-level income inequality was measured by the Gini coefficient, or Gini index, which represents income dispersion across an area, assigning values from 0 to 1: the higher the number, the greater an area's income inequality. The numerator of the coefficient is the area between the Lorenz curve of the distribution and the uniform distribution line; the denominator is the area under the uniform distribution line. We converted this ratio into an index by multiplying each value by 100. Gini index was the only variable not separated by sex. In the ACS data set, racial groups were recorded as counts and were converted to percentages by dividing the counts for each racial group by the total estimated number of people in each county. We used the Gini index in this study because it is the most commonly used measure of income inequality; however, we acknowledge the existence of other measures, such as Atkinson's measures, Theil's T, and Theil's L, and that our results may not necessarily have held if these other measures were used instead of the Gini index (5,6).

The dependent variable, obesity prevalence, was drawn from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) statistical estimates (7,8). These were based on the Census Bureau's Population Estimates Program and the 2013 BRFSS (9), which was conducted via telephone interview. However, these estimates also include statistical adjustments designed to reduce the random sampling's inherent randomness (7). Obesity was defined as a body mass index (BMI, kg/m²) of 30 or greater and was measured by physical examinations at the county level.

Statistical methods

We examined the association between county-level independent variables and obesity prevalence with ArcMap (Esri) by using ordinary least squares (OLS). OLS is a variation of linear regression, a statistical method that examines associations between multiple independent variables and a single dependent variable; once the assumptions are satisfied, the regression output indicates the strength of the association between the dependent variable and each of the independent variables. These assumptions, include linear parameters, random sampling, no multicollinearity, no autocorrelation, a conditional mean of zero, and normally distributed error terms; all of them were satisfied, meaning that our OLS models are efficient and represent a linear unbiased estimator of variable coefficients.

Final models included county-level Gini index, poverty percentage (defined as having an income below the Federal Poverty Level), adjusted for median age, percentage African-American, percentage Hispanic, percentage married, and percentage with at least a high school education. Statistical significance was set at P< .05. Interactions between the sex ratio with each of the other independent variables were tested. Because we found significant interactions between sex and the Gini index, analyses were conducted separately by sex. After these analyses, we found that coefficients and P values did not differ by sex; therefore we performed the analysis with both sexes combined.

Two spatial tests, geographically weighted regression (GWR) and Getis-Ord GI* Hot Spot Analysis (Esri), were used to add a different dimension to our analysis. GWR created a separate ordinary least squares (OLS) model for every county while considering spatial factors, such as the distances and OLS models of neighboring counties. GWR measured relationships that vary across space, whereas OLS linear regression assumes these relationships apply equally over an entire geographic area (9). We performed univariate GWR with Gini index as our independent variable, with both Gini index and obesity prevalence first matched to counties in a NYS ArcMap shapefile.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

Hot Spot Analysis was conducted on the GWR regression results; this test determines whether the different coefficients of the Gini index variable for each county that GWR returned are randomly dispersed, or whether unusually high or unusually low values are clustered together. Hot Spot Analysis tests for clusters of similar values in a set of spatial data, indicating when similar values are close to one another. The method is specific, enabling us to detect possible local spatial associations whereas other methods, such as Moran's I, does not (10).

Although standard OLS regression makes one model for the entire state, giving an overall sense of a variable's effect on obesity rates, GWR combined with Hot Spot Analysis provides information about the degree of effect a variable has in different areas. This allowed for observation of differences in the effect of income inequality on obesity prevalence across NYS.

Results

The median age in our data set of the NYS population was 38.1 years; 48.5% were men, 15.6% were black, 18.4% were Hispanic, 44.5% were married, and 85.6% were high school graduates. During the time that these data were collected, the response rate varied by county; however, for NYS, the overall response rate of housing units was 93.3%, and the overall response rate of group quarters was 95.2%.

The OLS regression showed that among all adults, a higher county-level Gini index (or higher inequality) (β , -0.37; P = .01) and a higher percentage of Hispanic population (β , -0.22; P = .009) was significantly associated with a lower obesity rate. In contrast, a higher percentage of county-level poverty (β , 0.42; P = .004) and higher percentage of being married (β , 0.22; P = .03) was associated with a higher obesity rate (Table 1). Then in separate analyses, the same significant associations were observed among men and women with the exception of marital status, which was significant among men (Table 2) but not among women (Table 3). We used Hot Spot Analysis to test for spatial autocorrelation, and none was found. Variance inflation factor values of all variables were measured, with none exceeding 5, a benchmark for moderate multicollinearity.

The GWR analysis showed that a 1% increase in income inequality was associated with a greater decrease in obesity prevalence in southern NYS than in the western state for both sexes. The effect of the Gini index on obesity prevalence was highest in southern and eastern NYS, but showed a downward trend toward the north and west. These associations were stronger among men (Figure 1) than among women (Figure 2), just as the OLS models predicted.



Figure 1. Results of geographically weighted regression (GWR) tests for men, mapping the individual ordinary least squares (OLS) coefficient constructed by GWR to each county in New York State. Data are from the American Community Survey and from CDC County Data Indicators estimates (11).



Figure 2. Results of geographically weighted regression (GWR) tests for women, mapping the individual ordinary least squares coefficient constructed by GWR to each county in New York State. Data are from the American Community Survey and from CDC County Data Indicators (11).

Hot Spot Analysis tests confirmed GWR results: a large area exists in the southeast where the effect of the Gini index is unusually high compared with its surrounding areas, and a large area in the west where this effect is unusually low compared with neighboring areas. From the results of the GWR and Hotspot tests, we observed a connection between the differing effects of income inequality (Gini index) and its relation to geographical direction in NYS. Moving east the absolute effect of income inequality on obesity increased, whereas moving west it, decreased, which the Hot Spot test confirmed.

Discussion

Our study examined associations between obesity prevalence and county-level income inequality and poverty percentage among adults in NYS. As we hypothesized, income inequality was inversely associated with obesity prevalence, and a difference in the geographical effect on income inequality and obesity was observed. Our findings using spatial analyses can help public health officials and lawmakers to tailor health initiatives to different geographical areas, thereby improving the sustainability of these initiatives on the well-being of the population.

The negative correlation of income inequality with obesity is not unilateral; a study of 21 developed countries showed that income inequality was positively correlated with obesity prevalence in men and women (12). Social inequalities were found to have a greater effect on obesity in women in a study of 11 member countries of the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD), which include the United States (13). Our study found that income inequality had a greater effect on obesity among men than among women. These conflicting findings may be due to the use of different types of measurements, the inclusion of different countries in the studies, and the geographic area studied, such as NYS. The area level studied was shown to have differing effects of income inequality on other health outcomes (14).

Country-level studies examining national data suggested a detrimental effect of high income inequality to mean BMI and prevalence of obesity (15). A study of 68 countries noted that obesity prevalence was greater among women than among men in countries with a high Gini index (16). Another study using national data from the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System found little to no association between income inequality and obesity in race–sex stratified groups in metropolitan areas (4). Similarly, using national data from Spain's 2001 National Health Survey, a study found no association between income inequality and BMI (17). A multinational study associated high income inequality at the national level with increases in obesity prevalence; this association disappeared when the United States and Mexico were excluded from their model (18). In contrast, a study using county and tract data found an association between income inequality and BMI similar to our findings, leading us to think that differences in the overall geographical area measured may contribute to differences in the associations between income inequality and obesity.

When considering poverty, our study agrees with similar studies conducted among populations of adult men and women in various countries. A study of Canadian men and women found that rich men and poor women were more likely to be obese (19). Although that study did not measure individual income, poverty percentage was positively associated with obesity among women. Low area socioeconomic status, low-cost food stores, low education attainment, and individual income have been associated with high obesity rates in adults living in Seattle, Washington, and Paris, France (20). In England, a study of adults aged 18 to 75 showed that social and economic gradients existed for obesity in both sexes, with lower socioeconomic status associated with higher rates of obesity, and that this trend had not changed significantly in more than a decade (21).

A study that examined Gini index in adults at the US county and tract levels showed that the addition of potential confounders changed the degree of the association between income inequality and obesity, because area level factors such as neighborhood environment (eg, availability of parks and recreation, healthy food), and local policies may have an effect on residents' weight status (2). One study of US counties showed that geographical differences in obesity rates can be explained through physical activity and food environments, along with settlement patterns and transportation habits (22). However, this may be due to other factors; income inequality has been associated with low rates of physical activity, which may contribute in part to our findings (23). Future studies may test these correlations by including potential factors as mediators, especially in an area-based study that takes into account context factors, such as distance from parks or other neighborhood services or conditions (23).

County-level poverty was positively associated with obesity in our study. A study of 1,150 children that used data from the National Institute of Child Health and Human Development Study of Early Child Care and Youth Development found that poverty in very early life was associated with obesity in adolescence (24). Some studies differentiated socioeconomic differences by sex, such as one that used data from the 2001–2009 Korea National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey to study Korean adults (25). That study found that lower education was associated with higher obesity rates in women, and higher income was related to higher obesity rates in men. Another study that looked at several US

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

counties found a positive relationship between poverty and obesity (1), suggesting that the positive relationship could have been due to lower physical activity rates of people living in poor counties, which introduces another possible variable in the relationship between county-level poverty and obesity rates.

Studies looking at the relationship between poverty and obesity, have used the term "poverty-obesity paradox" to indicate the positive relationship often found between poverty and obesity. Similar results were observed among the elderly by using data from the Survey of Health, Ageing, and Retirement and from the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing (26). Another study indicated a relationship between food insecurity and obesity through resource scarcity, suggesting that obesity is a response to a threatened food supply (27).

Our study has numerous strengths, including the use of OLS regression and the relatively high number of counties that NYS has compared with other states. The data used were CDC estimates derived from statistical estimates that sought to minimize error, and from ACS data, which is a conglomerate of half a decade of data collected from a high number of interviews. Another strength of our study is the use of GWR and Hot Spot Analysis to determine obesity prevalence geographically, a combined approach that has not often been tried in the literature, allowing for spatial analysis. These results are also highly generalizable. This study was conducted with large data sets, improving the generalizability of the findings. A similar approach can be conducted for the entire United States as needed.

Our study also had limitations. The study's cross-sectional design limited our ability to infer causality. Also, some of the variables in the BRFSS dataset are self-reported and may be subject to desirability or recall bias (28).

In conclusion, we found that income inequality was inversely associated with obesity prevalence in NYS counties, although this effect differed by sex. Also, the effect of income inequality differed geographically; income inequality was weaker in western NYS and stronger in the east. This trend did not differ by sex. Poverty percentage, however, was positively associated with obesity. Future studies can use spatial-based multiple regression models by introducing potential area-level factors that may contribute to the differing geographical effects of income inequality on obesity. The findings can help design effective programs that will be tailored to address the unique needs of the geographic locations, thus improving the sustainability of health outcomes.

Acknowledgments

The authors received no financial support for this research. No copyrighted photos, surveys, instruments, or tools were used. This work was supported in part by National Science Foundation Advanced Cyberinfrastructure no. 1443054 and by National Science Foundation Information and Intelligent Systems 135088.

Author Information

Corresponding Author: Daniel Kim, 56 Ridgewood Dr, Randolph, NJ 07869. Telephone: 973-361-6859. Email: danielynskim@gmail.com.

Author Affiliations: ¹Department of Biomedical Informatics and Department of Computer Science, Stony Brook University, Stony Brook, New York. ²Department of Family, Population, and Preventive Medicine, Stony Brook University, Stony Brook, New York.

References

- 1. Levine JA. Poverty and obesity in the U.S. Diabetes 2011; 60(11):2667–8.
- 2. Fan JX, Wen M, Kowaleski-Jones L. Tract- and county-level income inequality and individual risk of obesity in the United States. Soc Sci Res 2016;55:75–82.
- 3. Bjornstrom EE. An examination of the relationship between neighborhood income inequality, social resources, and obesity in Los Angeles county. Am J Health Promot 2011; 26(2):109–15.
- 4. Chang VW, Christakis NA. Income inequality and weight status in US metropolitan areas. Soc Sci Med 2005; 61(1):83–96.
- 5. Hosseinpoor AR, Bergen N, Barros AJ, Wong KL, Boerma T, Victora CG. Monitoring subnational regional inequalities in health: measurement approaches and challenges. Int J Equity Health 2016;15(1):18.
- 6. Zheng H. Do people die from income inequality of a decade ago? Soc Sci Med 2012;75(1):36–45.
- 7. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.Methods and references for county-level estimates and ranks and state-level modeled estimates. https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/pdfs/data/ calculating-methods-references-county-level-estimatesranks.pdf. Accessed July 1, 2018.
- 8. Patel VC, Spaeth AM, Basner M. Relationships between time use and obesity in a representative sample of Americans. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2016;24(10):2164–75.

- 9. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, 2013. https://www.cdc.gov/brfss/ annual_data/annual_2013.html. Accessed July 1, 2018.
- 10. Fotheringham AS, Charlton ME, Brunsdon C. Geographically weighted regression: a natural evolution of the expansion method for spatial data analysis. Environ Plann A 1998; 1998(30):1905–27. http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/ 10.1068/a301905 Accessed July 1, 2018.
- 11. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Diabetes home: county data indicators. https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/data/ countydata/countydataindicators.html. Accessed July 1, 2018.
- Warner ET, Wolin KY, Duncan DT, Heil DP, Askew S, Bennett GG. Differential accuracy of physical activity selfreport by body mass index. Am J Health Behav 2012; 36(2):168–78.
- 13. Ord AGJK. The analysis of spatial association by use of distance statistics. Geogr Anal 1992;24(3):189–206. https:// onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1538-4632.1992.tb00261.x Accessed July 1, 2018.
- 14. Pickett KE, Kelly S, Brunner E, Lobstein T, Wilkinson RG. Wider income gaps, wider waistbands? An ecological study of obesity and income inequality. J Epidemiol Community Health 2005;59(8):670–4.
- 15. Devaux M, Sassi F. Social inequalities in obesity and overweight in 11 OECD countries. Eur J Public Health 2013; 23(3):464–9.
- 16. Chen Z, Gotway Crawford CA. The role of geographic scale in testing the income inequality hypothesis as an explanation of health disparities. Soc Sci Med 2012;75(6):1022–31.
- 17. Kim D, Kawachi I, Hoorn SV, Ezzati M. Is inequality at the heart of it? Cross-country associations of income inequality with cardiovascular diseases and risk factors. Soc Sci Med 2008;66(8):1719–32.
- Wells JC, Marphatia AA, Cole TJ, McCoy D. Associations of economic and gender inequality with global obesity prevalence: understanding the female excess. Soc Sci Med 2012;75(3):482–90.
- Regidor E, Gutiérrez-Fisac JL, Ronda E, Calle ME, Martínez D, Domínguez V. Impact of cumulative area-based adverse socioeconomic environment on body mass index and overweight. J Epidemiol Community Health 2008; 62(3):231-8.
- Su D, Esqueda OA, Li L, Pagán JA. Income inequality and obesity prevalence among OECD countries. J Biosoc Sci 2012; 44(4):417–32.
- 21. Hajizadeh M, Campbell MK, Sarma S. Socioeconomic inequalities in adult obesity risk in Canada: trends and decomposition analyses. Eur J Health Econ 2014; 15(2):203-21.

- 22. Drewnowski A, Moudon AV, Jiao J, Aggarwal A, Charreire H, Chaix B. Food environment and socioeconomic status influence obesity rates in Seattle and in Paris. Int J Obes 2014; 38(2):306–14.
- 23. Howel D, Stamp E, Chadwick TJ, Adamson AJ, White M. Are social inequalities widening in generalised and abdominal obesity and overweight among English adults? PLoS One 2013;8(11):e79027.
- 24. Congdon P. Variations in obesity rates between US Counties: impacts of activity access, food environments, and settlement patterns. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2017;14(9):E1023.
- 25. Pabayo R, Fuller D, Lee EY, Horino M, Kawachi I. State-level income inequality and meeting physical activity guidelines; differential associations among US men and women. J Public Health (Oxf) 2018;40(2):229–36.
- 26. Lee H, Andrew M, Gebremariam A, Lumeng JC, Lee JM. Longitudinal associations between poverty and obesity from birth through adolescence. Am J Public Health 2014; 104(5):e70–6.
- 27. Kim J, Sharma SV, Park SK. Association between socioeconomic status and obesity in adults: evidence from the 2001 to 2009 Korea National Health And Nutrition Examination Survey. J Prev Med Public Health 2014; 47(2):94–103.
- 28. Salmasi L, Celidoni M. Investigating the poverty-obesity paradox in Europe. Econ Hum Biol 2017;26:70–85.
- 29. Dhurandhar EJ. The food-insecurity obesity paradox: A resource scarcity hypothesis. Physiol Behav 2016;162:88–92.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

Tables

Table 1. Effects of Income Inequality^a, Poverty Percentage, and Sociodemographic Variables on Obesity at the County Level Among Adults in New York State^b

Variable	β Coefficient	Standard Error	<i>P</i> Value ^c
Intercept ^d	16.91	21.06	.43
Gini index	37	.14	.01
Poverty ^e , %	.42	.14	.004
Median age	.09	.10	.36
African-American, %	.14	.10	.14
Hispanic, %	22	.09	.009
Married, %	.22	.10	.03
High school graduate, %	.08	.16	.64

^a Calculated by Gini index drawn from 5-year estimates of the American Community Survey for 2015.

^b Based on an ordinary least squares multivariable linear regression model. Poverty percentage and sociodemographic variables were drawn from 5-year estimates of the American Community Survey for 2015. The dependent variable, obesity percentage, is based on 2013 CDC County Data Indicators (https:// www.cdc.gov/diabetes/data/countydata/countydataindicators.html) estimates based on the BRFSS (Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System) survey (9).

 $^{\circ}$ P values were calculated by using the ordinary least squares statistical test. Significance was set at P < .05.

^d The intercept of the OLS regression model. Defined, in this case, as the expected value of obesity prevalence if all independent variables used in the equation are set to 0.

^e Defined as percentage of population with annual incomes below the Federal Poverty Level.

Table 2. Effects of Income Inequality^a, Poverty Percentage, and Sociodemographic Variables on Obesity at the County Level Among Adult Men in New York State^b

Variable	β Coefficient	Standard Error	<i>P</i> Value ^c
Intercept ^d	35.68	15.89	.03
Gini index	41	.13	.004
Poverty ^e , %	.31	.14	.03
Median age	.04	.10	.68
African-American, %	.07	.09	.48
Hispanic, %	26	.08	<.001
Married, %	.21	.08	.01
High school graduate, %	04	.13	.76

^a Calculated by Gini index drawn from 5-year estimates of the American Community Survey for 2015.

^b Based on an ordinary least squares multivariable linear regression model. Poverty percentage and sociodemographic variables were drawn from 5-year estimates of the American Community Survey for 2015. The dependent variable, obesity percentage, is based on 2013 CDC estimates based on the BRFSS (Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System) survey (9).

^c P values were calculated by using the ordinary least squares statistical test. Significance was set at P < .05.

^d The intercept of the OLS regression model. Defined, in this case, as the expected value of obesity prevalence if all independent variables used in the equation are set to 0.

^e Defined as percentage of population with annual incomes below the Federal Poverty Level.

Table 3. Effects of Income Inequality^a, Poverty Percentage, and Sociodemographic Variables on Obesity at the County Level Among Adult Women in New York State^b

Variable	β Coefficient	Standard Error	<i>P</i> Value ^c
Intercept ^d	19.82	22.92	.39
Gini index	34	.15	.03
Poverty, % ^e	.38	.13	.004
Median age	.08	.10	.40
African-American, %	.18	.10	.07
Hispanic, %	20	.09	.03
Married, %	.15	.10	.14
High school graduate, %	.05	.18	.80

^a Calculated by Gini index drawn from 5-year estimates of the American Community Survey for 2015.

^b Based on an ordinary least squares multivariable linear regression model. Poverty percentage and sociodemographic variables were drawn from 5-year estimates of the American Community Survey for 2015. The dependent variable, obesity percentage, is based on 2013 CDC estimates based on the BRFSS (Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System) survey (9).

^c P values were calculated by using the ordinary least squares statistical test. Significance was set at P < .05.

^d The intercept of the OLS regression model. Defined, in this case, as the expected value of obesity prevalence if all independent variables used in the equation are set to 0.

^e Defined as percentage of population with annual incomes below the Federal Poverty Level.

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE public health research, practice, and policy

Volume 14, E82

SEPTEMBER 2017

ORIGINAL RESEARCH

Longitudinal Analysis of Nut-Inclusive Diets and Body Mass Index Among Overweight and Obese African American Women Living in Rural Alabama and Mississippi, 2011–2013

Samara R. Sterling, PhD, MS¹; Brenda Bertrand, PhD, RD¹; Suzanne Judd, PhD²; Tiffany L. Carson, PhD³; Paula Chandler-Laney, PhD¹; Monica L. Baskin, PhD³

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/16_0595.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Sterling SR, Bertrand B, Judd S, Carson TL, Chandler-Laney P, Baskin ML. Longitudinal Analysis of Nut-Inclusive Diets and Body Mass Index Among Overweight and Obese African American Women Living in Rural Alabama and Mississippi, 2011–2013. Prev Chronic Dis 2017;14:160595. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd14.160595.

PEER REVIEWED

Abstract

Introduction

Nuts, when eaten alongside other nutritionally rich foods, may decrease obesity and related chronic disease risks, which are high among African American women in the rural South. We monitored changes in nut intake, other obesity-related foods (fruits, vegetables, red or processed meats, added sugars), and body mass index (BMI) over a 2-year weight loss intervention among 383 overweight and obese African American women in rural Alabama and Mississippi.

Methods

Two dietary recalls were administered at 4 points over 24 months. Mann–Whitney tests compared differences in median food group intake between nut consumers and non-nut consumers, and *t* tests identified BMI differences between groups. Mixed linear models tested the relationship between nut intake and intake of the select food groups, and between nut intake and BMI over time.

Results

Overall nut consumers ate more fruits and vegetables and less red meat than non-nut consumers. Nut consumers had lower BMI values than non-nut consumers. Weight loss by the end of the intervention was significant for nut consumers but not for non-nut consumers, even after accounting for kilocalorie consumption and physical activity engagement.

Conclusion

Nut consumption is associated with consumption of other nutritionally rich foods and lower BMI among African American women in rural Alabama and Mississippi. Future interventions should target increasing daily nut intake, decreasing added sugar intake, and identifying strategies to encourage positive dietary changes to continue after an intervention.

Introduction

African American women in the rural southeastern United States have the highest rates of obesity and obesity-related diseases in the country (1,2). Eighty percent of African American women in the United States are either overweight or obese (3). This disparity may be the result of various influences (eg, environmental, cultural, behavioral) associated with low diet quality, resulting in high rates of obesity and chronic diseases (4,5).

African Americans in the rural South tend to consume a traditional "Southern" diet that contains large amounts of red or processed meats, salty snacks, and added sugar (6,7), which increase obesity and chronic disease risks (6). However, although these foods are in the diet, many protective plant foods such as collard greens, apples, green beans, and nuts are abundant in southern regions and



are included in Southern cuisine (8–12). Nuts in particular may facilitate weight loss, and dietary patterns that include them generally result in lower rates of obesity and chronic disease risks (13–16). What is unknown is whether the consumption of nuts alongside other protective foods over time enhances synergistic health benefits (17) or whether the incorporation of nuts into a traditional Southern diet increases obesity risk. Weight loss interventions in this community are challenging because of high attrition rates, low weight loss maintenance, and failure to tailor dietary recommendations on the basis of foods already in the diet (18).

The objective of this study was to examine the longitudinal relationship between nut intake and other healthful foods (eg, fruits and vegetables) and foods whose intake is related to obesity and chronic disease (eg, red or processed meats, added sugars) in a 2year weight-loss intervention among African American women in rural Alabama and Mississippi. We examined changes in body mass index (BMI, measured as weight in kg divided by height in m²) between nut and non-nut consumers. We hypothesized that nut consumers would eat more fruits and vegetables, have lower BMI values, and lose more weight than non-nut consumers.

Methods

We used secondary data from the Deep South Network for Cancer Control (DSN). DSN is an ongoing collaboration among university researchers, public health practitioners, and volunteers who live and work in target communities. From its inception in 2000, the aim of DSN has been to eliminate cancer disparities, particularly in rural communities of Alabama and Mississippi (19). For this study, analyses were performed on a subgroup of 383 overweight and obese African American women who participated in a 2-year DSN weight loss intervention from 2011 through 2013.

Eight rural counties, evenly distributed between Alabama and Mississippi, were selected for the intervention. Participants lived or worked in one of these counties. Selected counties have limited access to health care and high poverty and cancer rates (19). Half of the counties, evenly distributed between states, received the group weight loss intervention, and the other counties received community strategies along with the weight loss intervention. The community strategies included grants to fund farmers' markets and produce stands in the community. The research protocol was approved by the institutional review board at the University of Alabama at Birmingham, and all participants provided written informed consent.

Recruitment and exclusion criteria

Recruitment for the parent study was conducted from January 2011 through September 2013 by study staff who lived in the

communities of study. Participants were recruited through networking, word of mouth, and announcements in churches, health departments, schools, and other local facilities. People who were eligible self-identified as African American; lived, worked, or attended school in a participating community; were aged 30 to 70 years; had a measured BMI of 25 or greater; reported no history of weight loss surgery, eating disorder, recent cardiac event, or mobility impairment; and reported being a nonsmoker. Women were excluded at the baseline assessment if they had uncontrolled blood pressure (systolic blood pressure ≥ 160 mm Hg or diastolic blood pressure ≥ 100 mm Hg) or fasting blood glucose of 126 mg/dL or higher. Data from participants of the parent study who provided at least 2 dietary recalls over the study period (n = 383) were used for this study (Figure).



Figure. Study cohort enrollment diagram for 383 overweight and obese African American women enrolled in a weight loss intervention in rural Alabama and Mississippi, 2011–2013.

Demographic information and body mass index

Participants completed baseline demographic surveys that included questions about their age, employment status, annual household income, education level, and marital status. Trained staff members measured height and weight at baseline and at 6, 12, and 24 months. Height and weight were measured with a portable stadiometer (SECA 2-in-1 model no. 8761321004; seca GmBh & Co KG). Height was measured to the nearest 0.1 cm, and weight to the nearest 0.1 kg with light clothing and without shoes. BMI was calculated from height and weight measurements (20).

Intervention

The weight loss intervention was conducted during a 2-year period and included the first 6 months of intensive evidence-based education about obesity and chronic disease prevention as the initial study phase. By county, participants met once per week and were educated by trained volunteers about the role of healthy habits, including diet and regular physical activity, in promoting weight loss and preventing chronic disease. Participants were introduced to various weight loss strategies including reducing daily calorie intake, adhering to an exercise regimen, and preparing

healthy meals. The weekly intervention meetings included discussions about participant successes and challenges to achieving their health goals, and participants received group support. The intensity of the intervention was gradually decreased, and in the following 6 months groups met twice per month (3 months), then monthly (3 months) to discuss maintenance of healthy habits learned in the program. During the second year (maintenance phase), group meetings were discontinued, and participants received monthly telephone calls from lay peer coaches to discuss maintenance of the healthy habits.

Dietary intake data collection

Dietary data were collected by using the Automated Self-Administered 24-Hour Dietary Recall (ASA24). ASA24 is a web-based tool that guides participants through recording all foods eaten on a previous day (21). ASA24 uses the Automated Multiple Pass Method (AMPM), which is an evidence-based approach intended to improve the accuracy of food intake recording in 24-hour dietary recalls (21,22). AMPM uses multiple probes throughout the recall to prompt users to remember all foods eaten in the previous day, including commonly forgotten foods. Because of limited computer access, participants completed the recalls with trained staff members by telephone and in person.

Dietary information was collected at baseline and at 6, 12, and 24 months. Each answer was entered into ASA24 at the time of interview. At each point, trained staff collected 1 weekday recall in person and 1 weekend recall by telephone. The rationale for 1 inperson and 1 telephone call was logistical. Because research study staff traveled to local communities (up to 4 hours away) to collect a weekday recall, capturing the weekend recall via telephone eliminated the need for participants and staff members to return to the assessment location for a single assessment. Visual cue cards were provided to participants preceding interviews to help them identify common household measurements, such as teaspoons and cups. The validity of the telephone method of administration for recalls has been established. Research indicates that the estimation of energy intakes was as effective in the telephone method as in the inperson method (22). Dietary recalls were collected from 383 participants during the 2-year study period.

Dietary intake nutrient analysis and physical activity

The ASA24 database was linked with the MyPyramid Equivalents Database (MPED) from the US Department of Agriculture. MPED standardizes the quantities of reported food groups (23). In MPED, protein foods, such as red meat and processed meats, were measured in ounces. Nuts, including peanuts, tree nuts, and seeds, were measured in ounce equivalents (oz eq), where 0.5 oz of nuts is nutritionally equivalent to 1 oz of lean meat. Fruits and vegetables were measured in cup equivalents (cup eq) of whole fruit (not including juice) and total vegetables, and added sugars were calculated in teaspoon equivalents (tsp eq).

Nut consumers were identified by points in time and overall. At each point, nut consumers were identified as participants who consumed nuts, whereas non-nut consumers were participants who did not consume nuts at that point. Overall nut consumers were defined as participants who ate nuts during at least 1 of the 4 points, whereas non-nut consumers did not.

Participants completed surveys that asked 2 questions about the number of days per week they engaged in physical activity (moderate and/or vigorous physical activity) at each of the 4 points. Moderate physical activity was defined as "physical activity that causes some increase in breathing or heart rate" (eg, brisk walking, bicycling, vacuuming, gardening). Vigorous activity was defined as "physical activity that causes large increase in breathing or heart rate" (eg, running, aerobics, heavy yard work) (24).

Statistical methods

Four dietary recall points at 6-month intervals over a 24-month period were examined to reflect changes in dietary intake over time. Participation rate and the proportion of nut to non-nut consumers overall and at each point were calculated. Participants who completed dietary recalls for at least 1 of the 4 points were included in the analysis. The linear mixed models accounted for missing data and drop-out patterns by adjusting for random variables and time-varying covariates, such that an unequal number of observations across participants did not negatively affect the results (25).

The food groups and components that were examined included nuts, fruits, vegetables, red meat, processed meat, and added sugars. These food groups were chosen on the basis of their association with obesity, obesity-related chronic diseases, or both (15,26-28). To account for underlying data distribution, we calculated median intake of nuts and of these food groups or components of interest at each point. We used Mann–Whitney tests to compare differences in median food group intake at each point between groups. After the Johnson SI transformation was applied to BMI, t tests were used to examine differences in mean BMI between groups at each point.

Mixed linear models were used to examine the relationship between nut intake and the intake of the select food groups and components over time using a factorial design. In this model, nut intake at baseline and at 6, 12, and 24 months (points 1, 2, 3, and 4, respectively) was the independent variable and the food groups

and components at baseline and at 6, 12, and 24 months were the dependent variables. The model also accounted for the variability within and between participants. The relationship between nut intake and BMI over time was also identified by using interaction testing. Both mixed models were adjusted for age, annual household income, education level, and mean daily kilocalorie intake. The relationship between nut intake and BMI was further adjusted for number of days per week of moderate and vigorous physical activity reported. The slopes were tested to determine the presence of a significant change in the association between nut intake and intake of select food groups and components and BMI over time. All statistical tests were conducted using JMP Pro 12 (SAS Institute, Inc), and P values of .05 or less were considered significant.

Results

Seventy percent of the 383 participants were overall nut consumers, and approximately 38% of participants consumed nuts at each point (Table 1). Nut consumers and non-nut consumers were similar at baseline in BMI, age, annual household income, and education level (Table 2).

Food consumption differences between nut and non-nut consumers

Overall nut consumers had significantly higher intakes of fruits and vegetables and lower intakes of red meat than did non-nut consumers (Table 3). However, nut consumers and non-nut consumers reported similar dietary trends at baseline and at 24 months (Table 3). At 24 months, nut consumers consumed significantly less median daily sugar than they did at baseline (4.7 less tsp eq/d, P < .001; 1.6 less tsp eq/1,000 kcal/d, P = .004). When accounting for kilocalories consumed, however, there were no significant differences in median nut, fruit, vegetable, or red meat intake between baseline and 24 months. Results were similar for non-nut consumers, who also reported consuming less added sugar at 24 months than they did at baseline (2.7 less tsp eq/d, P < .001; 0.8 less tsp eq/1,000 kcal/d, P = .01). They also reported significantly lower processed meat intake between baseline and 24 months (P =.02). However, there was no change in median fruit, vegetable, or red meat intake between baseline and 24 months. There was no difference in added sugar intake between nut consumers and nonnut consumers when comparing baseline and 24 months (P = .30).

Similar results were observed when conducting longitudinal analyses of food group and component intake over time in nut consumers and non-nut consumers separately. When adjusting for kilocalories consumed, there were no changes in red or processed meat intake over time in either group, and non-nut consumers did not change their fruit or vegetable intake over time. However, nut consumers increased their fruit (P = .009) and vegetable (P = .01) intake over time. Furthermore, the decrease in daily added sugar intake per 1,000 kcal over time was significant for both nut consumers (P = .004) and non-nut consumers (P = .01). The change from baseline to 24 months in total daily added sugar intake (P = .07) and daily added sugar intake per 1,000 kilocalories (P = .57) did not differ between groups enough to attain significance. When adjusting for age, annual household income, and education level, both nut consumers and non-nut consumers significantly decreased their mean daily kilocalorie consumption throughout the intervention (P < .001 for both groups).

Longitudinal relationship between nut intake and BMI

Overall nut consumers had significantly lower BMI values than did non-nut consumers over the study period (P < .001, Table 3) and at each point (baseline, P = .04; 6 months, P = .009; 12 months, P = .003; 24 months, P < .001). Nut consumers at each point had lower BMI values than did non-nut consumers (Table 3). In the longitudinal analysis, BMI values of all participants decreased over the 2-year period (P = .002), although this result was significant in nut consumers (P = .01) but not in non-nut consumers (P = .63). For nut consumers, this finding remained after the model was adjusted for age, annual household income, and education level (P < .001) and for number of days per week of exercise (P < .001) and mean daily kilocalories consumed (P = .05).

Discussion

We monitored changes in dietary intake over a 2-year weight loss intervention in 383 overweight and obese African American women in rural Alabama and Mississippi. Specifically, we wanted to identify whether or not nut consumption was accompanied by a higher intake of other protective plant foods and the association between nut intake and BMI.

Our main finding was that, even when adjusting for confounders, nut consumption was consistently associated with lower BMI over time. A possible explanation for this is that nut consumers ate more plant foods and less red meat than did non-nut consumers. Diets that emphasize nuts, fruits, and vegetables and limit red meat are protective against obesity and chronic diseases (13). Even though median nut intake among nut consumers remained stable over the intervention, the overall diet of nut consumers may have contributed to weight management. One previous study found lower BMI values in individuals who consumed nuts long-term compared with those who did not, despite the amount consumed (29). These results coincide with our findings and suggest that a

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

small amount of nut intake may be associated with significant weight management benefits if consumed over a long period. Nut consumers also significantly reduced their added sugar intake from baseline to 24 months, which may have further assisted with weight loss (28).

An area of concern observed in this study was that some of the positive dietary behaviors noted in both nut consumers and nonnut consumers did not persist to the end of 24 months. It is common for African Americans in the South to fall short of federal recommendations for intake of fruits and vegetables (30). Previous lifestyle interventions in African American communities have described similar challenges in participants maintaining healthy behaviors after an intervention (18). Because food choices in African American communities are closely linked to cultural traditions, adhering to a pattern that excludes cultural foods that are less nutritious may be challenging, even for those who desire to lose weight (4). Positive dietary changes must remain after an intervention period for participants to continue to experience the health benefits gained during the intervention.

A strength of this study was that it used a large sample size, which was also homogeneous in race, weight status, geographic location, and sex. Therefore, results provide a reliable examination of nutinclusive diets among overweight and obese African American women who participated in the DSN study in the rural South. One weakness included reliance on self-reported data, such as dietary intake and physical activity. However, these were the most economically feasible approaches for this study. Caution should be used when generalizing the findings to women of other races, age groups, and regions of the country.

The impact of future weight loss interventions in this community could be enhanced by encouraging increased nut intake and decreased added sugar intake and by introducing low-calorie substitutions for popular Southern foods such as red and processed meats. Interventions may be able to encourage long-term dietary changes by focusing on maintaining a group or family support system after the intervention. Participants may be trained as leaders to teach community members the material learned in the intervention. An ongoing system of community involvement may encourage more widespread and long-term positive changes after the intervention. Future studies may also examine the effect of nut consumption on metabolic processes among women in this population.

Acknowledgments

The project described was supported by grant no. 1U54CA153719 from the National Cancer Institute (NCI) Center to Reduce Cancer Health Disparities (CRCHD). Its contents are solely the responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official views of the NCI or CRCHD. Recognition and appreciation is provided to the entire DSN staff (ie, county coordinators, regional coordinators, and central office personnel). We extend special thanks to the community health advisors trained as research partners and the study participants who helped to make all of the research possible.

Author Information

Corresponding Author: Samara R. Sterling, PhD, MS, Graduate Research Assistant, Department of Nutrition Science, School of Health Professions, University of Alabama at Birmingham, Webb 449 1675 University Blvd, Birmingham, AL 35294-3361. Telephone: 917-539-9766. E-mail: sterlins@uab.edu.

Author Affiliations: ¹Department of Nutrition Science, School of Health Professions, University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, Alabama. ²Department of Biostatistics, School of Public Health, University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, Alabama. ³Division of Preventive Medicine, School of Medicine and Comprehensive Cancer Center, University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, Alabama.

References

- 1. Hill JL, You W, Zoellner JM. Disparities in obesity among rural and urban residents in a health disparate region. BMC Public Health 2014;14(1):1051.
- 2. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Health of black or African-American non-Hispanic population. 2015.
- 3. Friday L. Exploring the causes of black women's obesity. Boston University; 2012. https://www.bu.edu/today/2012/ exploring-the-causes-of-black-womens-obesity/. Accessed June 24, 2017.
- 4. James DC. Factors influencing food choices, dietary intake, and nutrition-related attitudes among African Americans: application of a culturally sensitive model. Ethn Health 2004; 9(4):349–67.
- 5. Smith ML, et al.Disparities of food availability and affordability within convenience stores in Bexar County, Texas. J Environ Public Health 2013; 2013:782756.
- 6. Liu J, Hickson DA, Musani SK, Talegawkar SA, Carithers TC, Tucker KL, et al. Dietary patterns, abdominal visceral adipose tissue, and cardiometabolic risk factors in African Americans: the Jackson heart study. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2013; 21(3):644–51.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

- 7. Judd SE, Letter AJ, Shikany JM, Roth DL, Newby PK. Dietary patterns derived using exploratory and confirmatory factor analysis are stable and generalizable across race, region, and gender subgroups in the REGARDS Study. Front Nutr 2015; 1:29.
- 8. National Peanut Board. Peanut country, U.S.A.; 2014. http:// nationalpeanutboard.org/the-facts/peanut-country-u-s-a/. Accessed June 24, 2017.
- 9. Browne C. Pecan industry in Alabama. In: Encyclopedia of Alabama. Birmingham (AL): Alabama Humanities Foundation; 2008.
- 10. Bertoia ML, Mukamal KJ, Cahill LE, Hou T, Ludwig DS, Mozaffarian D, et al. Changes in intake of fruits and vegetables and weight change in United States men and women followed for up to 24 years: analysis from three prospective cohort studies. PLoS Med 2015;12(9):e1001878.
- 11. Hernando Requejo O, Rubio Rodríguez MC. [Nutrition and cancer]. Nutr Hosp 2015;32(Suppl 1):67–72.
- 12. Yang Y, Buys DR, Judd SE, Gower BA, Locher JL. Favorite foods of older adults living in the Black Belt Region of the United States. Influences of ethnicity, gender, and education. Appetite 2013;63:18–23.
- 13. Weng LC, Steffen LM, Szklo M, Nettleton J, Chambless L, Folsom AR. A diet pattern with more dairy and nuts, but less meat is related to lower risk of developing hypertension in middle-aged adults: the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) study. Nutrients 2013;5(5):1719–33.
- Sabaté J, Wien M. A perspective on vegetarian dietary patterns and risk of metabolic syndrome. Br J Nutr 2015;113(S2,Suppl 2):S136–43.
- 15. Mattes RD, Kris-Etherton PM, Foster GD. Impact of peanuts and tree nuts on body weight and healthy weight loss in adults. J Nutr 2008;138(9):1741S–5S.
- 16. Kang M, Park Y-H, Baik HW, Paik HY, Joung H. Grains, nuts and fruits dietary pattern is associated with reduced likelihood of having metabolic syndrome. FASEB J 2012;26(SIb363).
- 17. Jacobs DR Jr, Gross MD, Tapsell LC. Food synergy: an operational concept for understanding nutrition. Am J Clin Nutr 2009;89(5):1543S-8S.
- Bronner Y, Boyington JE. Developing weight loss interventions for African-American women: elements of successful models. J Natl Med Assoc 2002;94(4):224–35.
- Lisovicz N, Johnson RE, Higginbotham J, Downey JA, Hardy CM, Fouad MN, et al. The Deep South Network for cancer control. Building a community infrastructure to reduce cancer health disparities. Cancer 2006;107(8,Suppl):1971–9.
- 20. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Overweight and obesity. Med Net 2007;13(4):16–7.

- 21. National Cancer Institute. ASA24: Automated Self-Administered 24-Hour (ASA24) Dietary Assessment Tool; 2015. http://epi.grants.cancer.gov/asa24/. Accessed May 6, 2015.
- 22. Tran KM, Johnson RK, Soultanakis RP, Matthews DE. Inperson vs telephone-administered multiple-pass 24-hour recalls in women: validation with doubly labeled water. J Am Diet Assoc 2000;100(7):777–83, 783.
- 23. Bowman SA, Friday JE, Moshfegh AJ. MyPyramid Equivalents Database, 2.0 for USDA Survey Foods, 2003–2004. Beltsville (MD): US Department of Agriculture; 2008.
- 24. American Heart Association. Moderate to vigorous what is your level of intensity? http://www.heart.org/HEARTORG/ HealthyLiving/PhysicalActivity/FitnessBasics/Moderate-to-Vigorous — What-is-your-level-of-intensity_UCM_463775_ Article.jsp#.V-vQ91cSC-I. Accessed June 24, 2017.
- 25. Gad AM, Youssif NA. Linear mixed models for longitudinal data with non-random dropouts. J Data Sci 2006;4:447–460.
- 26. Donaldson MS. Nutrition and cancer: a review of the evidence for an anti-cancer diet. Nutr J 2004;3(1):19.
- 27. Rouhani MH, Salehi-Abargouei A, Surkan PJ, Azadbakht L. Is there a relationship between red or processed meat intake and obesity? A systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. Obes Rev 2014;15(9):740–8.
- 28. Stanhope KL. Sugar consumption, metabolic disease and obesity: the state of the controversy. Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci 2016;53(1):52–67.
- 29. Bes-Rastrollo M, Wedick NM, Martinez-Gonzalez MA, Li TY, Sampson L, Hu FB. Prospective study of nut consumption, long-term weight change, and obesity risk in women. Am J Clin Nutr 2009;89(6):1913–9.
- 30. Carson TL, Desmond R, Hardy S, Townsend S, Ard JD, Meneses K, et al. A study of the relationship between food group recommendations and perceived stress: findings from black women in the Deep South. J Obes 2015;2015:203164.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.
Tables

Table 1. Dietary Recall^a Participation Among 383 Overweight or Obese African American Female Nut Consumers and Non-Nut Consumers in Rural Alabama and Mississippi, 2011–2013

	Participation Rate ^b	Nut Consumers ^c	Non-Nut Consumers ^d
Time		Proportion (%)	
Overall	383 of 383 (100)	267 of 383 (70)	116 of 383 (30)
Baseline	382 of 383 (99.7)	160 of 382 (42)	222 of 382 (58)
6 Months	328 of 383 (86)	119 of 328 (36)	209 of 328 (64)
12 Months	287 of 383 (75)	116 of 287 (40)	171 of 287 (60)
24 Months	232 of 383 (61)	79 of 232 (34)	153 of 232 (66)

^a Dietary recalls were administered using the web-based Automated Self-Administered 24-Hour (ASA24) recall system.

^b Women who participated in the dietary recall analysis portion of an intervention of the Deep South Network for Cancer Control.

^c Participants were classified as nut consumers if they reported consuming nuts on at least 1 of the 4 dietary recall points.

^d Participants were classified as non-nut consumers if they did not report consuming nuts on at least 1 of the 4 dietary recall points.

Table 2. Baseline Demographic Characteristics of 383 Overweight or Obese African American Female Weight Loss Participants in Rural Alabama and Mississippi, 2011–2013

Baseline Description ^a	Total	Nut Consumers	Non-Nut Consumers
BMI, mean (SD), kg/m ²	38.6 (8.1)	38.0 (7.5)	39.1 (8.6)
Age, mean (SD), y	47 (10)	47 (11)	46 (10)
Annual household income, \$	•		
<10,000	73 (19)	23 (15)	50 (23)
10,000-19,999	87 (23)	41 (26)	46 (21)
20,000-29,999	80 (21)	33 (21)	47 (22)
30,000-39,999	57 (15)	22 (14)	35 (16)
40,000-49,999	32 (9)	18 (11)	14 (6)
≥50,000	36 (10)	18 (11)	18 (8)
Don't know/unsure	11 (3)	3 (2)	8 (4)
Missing	6 (1)	2 (1)	4 (2)
Education level			
Less than high school	22 (6)	5 (3)	17 (8)
High school graduate/GED	129 (34)	51 (32)	78 (36)
Some post high school	71 (19)	31 (20)	40 (18)
College graduate or more	152 (41)	70 (45)	82 (38)
Don't know/unsure	1(0)	0 (0)	1 (0)
Missing	7 (2)	3 (2)	4 (2)

Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; GED, general educational development; SD, standard deviation.

^a There were no significant differences in BMI, age, income, or education between nut consumers and non-nut consumers at baseline (P = .19, P = .32, P = .27, and P = .06, respectively). Values are presented as no. (%), unless otherwise indicated.

Table 3. Difference in Food Group/Component Consumption and BMI Between 383 Overweight and Obese African American Nut Consumers and Non-Consumers in Rural Alabama and Mississippi, at Baseline, 6 Months, 12 Months, and 24 Months, 2011–2013

	All Participants	Nut Consumers	Non-Nut Consumers	
Food Group/Component	Median (25th-	-75th Percentile)/Median Pe	er 1,000 kcal	<i>P</i> Value ^a
Nuts, oz equivalent				
Overall	_	0.4 (0.1-1.2)/0.3	_	_
Baseline	_	0.4 (0.1-1.0)/0.3	_	-
6 Months	_	0.5 (0.2-1.5)/0.4	_	-
12 Months	_	0.4 (0.1-1.3)/0.3	_	-
24 Months	_	0.5 (0.2-1.0)/0.3	_	-
Adjusted <i>P</i> value (per 1,000 kcal) ^b	_	.19	_	-
Whole fruit, cup equivalent				
Overall	0.4 (0-1.0)/0.3	0.4 (0-1.1)/0.4	0.2 (0-0.9)/0.2	<.001
Baseline	0.2 (0-0.9)/0.2	0.6 (0.1-1.0)0.3	0.1 (0-0.7)/0.1	<.001
6 Months	0.5 (0-1.4)/0.5	0.6 (0.2-1.6)/0.5	0.5 (0-1.3)/0.4	.09
12 Months	0.4 (0-1.1)/0.3	0.5 (0.1-1.4)/0.4	0.4 (0-1.0)/0.3	.01
24 Months	0.3 (0-1.0)/0.2	0.4 (0-1.3)/0.4	0.2 (0-0.9)/0.2	.17
Adjusted <i>P</i> value (per 1,000 kcal) ^b	.005	.009	.20	.22 ^c
Vegetables, cup equivalent				
Overall	1.1 (0.7-1.6)/0.8	1.2 (0.7-1.7)/0.8	1.0 (0.6-1.5)/0.8	<.001
Baseline	1.1 (0.7-1.6)/0.7	1.2 (0.8-1.7)/0.7	1.0 (0.7-1.5)/0.7	.04
6 Months	1.2 (0.7-1.8)/0.9	1.3 (0.8-1.8)/0.9	1.2 (0.7-1.8)/0.9	.25
12 Months	1.1 (0.7-1.6)/0.5	1.2 (0.7-1.6)/0.8	1.1 (0.6-1.6)/0.8	.44
24 Months	1.1 (0.6-1.6)/0.8	1.1 (0.6-1.6)/0.8	1.0 (0.6-1.5)/0.8	.46
Adjusted <i>P</i> value (per 1,000 kcal) ^b	.009	.01	.38	.11 ^c
Red meat, oz				
Overall	0.7 (0-1.8)/0.5	0.6 (0-1.7)/0.4	0.9 (0-2.0)/0.6	.01
Baseline	0.9 (0.1-2.0)/0.6	0.9 (0-2.0)/0.4	0.1 (0.2-2.0)/0.7	.07
6 Months	0.5 (0-1.5)/0.3	0.4 (0-1.2)/0.2	0.5 (0-1.8)/0.4	.11
12 Months	0.6 (0-1.9)/0.5	0.6 (0-1.7)/0.5	0.6 (0-1.9)/0.5	.28
24 Months	0.6 (0-1.8)/0.6	0.3 (0-1.5)/0.3	0.7 (0-1.8)/0.6	.41
Adjusted <i>P</i> value (per 1,000 kcal) ^b	.83	.43	.82	.43 ^c
Processed meat, oz				
Overall	0.2 (0-0.9)/0.2	0.2 (0-0.9)/0.2	0.3 (0-0.9)/0.2	.59
Baseline	0.4 (0-1.1)/0.3	0.4 (0-1.0)/0.2	0.4 (0-1.1)/0.3	.43

^a P values were determined by Mann–Whitney tests and compare differences in food intake between nut and non-nut consumers at each of the 4 time points.

^b *P* values were determined by linear mixed models and compare changes in food group intake over time in all participants, nut consumers, and non-nut consumers while adjusting for daily kilocalorie consumption.

^c P values were determined by linear mixed models and compare differences in dietary changes over time between nut and non-nut consumers while adjusting for daily kilocalorie consumption.

^d P values were determined by t tests and compare BMI differences between nut and non-nut consumers at each time point.

(continued on next page)

(continued)

Table 3. Difference in Food Group/Component Consumption and BMI Between 383 Overweight and Obese African American Nut Consumers and Non-Consumers in Rural Alabama and Mississippi, at Baseline, 6 Months, 12 Months, and 24 Months, 2011–2013

	All Participants	Nut Consumers	Non-Nut Consumers					
Food Group/Component	Median (25th	Median (25th-75th Percentile)/Median Per 1,000 kcal						
6 Months	0.2 (0-0.8)/0.1	0 (0-0.7)/0	0.3 (0-0.9)/0.2	.09				
12 Months	0.2 (0-0.9)/0.1	0.3 (0-0.9)/0.2	0.2 (0-0.9)/0.1	.77				
24 Months	0 (0-0.8)/0	0 (0-0.9)/0	0.04 (0-0.8)/0.04	.98				
Adjusted P value (per 1,000 kcal) ^b	.18	.71	.07	.14 ^c				
Added sugar, tsp equivalent								
Overall	9.4 (4.9-14.7)/7.2	9.6 (4.9-14.9)/7.4	9.0 (4.5-14.5)/7.0	.16				
Baseline	12.0 (7.5-17.6)/8.1	13.0 (8.7-20.0)/8.2	10.8 (6.6-16.7)/7.8	.005				
6 Months	8.4 (3.7-13.4)/6.3	9.5 (5.8-14.0)/6.7	7.3 (2.9-13.0)/6.1	.003				
12 Months	8.7 (4.3-14.3)/6.6	8.8 (4.4-14.8)/6.6	8.3 (4.2-14.1)/6.7	.48				
24 Months	8.2 (4.4-12.8)/6.8	8.3 (4.4-13.2)/6.6	8.1 (4.3-12.4)/7.0	.51				
Adjusted P value (per 1,000 kcal) ^b	<.001	.004	.01	.57 ^c				
Body mass index, kg/m ² , mean (SD)	·							
Overall	38 (8)	37 (7)	40 (9)	<.001 ^d				
Baseline	39 (8)	38 (7)	39 (9)	.33 ^d				
6 Months	37 (8)	36 (7)	38 (8)	.25 ^d				
12 Months	37 (8)	36 (7)	38 (8)	.009 ^d				
24 Months	38 (8)	37 (7)	38 (8)	.07 ^d				

^a P values were determined by Mann–Whitney tests and compare differences in food intake between nut and non-nut consumers at each of the 4 time points.

^b P values were determined by linear mixed models and compare changes in food group intake over time in all participants, nut consumers, and non-nut consumers while adjusting for daily kilocalorie consumption.

^c *P* values were determined by linear mixed models and compare differences in dietary changes over time between nut and non-nut consumers while adjusting for daily kilocalorie consumption.

^d P values were determined by t tests and compare BMI differences between nut and non-nut consumers at each time point.

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

Volume 15, E46

APRIL 2018

ORIGINAL RESEARCH

Health Care Disparities Between Men and Women With Type 2 Diabetes

Marady Sabiaga Mesa, MPH

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2018/17 0120.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Mesa MS. Health Care Disparities Between Men and Women With Type 2 Diabetes. Prev Chronic Dis 2018;15:170120. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd15.170120.

PEER REVIEWED

Abstract

Introduction

Regular medical checkups indicate a patient's level of adherence to health care treatment, and the frequency of cancelled appointments or no-shows can indicate adherence. This study investigated the use of health care services by men and women and its impact on the control of their type 2 diabetes.

Methods

This study observed 100 patients with type 2 diabetes aged 45 years or older who lived in Ventura County, California, during January 1, 2015, to January 31, 2016. The data were collected by Magnolia Family Medical Center. A Pearson χ^2 test compared differences between men and women in whether they received a glycated hemoglobin A_{1c} (HbA_{1c}) test in previous 6 months, a low-density lipoprotein cholesterol test in previous year, and a retinal examination in previous year. A Wilcoxon signed-rank test compared attendance to medical appointments and HbA_{1c} values for men and women.

Results

Women had a higher rate of scheduling, cancelling or rescheduling, and showing up to their medical appointments than did men, and men had a higher median HbA_{1c} value than did women; all the Wilcoxon signed-rank tests showed a significant difference (P < .001). None of the χ^2 tests were significant.

Conclusion

Although men and women had similar health care services for diabetes, men had less control of their disease and took less advantage of medical appointments than did women.

Introduction

The prevalence of type 2 diabetes increased from 1980 through 2014 (1). Dieting, exercising, attending regular medical check-ups, and screenings may prevent or control such disease (2). Regular medical checkups indicate a patient's level of adherence to health care treatment, and the frequency of cancelled appointments or no-shows can indicate adherence. Several screenings, such as retinal examinations and laboratory work for glycated hemoglobin A_{1c} (Hb A_{1c}) and low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol, are recommended for proper diabetes care and disease prevention (3).

HbA1c measurements are used to observe the patient's blood glucose level. The higher the HbA_{1c}, the more sugar is found attached to the red blood cells; HbA_{1c} should be less than 5.7% (3). People with diabetes have an HbA_{1c} of 6.5% or higher (3). LDL cholesterol is a measurement of low-density lipid to determine the risk of developing heart disease. Patients are at a higher risk of heart diseases if they have diabetes and have high levels of LDL cholesterol (3). A retinal examination, or a funduscopy, checks for eye diseases. Uncontrolled diabetes can lead to diabetic retinopathy (3). According to American Diabetes Association's Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes, HbA1c measurements should be done at least once every 6 months, LDL cholesterol measurements should be done at least once every 5 years, and retinal examinations should be done at least once every 2 years (3). If patients are taking statins to lower blood pressure, the frequency of LDL cholesterol measurements depends on the physician and patient (3). Patients with any levels of diabetic retinopathy should have retinal examinations at least once every year (3).

Proper treatments are done after an individual has had diabetes diagnosed. Preventing or slowing the progression of such disease



depends ultimately on the patient. This is a health issue because a disease can progress without early detection, proper diagnosis, treatment, and full commitment of the patient.

Several factors in a person's life can create difficulties in diabetes prevention and control, including the level of adherence to recommended schedules of medical care services. Shalev et al and Krämer et al have found significant difference between men and women and their use of medical care (4,5). However, both studies were generalizable to individuals outside of the United States. Vaidya et al found that women used preventive care more frequently (6); however, they did not observe patients already diagnosed with diabetes. Bertakis et al found that women used health care services more often than did men (7). However, that study examined data on all health care services, including those that may not pertain to men.

The objective of my study was to determine whether differences exist between men and women in the control of diabetes and the use of medical appointments.

Methods

The study cohort was patients with type 2 diabetes aged 45 years or older who lived in Ventura County, California, and were regularly checked for diabetes care at Magnolia Family Medical Center. I obtained the data from Magnolia Family Medical Center with the approval of the medical director. The Quality Improvement and Research: Spreading Effective and Efficient Diabetes Care (QIR/SEED) department of Magnolia Family Medical Center collected data from the clinic's electronic health records system, Cerner (Cerner Corporation), through Cerner's Explorer Menu application. The Explorer Menu application produced a report of patients with a Systematized Nomenclature of Medicine-Clinical Terms (SNOMED-CT) problem code of 197763012, which was a diagnostic code for diabetes mellitus 2 in Cerner. The application was then used to identify all patients with that SNOMED-CT code who were aged 45 years or older and who came into the clinic with an appointment during January 1, 2015, to January 31, 2016. The report included data on patient demographics, diagnoses, history, primary care provider name, and appointments.

With the report generated by the Explorer Menu, QIR/SEED collected data on patients who had diagnoses of hypertension or hyperlipidemia and who did not have anemia. QIR/SEED screened out patients who were not regular patients of Magnolia Family Medical Center and who were seen only for a nonprovider appointment. Because of the time involved in gathering information for each patient, the first 50 men and 50 women who fit the criteria from a stratified random sample were included in the study. The study focused on the 100 patients' medical activities from January 1, 2015, to January 31, 2016.

Demographic variables analyzed were age (45–54, 55–64, and ≥65 years), race/ethnicity (Asian, black/African American, other or more than 1 race, white Hispanic, and white non-Hispanic), and sex. The racial/ethnic distribution of this sample was compared with that of Ventura County, which is 84.5% white Hispanic and non-Hispanic (8). Patient appointment data analyzed were the number of no-shows, number of cancelled or rescheduled appointments, and total number of appointments. Show-up rates were calculated by subtracting the number of no-shows from the number of total appointments. Laboratory data for HbA1c and LDL cholesterol were reviewed and noted as to whether they were outdated, up to date, or not done. Retinal examination status was noted as to whether the examinations were outdated, up to date, could not be performed, or the patient had never had one. If the patient did not get their HbA_{1c} test done within 6 months of their last HbA_{1c} test during the study period, their HbA1c status was recorded as outdated. Similarly, retinal examinations and LDL cholesterol tests that were not done within 1 year from the last examination during the study period were recorded as outdated. The number of canceled and rescheduled appointments were recorded to observe the patients' commitment to medical appointments concerning diabetes. The number of no-shows is the number of times a patient had an appointment and failed to show up. The total number of appointments scheduled included no-shows and kept appointments during the study's timeframe.

Patients' names, addresses, medical record numbers, date of birth, and any identifying factors were excluded from the data analyzed. Medical record numbers were changed to a random value from 1 to 100 to protect the patients' identities. Factors such as insurance coverage, transportation, jobs, and family commitments were not considered in the study because they are extrinsic factors. Also not recorded was time since a patient received a diagnosis of diabetes. Medication adherence was measured through the patients' verbal responses to their physician's questions about whether or not they were taking their medications; to avoid the limitations associated with self-reported data, data on medication adherence were excluded from the study. A letter of exemption from National University's institutional review board was obtained to investigate these data.

RStudio (RStudio) was used to analyze and interpret the data. In RStudio, box plots were produced to check for outliers and visualization of any possible differences. The box plots were also used for analyzing the distribution of the data set. A Pearson χ^2 test compared differences between men and women in whether they received an HbA_{1c} test in previous 6 months, an LDL cholesterol

test in previous year, and a retinal examination in previous year. The χ^2 test was also used to examine whether these variables were dependent on each other. A Wilcoxon signed-rank test was performed on sex versus total appointments scheduled, appointments cancelled or rescheduled, rate of showing up, and HbA_{1c} values. The Wilcoxon signed-rank test was also used to observe any differences between the medians for men and women. The level of significance used for both the χ^2 test and Wilcoxon signed-rank test was $\alpha = .05$.

Results

Of 100 patients in this study, 7 were Asian, 2 were black/African American, 45 were white non-Hispanic, 32 were white Hispanic, and 3 were other or more than 1 race. Only data on the white non-Hispanic and white Hispanic groups were analyzed because the other 3 groups had small numbers. This racial/ethnic distribution is similar to that of the Ventura County population. Eighty-eight percent of the white non-Hispanic group had an outdated HbA_{1c} test, 45.1% had an outdated LDL cholesterol test, and 66% had an outdated retinal examination. In the white Hispanic group, 86.5% had an outdated HbA_{1c} test, 56.8% had an outdated LDL cholesterol test, and 68.6% had an outdated retinal examination.

Of the 100 patients, 36% were aged 45 to 54 years (21 men and 15 women), 44% were aged 55 to 64 years (23 men and 21 women), and 20% were aged 65 years or older (6 men and 14 women). The range for HbA_{1c} values for women was 5.2 to 12, with an outlier of 12. The range for HbA_{1c} values for men was 5.8 to 12, with no outliers. The range of total appointments for women was 15 to 118 and for men was 6 to 58; for women, 118 was an outlier, and for men 58 was an outlier. The range of values for showing up to an appointment for women was 16 to 116 and for men was 6 to 58; for women, 116 was an outlier, and for men 58 was an outlier. The range of values for showing up to an appointment for cancelled or rescheduled appointments for women was 5 to 57 and for men was 3 to 19; 57 was an outlier for women, and there was no outlier for men.

During January 1, 2015, to January 31, 2016, most men (76%) and most women (70%) had had at least 1 HbA_{1c} test done within 6 months (Table). HbA_{1c} tests were outdated for 18% of men and 30% of women. Most men (90%) and most women (84%) had had an LDL cholesterol test within the previous 6 months; 8% of women and 10% of men had an outdated LDL cholesterol test. At least 1 retinal examination had been recorded in the past year for 62% of men and 56% of women; 18% of the men and 16% of the women had not had a retinal examination in the past year. Sixteen percent of men and 26% of women had an outdated retinal examination. No significant associations were found between sex and whether or not patients received any of these services within the designated time frame.

Men had a higher HbA_{1c} median than did women (Table). The median of appointments that men showed up for was 14.0, while for women the median was 23.5 (P < .001). Women had a higher median of cancelled or rescheduled appointments than men did (P < .001) and a higher median number of total appointment than men did (P < .001). Therefore, differences between use of appointments by men and women and their median HbA_{1c} values were significant (Table).

Discussion

This study found a difference in the control of diabetes as well as the use of medical appointments between men and women. Similar results were observed in studies by Bertakis et al, Legato et al, Grant et al, and Singh-Manoux et al (7,9-11). Each study suggested a difference between the prevalence of diseases, including diabetes, between men and women. Comparable to the findings of Shalev et al, the results of this study also found that women had more scheduled appointments than did men (4).

Men and women at Magnolia Family Medical Center were provided similar health care services and recommendations; such services included getting retinal examinations, complying with schedules for receiving laboratory tests, and showing up to their medical appointments. However, women had better control of their blood glucose levels. Thus, making sure both sex groups had up-to-date blood work and retinal examinations did not guarantee that both sex groups had similar diabetes control.

My study has a few strengths. For instance, the study solely focused on a population with a medical condition; thus, the study was specific. I did not collect the data; hence, no researcher-generated data-collection biases could affect the outcome. The study also had a long time frame of 1 year. Data were not collected from surveys, but rather through physician documents, laboratory reports, retinal examination reports, and scheduling reports. Thus, no biases could result from patient self-report or me.

This study also has limitations. The data collected were from a clinic; therefore, some outliers were found. Clinic providers had different data entry techniques; thus, some data may not have been collected. Because the data were collected through a computerized system that generated reports entered by people, data entry errors and other human errors limit the accuracy of the data. The study did not include data on the length of time that patients had had a diabetes diagnosis, and the findings are pertinent only to the population of patients with diabetes at Magnolia Family Medical

Center. Another limitation was the population size. The study examined data only for patients with type 2 diabetes who had hypertension or hyperlipidemia and who were taking similar medications. The study focused only on patients regularly seen by their primary care provider in Magnolia Family Medical Center. A bigger population size should be considered for future studies. The study was also biased toward recording appointments made with Magnolia Family Medical Center only. Other clinic appointments should be recorded for future studies.

Conclusions drawn from this observation are generalizable only to the population in the study. This study solely observed individuals with type 2 diabetes and focused on the population with diabetes at 1 clinic in Ventura County, California. The observations did not show an association between regular checkups and a decreased gap between proper diabetes care in both sex groups. Although the medical treatments of the men did not differ from those of the women, men had less control of their disease; thus, sex-specific medical treatments and health education should be investigated. Moreover, when treating men with type 2 diabetes, a care provider and health professional must stress the importance of controlling blood glucose levels and health care utilization. Further studies should also investigate what causes men to have less control of their blood glucose levels. For a generalizable study, factors such as medication adherence, types of insurance and coverage, the length of time since type 2 diabetes was diagnosed, age at which type 2 diabetes was diagnosed, and race/ethnicity should be included. Other extrinsic factors should be included because they may influence behaviors related to keeping appointments and compliance with medical treatments.

Overall, men were found to have lower rates of cancelling or rescheduling a medical appointment; however, they also had a lower rate of showing up to their appointments. Regardless of men and women having similar rates of getting their blood work and screening for retinal examinations, men were still found to have a significantly higher HbA_{1c} median compared with women. Therefore, even when both sex groups were provided similar health care services for diabetes, men still had less control of their diabetes. This study will contribute to improving care for diabetes patients and will encourage care managers to work closely with their patients.

Acknowledgments

I thank Stanley Patterson, MD, for permitting the use of live data collected by the QIR/SEED department of Magnolia Family Medical Center; Andrew Philip Gonzaga, of the QIR/SEED department, for collecting the data and assisting with interpretations; Tyler DeLaughder and the QIR/SEED department for collecting the data and sharing the methods used in collecting the data; Nhan Huynh for assistance with RStudio; Bret Holladay for guidance on statistical analyses; Redilyn Mesa for the support on editing and feedback; and Gina Piane, DrPH, and Brandon Eggleston, PhD, for guidance with the process of conducting the study. Lastly, I thank my parents, Marlyn and Redimar Mesa, for their love, support, and inspiration. This study had no funding.

Author Information

Marady Sabiaga Mesa, MPH, National University, 9388 Lightwave Ave, San Diego, CA 92123. Telephone: 805-256-4139. Email: maradymesa@gmail.com.

References

- 1. World Health Organization. Diabetes fact sheet. http:// www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs312/en/. Accessed February 26, 2018.
- 2. Olokoba AB, Obateru OA, Olokoba LB. Type 2 diabetes mellitus: a review of current trends. Oman Med J 2012; 27(4):269-73.
- American Diabetes Association. Standards of medical care in diabetes — 2017: summary of revisions. Diabetes Care 2017; 40(Suppl 1):S4–5.
- 4. Shalev V, Chodick G, Heymann AD, Kokia E. Gender differences in healthcare utilization and medical indicators among patients with diabetes. Public Health 2005;119(1):45–9.
- 5. Krämer HU, Raum E, Rüter G, Schöttker B, Rothenbacher D, Rosemann T, et al. Gender disparities in diabetes and coronary heart disease medication among patients with type 2 diabetes: results from the DIANA study. Cardiovasc Diabetol 2012; 11:88.
- 6. Vaidya V, Partha G, Karmakar M. Gender differences in utilization of preventive care services in the United States. J Womens Health (Larchmt) 2012;21(2):140–5.
- 7. Bertakis KD, Azari R, Helms LJ, Callahan EJ, Robbins JA. Gender differences in the utilization of health care services. J Fam Pract 2000;49(2):147–52.
- 8. US Census Bureau. Quick facts: Ventura County, California. https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/ venturacountycalifornia/PST045216. Accessed February 26, 2018.
- 9. Legato MJ, Gelzer A, Goland R, Ebner SA, Rajan S, Villagra V, et al. Gender-specific care of the patient with diabetes: review and recommendations. Gend Med 2006;3(2):131–58.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

- 10. Grant JF, Hicks N, Taylor AW, Chittleborough CR, Phillips PJ; North West Adelaide Health Study Team. Gender-specific epidemiology of diabetes: a representative cross-sectional study. Int J Equity Health 2009;8:6.
- 11. Singh-Manoux A, Guéguen A, Ferrie J, Shipley M, Martikainen P, Bonenfant S, et al. Gender differences in the association between morbidity and mortality among middleaged men and women. Am J Public Health 2008; 98(12):2251–7.

Table

Table. Use of Health Care Services Among 100 Patients With Diabetes Aged 45 Years or Older Regularly Seen at Magnolia Family Medical Center, Ventura County, California, January 1, 2015, to January 31, 2016

		S	ex	
Variable	Population	Male	Female	<i>P</i> Value ^a
HbA _{1c} value, median	7.2	7.4	6.8	<.001 ^a
Total no. of appointments, median	21.5	16.0	25.5	<.001 ^a
No. of appointments showed up for, median	18.5	14.0	23.5	<.001 ^a
No. of cancelled or rescheduled appointments, median	7.0	6.0	11.5	<.001 ^a
Had HbA _{1c} test within previous 6 months, n (%)				
Yes	73 (73)	38 (76)	35 (70)	
Not done	3 (3)	3 (6)	0	.99 ^b
No	24 (24)	9 (18)	15 (30)	
Had low-density lipoprotein cholesterol test within previous year, n (%)				
Yes	87 (87)	42 (84)	45 (90)	
Not done	4 (4)	3 (6)	1 (2)	.54 ^b
No	9 (9)	5 (10)	4 (8)	
Had retinal examination within previous year, n (%)				
Yes	59 (56)	31 (62)	28 (56)	
Not done	17 (17)	9 (18)	8 (16)	cab
Not applicable ^c	3 (3)	2 (4)	1 (2)	.03
No	21 (21)	8 (16)	13 (26)	

Abbreviation: HbA_{1c} , glycated hemoglobin A_{1c} .

^a Based on Wilcoxon signed-rank test where α = .05.

^b Based on Pearson χ^2 test of association where α = .05.

^c Patients not able to obtain a retinal examination because of blindness or surgery (which would mean the patient's care was being handled by an ophthalmologist and the patient would most likely have received a retinal examination).

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

Volume 15, E37

MARCH 2018

ORIGINAL RESEARCH

Education, Income, and Employment and Prevalence of Chronic Disease Among American Indian/Alaska Native Elders

Collette Adamsen, MPA¹; Shawnda Schroeder, PhD¹; Steven LeMire, PhD²; Paula Carter, PhD¹

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2018/17_0387.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Adamsen C, Schroeder S, LeMire S, Carter P. Education, Income, and Employment and Prevalence of Chronic Disease Among American Indian/Alaska Native Elders. Prev Chronic Dis 2018;15:170387. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd15.170387.

PEER REVIEWED

Abstract

Introduction

Chronic disease studies have omitted analyses of the American Indian/Alaska Native (AI/AN) population, relied on small samples of AI/ANs, or focused on a single disease among AI/ANs. We measured the influence of income, employment status, and education level on the prevalence of chronic disease among 14,632 AI/ AN elders from 2011 through 2014.

Methods

We conducted a national survey of AI/AN elders (\geq 55 y) to identify health and social needs. Using these data, we computed crosstabulations for each independent variable (annual personal income, employment status, education level), 2 covariates (age, sex), and presence of any chronic disease. We also compared differences in values and used a binary logistic regression model to control for age and sex.

Results

Most AI/AN elders (89.7%) had been diagnosed with at least one chronic disease. AI/AN elders were also more than twice as likely to have diabetes and more likely to have arthritis. AI/AN elders with middle-to-low income levels and who were unemployed were more likely to have a chronic disease than were high-income and employed AI/AN elders.

Conclusion

Addressing disparities in chronic disease prevalence requires focus on more than access to and cost of health care. Economic development and job creation for all age cohorts in tribal communities may decrease the prevalence of long-term chronic diseases and may improve the financial status of the tribe. An opportunity exists to address health disparities through social and economic equity among tribal populations.

Introduction

Chronic diseases are the leading causes of death and disability in the United States, and nearly half of adults are diagnosed with one or more chronic conditions (1). Many of these conditions are disproportionally prevalent among American Indian/Alaska Natives (AI/ANs) (2,3). The prevalence of chronic conditions among AI/ ANs results in low life expectancy (4,5), and AI/ANs are more likely than all other races in the United States to die of heart disease, diabetes, chronic lower respiratory disease, cirrhosis, stroke, pneumonia, kidney disease, and hypertension (4,6).

AI/ANs are more likely than their peers to be at risk for chronic disease as a result of income, education level, employment status, and health behaviors (7,8). One in 4 AI/ANs live in poverty, and tribal communities report the lowest employment rate nationally. The median annual personal income for AI/ANs is far below the national average (7,8). During 2001 and 2002, AI/AN elders (aged \geq 55 y) were at greater risk for chronic disease than their non-Hispanic white peers when social status and health behaviors were examined (9). However, the study with these findings relied on a small sample (3,5), was conducted before the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act and the US recession, and did not explore subgroups in the AI/AN elder population. Other national surveys on the prevalence and risk factors of chronic disease had a



small sample of AI/ANs, were disease-specific, omitted analyses of the AI/AN population, or had cell sizes that were too small to report (9–11).

The objective of this national analysis was to identify which social factors, if any, influence the prevalence of chronic diseases among AI/AN elders (aged \geq 55 y). We assessed the association of self-reported income, employment status, and education level on the prevalence of chronic disease among 14,632 AI/AN elders from 2011 through 2014.

Methods

The US Department of Health and Human Services' Administration for Community Living funds the National Resource Center on Native American Aging (NRCNAA). Data used in this study were taken from the NRCNAA's 2011–2014 Survey of Elders, which has been administered every 3 years since 2001.

Survey

NRCNAA faculty developed the paper survey to assist tribes, villages, and homesteads nationally in creating a record of the health and social needs of their elders. The results satisfy the requirement for Title VI Nutrition and Caregiving Grant under the Administration for Community Living. Self-reported data are collected every 3 years on general health status; activities of daily living; vision, hearing, and dental care screenings; health care access; tobacco and alcohol use; weight and nutrition; social support and housing; demographic characteristics; and social functioning. Survey measures mirror those of nationally administered questionnaires to allow for comparison to the US population (12). Data for this study were taken from Cycle V, which covers self-reported health status for AI/AN elders from 2011 through 2014. The University of North Dakota's institutional review board approved the survey and the proposed method of research; the Official Tribal Council for each participating tribe provided approval through a tribal resolution for the study.

The survey is administered via a Scantron form (Scantron Corporation) on which respondents fill in circles that correspond to the most appropriate responses. The survey also has several write-in responses that are input through image reader technology. Surveys are scanned in-house by NRCNAA staff. To build tribal capacity and improve trust among participants, trained members of the tribe administered the paper surveys to participating elders, reading the questions and filling in the corresponding answers on the form. These individuals were not paid by the NRCNAA directly, but many were employees of the Title VI program. The participating elders were allowed to skip questions they were not comfortable answering. Participating tribes returned all completed surveys to the NRCNAA research team.

All survey data are owned by the tribes. The NRCNAA houses the data, but staff report only in aggregate and under tribal approval. Tribal-specific reports are shared with Title VI directors, who then provide the data to members of the community and to community health groups (to include local public health units). NRCNAA staff and faculty (including authors) include both non-Natives and enrolled members of federally recognized tribes.

Study population

Tribes participating in the Title VI Nutrition and Caregiving Grant were recruited through the Title VI tribal directors, although we invited all tribes to participate. The 2011–2014 survey cycle included tribally affiliated elders aged 55 years or older. Participants represented all US regions, and 262 (of 566) federally recognized tribes. Within each tribe, researchers identified a simple random sample based on the total number of elders enrolled. The prestudy calculation of required sample size was determined by applying a formula to each tribe. The formula was applied to each of the 262 tribes independently to ensure that the sample obtained was representative of that tribe and not an aggregate representation of all participating tribes collectively. This method allowed results that were representative and generalizable to their population to be shared with each tribe and not to all participating tribes.

Individuals were included in the study if they were aged 55 years or older, an enrolled member of a federally recognized tribe, and eligible to accept services under the Title VI Nutrition and Caregiving Grants. The survey had a 68.5% response rate (14,632 of 21,361 respondents).

Measures

Independent variables were employment status (employed, unemployed/retired); education level (no education or less than a high school diploma, high school graduate, any education beyond high school); and annual personal income (<\$15,000 [low]; \$15,000–\$49,999 [middle]; \geq \$50,000 [high]). Income level was listed categorically in the survey instrument. We controlled for age (55–64 y, 65–74 y, \geq 75 y) and sex (male/female). The dependent variable was diagnosis of any chronic disease. Participants replied to the question, "Has a doctor ever told you that you had any of the following diseases (please mark all that apply)?" The presence of chronic disease was assessed with 10 conditions: arthritis, congestive heart failure, stroke, asthma, cataracts, high blood pressure, osteoporosis, depression, diabetes, and cancer. We included

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

cataracts in our analysis because literature on the elderly population more commonly refer to this vision impairment as a chronic condition, and the World Health Organization indicates it as a priority eye disease (13,14). Furthermore, diabetes is associated with the development of cataracts.

Statistical analysis

We used SPSS (IBM Corporation) to compute summary statistics to identify characteristics of the study population. To determine the prevalence of chronic disease, we created a binary variable to include respondents with at least one of the 10 identified chronic conditions and those without. We converted age from a ratio to a categorical variable, a method most commonly used in health research (15), and converted education level from a 0 to 17 scale to a 3-point scale. We determined the percentage of participants with and without chronic conditions within each category of the independent variables. We computed cross-tabulations for each independent variable and presence of any chronic disease and used a binary logistic regression model ($P \le .05$). In the regression model, researchers controlled for age (categorically), and sex (male/female).

Results

Respondents were mostly female (62.3%), unemployed/retired (69.4%), aged 55 to 64 years (40%), and middle income (56.1%) and had completed some education beyond high school (38.7%). Most AI/AN elders (89.7%) had been diagnosed with at least one of 10 chronic diseases; 69.8% had 2 or more chronic conditions, and 45.2% had 3 or more. The most common chronic diseases among AI/AN elders were high blood pressure (58.9%), diabetes (53.9%), and arthritis (47.2%) (Table 1).

The prevalence of having one or more chronic diseases was significantly higher among female (91.1%) than male (87.5%) elders; among elders aged 65 to 74 years and aged 75 years or older than those aged 55 to 64 years; among low-income and middle-income elders than high-income elders; among unemployed (92.4%) than employed (83.9%) elders; and among elders who had not completed high school than those with a high school diploma and those with education beyond high school (all $P \le .05$) (Table 2).

When we controlled for age and sex, middle-income AI/AN elders were 1.3 times as likely as high-income AI/AN elders to be diagnosed with one or more chronic diseases (Table 3). Employed AI/AN elders were less likely than unemployed AI/AN elders to

be diagnosed with one or more chronic diseases. When we controlled for age and sex, educational attainment did not have a significant influence on the likelihood that an AI/AN elder would be diagnosed with at least one chronic disease (Table 3).

Discussion

AI/AN elders have a higher prevalence of chronic disease than other races in the US population yet are largely overlooked in research and in proposed federal, social, and tribal interventions. We identified the influence of social variables on the health status of AI/AN elders and found that 89.7% of elders surveyed from 2011 through 2014 had at least one chronic disease. Comparatively, the National Council on Aging, using 2015 Medicaid and Medicare data, reported that 80% of older adults of all races had at least one chronic condition (16,17).

High blood pressure, diabetes, and arthritis were the 3 leading chronic conditions for AI/AN elders. The frequency of hypertension among AI/AN elders (58.9%) nearly mirrored the national average (58%) (16,17). However, other chronic conditions among AI/AN elders occurred at double the national average. Specifically, 54% of the AI/AN elders reported diabetes, compared with only 27% of the US population aged 65 years or older. Roughly 31% of all US adults aged 65 or older were diagnosed with arthritis in 2015, compared with 47.2% of AI/AN elders (16,17).

Federal, state, community, and tribal interventions and policies must explore the prevalence of chronic conditions by race, rather than solely examine general prevalence of chronic disease. Data for AI/AN elders and for the general US elder population identify the prevalence of similar chronic diseases, but special attention must be paid to AI/AN elders. The significant disparity among diseases (eg, diabetes) may also indicate that programs designed to reduce the prevalence of that disease among the general US elder population are not effective, are not reaching tribal populations, or both. As public health units become increasingly responsible for the prevention of chronic disease, these data may be used to develop interventions that are population-specific for each chronic condition.

We established the prevalence of chronic disease among AI/AN elders and then identified demographic categories with higher prevalence of chronic disease. As in national trends, female AI/AN elders were significantly more likely than male AI/AN elders to have a chronic condition (18–21). Approximately 91% of AI/AN female elders had at least one chronic disease, compared with 87.5% of AI/AN male elders. As age increased among elders, so did the likelihood of having a chronic condition, which mirrors national trends (21).

The prevalence of chronic disease among AI/ANs who were employed was significantly lower than for those who were unemployed; similarly, those with high income were less likely than middle-income and low-income elders to have a chronic condition. These trends were also reported by the National Center for Health Statistics for the general US population in 2013 (15). Cost of care is the most common reason patients with chronic conditions delay treatment or prevention (regardless of income or employment status) (22). Therefore, there is heightened concern for the AI/AN elder population, as most were unemployed and middle-income to low-income and less likely to then afford health care services both on and off of the reservation.

Although the Indian Health Service (IHS) provides care at reduced cost to AI/ANs on the reservation, access to that care is limited because IHS consistently is underfunded (23,24). During 2009 and 2010, Indian health expenditures per capita were one-third of the expenditures for Medicare, and they were lower per capita than those for veterans, Medicaid patients, and participants in the Federal Employees Health Benefits Program (25). AI/ANs also have high uninsured rates, making it more difficult to access care outside of IHS, especially for those who are low-income (23). These issues of access to affordable care likely contribute to the increased prevalence of chronic disease among AI/AN elders who are low-income and unemployed.

To prevent chronic diseases and improve the health status of those with chronic diseases, communities and programs can investigate job creation for AI/AN elders. Elders may also require resources like transportation and job training. Economic development and job creation for all age cohorts in tribal communities will benefit long-term chronic disease prevalence and can improve the financial status of the tribe.

Results also indicate a need to identify solutions that are focused more on population health than on access to or cost of care. Communities have developed programs that rely on collaboration between public health units, at-risk tribal populations, and local health care systems to address prevention and early detection services (26-29). As public health units take on a larger responsibility for population health, this data can and is being used to target population subgroups in the AI/AN population who have an increased prevalence of chronic conditions. Tribal public health units can identify subgroups (eg, women) that have a higher prevalence of certain chronic conditions and provide education and prevention that is specific to them (26). Likewise, as AI/ANs seek information, prevention, and treatment outside of IHS, local public health units need to recognize that AI/AN elders that use their services likely have multiple chronic conditions. Shaw et al discussed health literacy and the need for communities and public health units to understand the socioeconomic and cultural differences of at-risk populations (29). Programs exist that effectively incorporate cultural traditions in public and tribal health services (10,27,29,30). These models can improve the health of tribal communities and their elders.

This study has several limitations. First, the national definition of elderly is typically aged 65 or older. We assessed chronic disease among AI/AN elders aged 55 or older. This decision was in response to the lower average life expectancy of AI/ANs compared with that of the general US population. However, doing so made it difficult to compare AI/AN elders' prevalence of chronic disease to the prevalence of disease among all older people in the United States with any certainty. This limitation, however, provides a conservative measure of chronic disease among AI/ANs elders, recognizing that research indicates a higher prevalence among older cohorts. Omitting respondents aged 55 to 64 years would have resulted in higher prevalence rates for the AI/AN population.

The self-reported diagnosis of a chronic disease may also be problematic. There is risk of both underreporting and overreporting. Elders may not want to identify with a given disease or may have low health literacy and misunderstand or forget a diagnosis. Elders may also self-diagnose and indicate a chronic disease that has not been clinically diagnosed. Finally, the results addressed AI/ ANs as one collective people, although AI and AN populations experience vastly different health barriers, practice different traditions, and vary in some health outcomes. The decision to speak to the AI/AN elder population collectively was made to ensure a large enough sample to generalize for tribal populations and to have large enough cell sizes to conduct both a factor analysis and cross-tabulations. Future research may investigate the 2 populations independently to determine whether differences in the prevalence of chronic disease exist. In addition, the variable "employment" previously omitted a distinction between "retired" and "unemployed," limiting respondents to indicate only "yes, employed full-time"; "yes, employed part-time"; or not employed. Future cycles of the survey will now include "retired" and "unemployed" as separate categories, which will allow for more granularity in the discussion of chronic disease among people who are not employed.

We found a higher overall prevalence of chronic disease among AI/AN elders compared with the older US population and substantially higher rates of both diabetes and arthritis among AI/AN elders. Finally, we found that a significantly higher prevalence of chronic disease exists among AI/AN elders who are unemployed and middle-income or low-income. These findings call for economic and social interventions outside those typically related to access to care. These results may be used to develop public health and community programs and interventions at the tribal level dedicated to improving the health of AI/AN elders, especially those

with hypertension, arthritis, or diabetes, and those who are middleto low-income or unemployed. An opportunity exists to address health disparities through social and economic equity among tribal populations.

Acknowledgments

Support for this research was provided by the Administration of Community Living under grant no. 900I0008-03-00. The information, conclusions, and opinions expressed in this article are those of the authors, and no endorsement by the Administration of Community Living, the University of North Dakota, or the NRCNAA is intended or should be inferred.

Author Information

Corresponding Author: Shawnda Schroeder, PhD, The University of North Dakota, Center for Rural Health, School of Medicine & Health Sciences, 1301 N. Columbia Rd, Stop 9037, Grand Forks, ND 58202. Telephone: 701-777-0787. Email: Shawnda.schroeder@med.und.edu.

Author Affiliations: ¹The University of North Dakota, Center for Rural Health, School of Medicine & Health Sciences, Grand Forks, North Dakota. ²The University of North Dakota, College of Education & Human Development, Grand Forks, North Dakota.

References

- 1. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Chronic disease overview; 2012. https://www.cdc.gov/chronicdisease/ overview/. Accessed June 1, 2017.
- 2. Leavitt MO, McSwain RG, Church RM, Paisano EL. Indian Health Service regional differences in Indian health, 2002–2003 edition. Bethesda (MD): US Department of Health and Human Services, Indian Health Service; 2008.
- 3. James C, Schwartz K, Berndt J.A profile of American Indians and Alaska Natives and their health coverage [issue brief]. Race, ethnicity, and health care. The Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation; 2009. p. 1–13.
- 4. US Department of Health and Human Services, Indian Health Service. Indian health disparities; 2015. https://www.ihs.gov/ newsroom/index.cfm/factsheets/disparities/. Accessed May 15, 2017.
- 5. Espey DK, Jim MA, Cobb N, Bartholomew M, Becker T, Haverkamp D, et al. Leading causes of death and all-cause mortality in American Indians and Alaska Natives. Am J Public Health 2014;104(Suppl 3):S303–11.

- 6. Perry S, Foster J. Health reform: help for American Indians and Alaska Natives. Families USA Minority Health Initiatives; 2010. http://familiesusa.org/sites/default/files/product_ documents/Help-for-American-Indians.pdf. Accessed April 15, 2017.
- 7. US Census Bureau. American Community Survey, 2011–2015 data tables. https://www.census.gov/newsroom/press-releases/ 2017/acs-selected-population-tables-aian.html. Accessed July 14, 2017.
- 8. Pettit KLS, Kingsley GT, Biess J, Bertumen K, Pindus N, Narducci C, Budde A. Continuity and change: demographic, socioeconomic, and housing conditions of American Indians and Alaska Natives. US Department of Housing and Urban Development; 2014. p. 1–85.
- 9. Denny CH, Holtzman D, Goins RT, Croft JB. Disparities in chronic disease risk factors and health status between American Indian/Alaska Native and White elders: findings from a telephone survey, 2001 and 2002. Am J Public Health 2005;95(5):825–7.
- Galloway JM. Cardiovascular health among American Indians and Alaska Natives: successes, challenges, and potentials. Am J Prev Med 2005;29(5,Suppl 1):11–7.
- 11. Redwood DG, Lanier AP, Johnston JM, Asay ED, Slattery ML. Chronic disease risk factors among Alaska Native and American Indian people, Alaska, 2004–2006. Prev Chronic Dis 2010;7(4):A85.
- 12. Native American Resource Center on Native American Aging. Needs assessment, identifying our needs: a survey of elders. https://www.nrcnaa.org/needs-assessment. Accessed July 14, 2017.
- 13. Chi MJ, Lee CY, Wu SC. The prevalence of chronic conditions and medical expenditures of the elderly by chronic condition indicator (CCI). Arch Gerontol Geriatr 2011;52(3):284–9.
- 14. Prevention of blindness and visual impairment: priority eye diseases. World Health Organization; 2017. http://www.who.int/blindness/causes/priority/en/index1.html. Accessed August 23, 2017.
- 15. US Department of Health and Human Services, National Center for Health Statistics. National Health Interview Survey data tables, 2013. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhis/index.htm. Accessed July 6, 2017.
- 16. National Council on Aging. Top 10 chronic conditions in adults 65+ and what you can do to prevent or manage them. https://www.ncoa.org/wp-content/uploads/10-Common-Chronic-Conditions-Older-Adults-ncoa.png. Accessed June 28, 2017.

- 17. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. 2015 Chronic conditions prevalence state/county data tables; 2015. https:// www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/ Statistics-Trends-and-Reports/Chronic-Conditions/CC_ Main.html. Accessed July 10, 2017.
- Ward BW, Schiller JS. Prevalence of multiple chronic conditions among US adults: estimates from the National Health Interview Survey, 2010. Prev Chronic Dis 2013; 10:120203.
- 19. Kuri-Morales P, Emberson J, Alegre-Díaz J, Tapia-Conyer R, Collins R, Peto R, et al. The prevalence of chronic diseases and major disease risk factors at different ages among 150,000 men and women living in Mexico City: cross-sectional analyses of a prospective study. BMC Public Health 2009;9(9):9.
- 20. Gerteis J, Izrael D, Deitz D, et al.Multiple chronic conditions chartbook. Publication no. Q14-0038. Rockville (MD): Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality; April 2014.
- 21. Freid VM, Bernstein AB, Bush MA. Multiple chronic conditions among adults aged 45 and over: trends over the past 10 years. NCHS data brief, no. 100. Hyattsville (MD): National Center for Health Statistics; 2012.
- 22. Ward BW. Barriers to health care for adults with multiple chronic conditions: United States, 2012–2015. NCHS data brief, no. 275. Hyattsville (MD): National Center for Health Statistics; 2017. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/products/databriefs/ db275.htm. Accessed March 27, 2017.
- 23. Warne D, Frizzell LB. American Indian health policy: historical trends and contemporary issues. Am J Public Health 2014;104(Suppl 3):S263–7.
- 24. US Commission of Civil Rights. A quiet crisis: federal funding and unmet need in Indian country. Washington (DC): US Commission on Civil Rights; 2003. p. 35-49.
- 25. National Tribal Budget Formulation Workgroup. National tribal recommendation for the Indian Health Service: fiscal year 2013 budget. Washington (DC): US Department of Health and Human Services; 2011.
- 26. Bauer UE, Briss PA, Goodman RA, Bowman BA. Prevention of chronic disease in the 21st century: elimination of the leading preventable causes of premature death and disability in the USA. Lancet 2014;384(9937):45–52.
- 27. Gittelsohn J, Rowan M. Preventing diabetes and obesity in American Indian communities: the potential of environmental interventions. Am J Clin Nutr 2011;93(5):11798–83S.
- 28. Bodenheimer T, Chen E, Bennett HD. Confronting the growing burden of chronic disease: can the U.S. health care workforce do the job? Health Aff (Millwood) 2009; 28(1):64-74.
- 29. Shaw SJ, Huebner C, Armin J, Orzech K, Vivian J. The role of culture in health literacy and chronic disease screening and management. J Immigr Minor Health 2009;11(6):460–7.

30. Jernigan VB. Community-based participatory research with Native American communities: the chronic disease selfmanagement program. Health Promot Pract 2010; 11(6):888-99.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

Tables

Table 1. Percentage of American Indian/Alaska Native (Al/AN) Elders With Diagnosed Chronic Disease (N = 14,632), by Demographic Category, Survey of Elders, 2011–2014

Demographic Characteristic	HBP	Diabetes	Arthritis	Cataracts	Depression	Asthma	Osteoporosis	Cancer	CHF	Stroke
Overall	58.9	53.9	47.2	22.5	15.0	13.7	10.8	9.0	8.9	7.7
Sex ^a										
Male	59.6	52.9	40.0	19.1	11.4	9.4	3.9	10.0	10.1	8.3
Female	58.6	54.6	51.5	24.5	17.1	16.3	14.9	8.3	8.2	7.3
Age, y ^a										
55-64	54.5	49.7	43.0	12.5	17.4	14.8	8.7	6.4	5.7	5.5
65-74	61.3	57.3	48.4	24.3	13.9	13.7	10.9	9.4	9	8.2
≥75	62.8	55.9	52.5	36.4	12.5	11.6	13.9	12.6	14.2	10.7
Annual personal income, \$ ^a										
<15,000 (Low)	58.3	57.5	49.6	21.7	16.2	14.6	11.2	7.8	8.7	8.6
15,000-49,999 (Middle)	59.8	53.3	46.6	23.0	14.4	13.5	10.7	9.5	9.3	7.5
≥50,000 (High)	55.3	44.8	37.5	18.6	11.4	11.1	9.5	10.7	6.1	3.6
Employment status ^a										
Unemployed or retired	61.9	57.3	51.7	26.6	17.0	14.5	12.5	10.2	10.9	9.5
Employed	53.1	47.1	36.6	13.3	10.4	12.0	6.6	6.4	4.5	3.5
Education level ^a										
Less than a high school diploma	62.2	57.1	52.2	27.5	15.4	14.1	10.9	8.7	11.1	9.5
High school graduate	58.8	52.7	45.8	20.5	13.3	11.7	9.7	8.2	8.3	7.4
Education beyond high school	56.6	52.7	44.8	20.7	16.2	15.0	11.6	9.8	8.0	6.7

Abbreviations: CHF, congestive heart failure; HBP, high blood pressure.

^a Significant at $P \leq .05$.

Table 2. Demographic Characteristics of American Indian/Alaska Native Elders With and Without a Diagnosed Chronic Disease (N = 14,632), Survey of Elders, 2011–2014

	With Chronic Disease (n = 13,123 ^a)	No Chronic Disease (n = 1,509 ^a)			
Demographic Characteristic	% (No.)				
Sex					
Male	87.5 (4,768)	12.5 (681)			
Female	91.1 (8,212)	8.9 (807)			
Age, y					
55-64	85.5 (5,003)	14.5 (848)			
65-74	91.6 (4,849)	8.4 (445)			
≥75	93.8 (3,271)	6.2 (216)			
Annual personal income, \$					
<15,000 (Low)	90.6 (4,392)	9.4 (455)			
15,000-49,999 (Middle)	90.0 (6,655)	10.0 (737)			
≥50,000 (High)	84.6 (794)	15.4 (144)			
Employment status					
Employed	83.9 (3,459)	16.1 (666)			
Unemployed or retired	92.4 (8,623)	7.6 (712)			
Education level					
Less than a high school diploma	92.2 (3,787)	7.8 (319)			
High school graduate	88.8 (4,192)	11.2 (529)			
Education beyond high school	88.7 (4,942)	11.3 (630)			

^a Subcategorical totals may not sum to values for n because of missing data. Percentages for each subcategory omit missing data.

Table 3. Binary Logistic Regression Models for Presence of Chronic Disease Among American Indian/Alaska Native Elders (N = 14,632), by Income, Employment Status, and Education Levels, Controlling for Age and Sex, Survey of Elders, 2011–2014

Variable	B (Standard Error)	Wald χ^2	<i>P</i> Value ^a	Exp(B)		
Income, \$						
≥50,000 (High) ^b	_	11.90	.003	-		
15,000-49,999 (Middle)	0.261 (0.105)	6.18	.01	1.298		
<15,000 (Low)	0.060 (0.117)	0.27	.60	1.062		
Education						
Education beyond high school ^b	_	7.18	.03	_		
High school graduate	-0.088 (0.072)	1.49	.22	0.916		
Less than a high school diploma	0.143 (0.087)	2.72	.10	1.154		
Employed	-0.715 (0.071)	100.29	<.001	0.489		
Age, y						
≥75 ^b	_	49.69	<.001	-		
65-74	-0.157 (0.101)	2.44	.12	0.854		
55-64	-0.568 (0.098)	33.57	<.001	0.566		
Female sex	0.449 (0.062)	51.87	<.001	1.566		

 a P values calculated using Wald χ^2 test.

^b Reference group; cells with a dash indicate that the value was not calculated.

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

Volume 15, E82

JUNE 2018

ORIGINAL RESEARCH

Falls and Fall-Related Injuries Among US Adults Aged 65 or Older With Chronic Kidney Disease

Brandon M. Kistler, PhD, RD¹; Jagdish Khubchandani, MBBS, PhD¹; Gina Jakubowicz, MS, RDN¹; Kenneth Wilund, PhD²; Jacob Sosnoff, PhD²

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2018/17_0518.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Kistler BM, Khubchandani J, Jakubowicz G, Wilund K, Sosnoff J. Falls and Fall-Related Injuries Among US Adults Aged 65 or Older With Chronic Kidney Disease. Prev Chronic Dis 2018;15:170518. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd15.170518.

PEER REVIEWED

Abstract

Introduction

Falls are among the leading causes of injury and death among adults aged 65 or older. People with chronic kidney disease (CKD) are at increased risk of falling and of having a serious injury from falls. However, information is limited about risk factors for falls and fall-related injuries among people with CKD.

Methods

We performed a secondary analysis of 157,753 adults (6.1% with CKD) aged 65 or older surveyed in the 2014 Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System.

Results

People with CKD were at increased risk of falls (odds ratio [OR] = 1.81; 95% confidence interval [CI], 1.63–2.01) and fall-related injuries (OR = 1.50; 95% CI, 1.27–1.78) even after adjusting for differences in demographic characteristics, health conditions, and lifestyle factors (P < .05 for all). Among people with CKD, women, people diagnosed with diabetes, diabetes duration, and arthritis were all significant predictors of falls and fall-related injuries (P < .05 for all). Lifestyle factors, such as engaging in recent exercise (adjusted odds ratio [AOR] = 0.68; 95% CI, 0.56–0.81) and

limited physical function (assessed as difficulty in climbing stairs) (AOR = 2.84; 95% CI, 2.30-3.44), were most closely associated with falls and fall-related injuries.

Conclusion

Adults aged 65 or older with CKD were at increased risk of falling and of suffering an injury as a result of a fall compared with adults in the same age range without CKD. Potentially modifiable factors such as physical function and recent exercise were most closely related to reduced risk for falls and fall-related injuries and may be an appropriate target for fall prevention and rehabilitation programs in people with CKD.

Introduction

Falls are among the leading causes of injury and death among US adults aged 65 or older (1). Nearly one-third of adults in this age group report a fall every year (2), and the annual cost of falls in the United States is approximately \$31 billion (3). Numerous risk factors for falls have been identified, including frailty and chronic diseases (4).

Chronic kidney disease (CKD) is common among adults aged 65 and older with an estimated prevalence of 14.8% in the US population (5). People with CKD in this age group have a greater risk of falling than those without CKD (4). Furthermore, poor kidney function is a risk factor for falling (6) and for poor outcomes from falls, such as fractures (7). People with CKD may be more likely to fall and to experience a serious injury from falls; however, information is limited on the prevalence and predictors of falls in adults aged 65 or older with CKD (8).

Previous studies have identified age, sex, frailty, and diabetes as risk factors for unintentional falls (8). However, published data have limitations. For example, previous studies primarily used convenience samples from small clinics or health care facilities, assessed falls without exploring fall-related injuries, and often did



not focus on older adults. Thus, these studies provided limited assessments of health, lifestyle, and demographic factors that may influence prevalence of falls or CKD. The limited samples in these previous studies, although providing valuable information, have led to conflicting results in relation to many risk factors. For example, some studies of people with CKD found that men were at increased risk of falling (9), whereas others found that women were more likely to fall (10,11). Thus, the purpose of this study was to assess the prevalence of CKD and falls in a large national sample of US adults aged 65 or older and to explore the association between falls, CKD, health risk factors, and demographic characteristics.

Methods

Study design and participants

We conducted a secondary analysis of data from the 2014 Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS). BRFSS is conducted annually by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) to measure behavioral and health risk factors and diseases in US adults. BRFSS is a telephone survey that uses random-digit dialing to randomly select civilian noninstitutionalized adults aged 18 or older. In 2014, BRFSS data were collected from adults across all 50 states and the District of Columbia. BRFSS uses a complex multistage sampling procedure and design weights to adjust for the unequal probability of being selected, for noncoverage, and for nonresponses. This is to ensure the creation of equal population estimates for each geographic region. The combined landline and cellular telephone median weighted response rate was 47.0% (landline telephones, 48.7%; cellular telephones, 40.5%). The BRFSS questionnaire consists of 3 parts: 1) core questions, which are a standard set of questions that all participating states and territories must administer; 2) optional modules; and 3) stateadded questions, that is, questions on specific topics that states can choose to include in response to state-specific health concerns. Additional details about BRFSS survey methods, sampling, and response rates are available (12). Because BRFSS is approved by CDC's institutional review board (IRB) and because our study used de-identified publicly available data, did not recruit human subjects, and had no direct contact with study participants, no additional approval was required from the authors' IRBs.

Measures

Demographic characteristics and chronic kidney disease. We included all adults aged 65 or older who participated in the 2014 BRFSS (N = 157,753). BRFSS also collected data on participants' sex, race, marital status, employment, and education through structured and closed-format questions; we used these demographic variables for our analysis. BRFSS 2014 asked respondents

about history of diagnosis of various chronic conditions including CKD with response options of yes, no, or don't know. The CKD diagnosis question was, "Has a doctor, nurse, or other health professional ever told you that you have kidney disease (excluding kidney stone, bladder infection, or incontinence)?" (12). Respondents were categorized into 2 groups based on a history of CKD to assess differences in demographic characteristics and lifestyle factors (ie, CKD group vs non-CKD group).

Health, lifestyle, and disease conditions. Study participants were asked if they had ever been diagnosed with arthritis, diabetes, or cancer (with response options of yes, no, or don't know). Response options to questions on current smoking, heavy drinking, difficulty walking, and health coverage were yes or no. Body mass index (BMI) (weight in kg/height in m²) was computed on the basis of self-reported height and weight. A single item assessed participants' current general health (with response options of excellent, very good, good, fair, and poor) (12). For prevalence of falls and fall-related injuries, the 2014 BRFSS asked 2 questions: 1) In the past 12 months, how many times have you fallen and 2) how many of these falls caused an injury. The responses were categorized as no for 0 events and yes for 1 or more falls or fall-related injury events (12). CKD and non-CKD groups were compared for differences in these health and disease variables.

Data analysis

We first computed descriptive statistics (eg, percentages, frequencies) for all study variables and measures (ie, demographics, lifestyle behaviors, and chronic conditions). Using χ^2 tests we explored the differences in these variables between respondents with a history of CKD versus those without. Second, we used the binary variable history of CKD (yes vs no) as an independent variable to predict the odds of falls and fall-related injuries. In multivariate logistic regression analysis, falls and fall-related injuries were used as an outcome, with CKD as a predictor, and we computed adjusted odds for falls and fall-related injuries after adjusting for demographic characteristics of study participants, their lifestyle and health behaviors, and history of comorbid conditions that may be associated with falls or CKD. All analyses were performed by using the complex sample survey data analysis procedures in SPSS version 24 (IBM Corp). Statistical significance was set a priori at P < .05.

Results

Most study participants were white (79%), female (56%), retired (72%), and married or living with a partner (56%). Slightly more than a quarter of the participants were obese (28%), reported difficulty in walking (27%), and had poor or fair health (26%). In relation to falls, almost a third of participants (29%) had a fall in the

past 12 months, and 10% had a serious injury resulting from the fall. Less than a tenth of participants reported a history of CKD (6.1%). A comparison of adults aged 65 or older with and without CKD revealed differences based on demographic characteristics, lifestyle behaviors, and comorbid conditions between adults with and without CKD (Table 1).

In a logistic regression analysis (Table 2), we found that people with CKD were more likely to report having falls (OR = 1.81; 95% CI, 1.63–2.01), even after adjusting for demographics, lifestyle behaviors, and comorbid conditions (adjusted odds ratio [AOR] = 1.26; 95% CI, 1.13–1.47). Moreover, 37.4% of those who fell had a fall-related injury, with injuries occurring more frequently among people with CKD (OR = 1.50; 95% CI, 1.27–1.78), even after adjusting for demographic characteristics, lifestyle behaviors, and comorbid conditions (AOR = 1.23; 95% CI, 1.04–1.40).

Among patients with CKD, men were significantly less likely than women to fall (AOR = 0.79; 95% CI, 0.65–0.93) and have fall-related injuries (AOR = 0.59; 95% CI, 0.44–0.80), after adjusting for race and age (Table 3). Having a diagnosis of diabetes was associated with an increased likelihood of falling (AOR = 1.25; 95% CI, 1.02-1.53), and the length of time since diabetes diagnosis was associated with both falls and fall-related injuries. People with CKD and arthritis were more likely to fall (AOR = 1.79; 95% CI, 1.46-2.20) and have fall-related injuries (AOR = 1.54; 95% CI, 1.06-2.24), whereas people with cancer were more likely to have a fall-related injury only (AOR = 1.50; 95% CI, 1.04-2.15). Lifestyle factors such as engaging in recent exercise (AOR = 0.68; 95% CI, 0.56-0.81) and limited physical function (assessed as difficulty in climbing stairs) (AOR = 2.84; 95% CI, 2.30-3.44) were most strongly associated with both falls and fall-related injuries.

Discussion

We used secondary data from the 2014 BRFSS to study the relationship between falls in noninstitutionalized adults with and without CKD. After accounting for multiple demographic characteristics, lifestyle factors, and chronic disorders, people with CKD aged 65 and older had a higher prevalence of falls and fall-related injuries than those without CKD. Among people with CKD, multiple lifestyle factors (eg, not currently engaging in physical activity, difficulty climbing stairs) and comorbid conditions (diabetes, diabetes duration, cancer, and arthritis) were found to significantly influence the probability of falls and fall-related injuries. Factors related to exercise and physical function were most closely related to falls and fall-related injuries, suggesting that these may be potential targets of fall-prevention strategies in older adults with CKD. Our findings are consistent with previous reports that found that patients with CKD (4) and those who have advanced to end-stage kidney disease (ESKD) (10,11,13) are at increased risk of falling. Numerous physiological changes associated with CKD, such as uremic neuropathy and muscle wasting and weakness may explain the increased risk of falling. Furthermore, changes in bone and mineral metabolism leading to weak, brittle bones may lead to an increased propensity for fall-related injuries in people with CKD, especially those with ESKD (12). The increased risk of falls and fall-related injuries is a significant finding because of its strong relationship with poor clinical outcomes (13,14).

Previous studies of people with CKD identified numerous risk factors for falls, including age, sex, body weight, and education (8). However, these studies were primarily of small prospective cohorts and produced conflicting results in relation to some risk factors, such as sex. In our study, we used a large sample of US adults aged 65 and older and found that women with CKD were more likely than men to fall or have a fall-related injury. This is similar to the overall population of adults in the age group from BRFSS in which women were also found to be at greater risk of both falls and fall-related injuries than men (1). Furthermore, we did not find some previously identified demographic factors, such as BMI and education, to be significant predictors of falls in our study sample.

Previous studies also identified diabetes, a leading cause of CKD, as a risk factor for falls among people with CKD (14). Peripheral diabetic neuropathy is a common complication associated with poor glycemic control and can lead to balance and gait impairment, especially in activities such as walking, climbing, and descending stairs. (15). We previously reported greater gait impairments in CKD patients undergoing hemodialysis who also had diabetes compared with those who did not have diabetes (16). Despite these observations, previous studies of fall risk have not accounted for the duration of diabetes. In our study, we found that people with CKD aged 65 or older who were diagnosed with diabetes before age 65, and therefore would have likely lived with diabetes for longer than those diagnosed after 65, were more likely to suffer a fall or fall-related injury. This finding suggests that, similar to the non-CKD populations (17), the physiological changes associated with diabetes that lead to increased injury risk may take time to manifest and that early prevention and management of diabetes may reduce the risk of falls and fall-related injuries in older adults.

Although not as common as diabetes, cancer and arthritis increase fall risk in the general population and are common chronic disorders among people with CKD (4,18,19). In our study, we found

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

that among people aged 65 and older, having cancer and CKD did not increase the risk of falling but did increase the likelihood of suffering a fall-related injury. This increase in injury risk may be due in part to the effect of cancer treatments on bone strength (20).

Factors related to poor health, reduced physical functioning, and chronic diseases had the largest influence on the probability of both falls and fall-related injuries. For example, a diagnosis of arthritis was associated with an increased likelihood of having both a fall and a fall-related injury. Frailty, a condition consisting of fatigue, weakness, and reduced physical activity, is a strong predictor of falls in both the elderly population and in people with CKD who have advanced to ESKD (9). A common strategy to prevent falls is improving strength and balance. We found that difficulty climbing stairs, a task that requires strength and balance (21), was most closely related to falls and fall-related injuries among people with CKD. Furthermore, the absence of exercise in the past month was also a strong predictor of falls and fall-related injuries. Physical function and exercise are potentially modifiable, cost effective, and evidence-based strategies available to enhance mobility. Our study suggests that as in other populations, exercise programs that target strength and balance may be an effective strategy for preventing falls and fall-related injuries among people with CKD, but prospective trials are needed (22).

Our study has several limitations. First, the BRFSS questionnaire relies on self-reported health and lifestyle factors. Self-reporting may have limitations such as recall bias, social desirability, and over- or underestimation of health-related variables. Second, this study was cross-sectional, and we cannot establish cause and effect relationships between variables. Third, BRFSS is a closedformat survey, limiting internal validity. Also, few BRFSS items measured CKD and falls, resulting in improper estimation of the nature and extent of CKD and falls. Finally, CKD is a complex phenomenon with a multitude of influences on disease causation and prognosis. Variables that may influence CKD outcome or progression were not captured (eg, diet and nutritional status). People with CKD may not always be available to answer questionnaires such as BRFSS (eg, because of cognitive disabilities or hospitalization), limiting the external validity of our results and the ability to generalize our findings to all elderly adults with CKD. Despite these limitations, our study has several strengths. To our knowledge, this is the largest survey to examine risk factors for falls and fall-related injuries among people aged 65 and older with CKD. Furthermore, this study analyzed several demographic factors and lifestyle behaviors, which adds to the body of knowledge pertaining to CKD and falls in older adults.

The results of our study show that people with CKD have a higher likelihood of falling and having fall-related injuries. However, potentially modifiable factors such as recent exercise and difficulty climbing stairs were most closely related to falls and fall-related injuries. These findings suggest that among elderly people with CKD, as among other elderly populations at risk for falls, poor physical function and balance may be appropriate targets of multifactorial fall-prevention strategies.

Acknowledgments

This research received no funding from any funding agency in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors. No copyrighted material, surveys, instruments, or tools were used in this study. The authors have no conflicts of interest.

Author Information

Corresponding Author: Brandon M. Kistler, PhD, RD, Assistant Professor, Department of Nutrition and Health Science, 2000 W University Ave, Ball State University, Muncie, IN 47304. Telephone: 765-285-5959. Email: bmkistler@bsu.edu.

Author Affiliations: ¹Department of Nutrition and Health Science, Ball State University, Muncie, Indiana. ²Department of Kinesiology and Community Health, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, Urbana, Illinois.

References

- 1. Bergen G, Stevens MR, Burns ER. Falls and fall injuries among adults aged ≥65 years — United States, 2014. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2016;65(37):993–8.
- 2. Tinetti ME, Speechley M, Ginter SF. Risk factors for falls among elderly persons living in the community. N Engl J Med 1988;319(26):1701–7.
- 3. Burns ER, Stevens JA, Lee R. The direct costs of fatal and non-fatal falls among older adults United States. J Safety Res 2016;58:99–103.
- 4. Paliwal Y, Slattum PW, Ratliff SM. Chronic health conditions as a risk factor for falls among the community-dwelling US older adults: a zero-inflated regression modeling approach. BioMed Res Int 2017;2017:5146378.
- 5. United States Renal Data System. 2016 USRDS annual data report: Epidemiology of kidney disease in the United States. Bethesda (MD): National Institutes of Health, National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases; 2016.
- 6. Dukas LC, Schacht E, Mazor Z, Stähelin HB. A new significant and independent risk factor for falls in elderly men and women: a low creatinine clearance of less than 65 ml/min. Osteoporos Int 2005;16(3):332–8.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

- 7. Dukas L, Schacht E, Stähelin HB. In elderly men and women treated for osteoporosis a low creatinine clearance of <65 ml/ min is a risk factor for falls and fractures. Osteoporos Int 2005; 16(12):1683–90.
- 8. López-Soto PJ, De Giorgi A, Senno E, Tiseo R, Ferraresi A, Canella C, et al. Renal disease and accidental falls: a review of published evidence. BMC Nephrol 2015;16(1):176.
- Cook WL, Tomlinson G, Donaldson M, Markowitz SN, Naglie G, Sobolev B, et al. Falls and fall-related injuries in older dialysis patients. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2006;1(6):1197–204.
- 10. McAdams-DeMarco MA, Suresh S, Law A, Salter ML, Gimenez LF, Jaar BG, et al. Frailty and falls among adult patients undergoing chronic hemodialysis: a prospective cohort study. BMC Nephrol 2013;14(1):224.
- Abdel-Rahman EM, Yan G, Turgut F, Balogun RA. Long-term morbidity and mortality related to falls in hemodialysis patients: role of age and gender — a pilot study. Nephron Clin Pract 2011;118(3):c278–84.
- 12. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2014 BRFSS survey data and documentation; 2015. https://www.cdc.gov/ brfss/annual_data/annual_2014.html. Accessed May 22, 2017.
- 13. Rossier A, Pruijm M, Hannane D, Burnier M, Teta D. Incidence, complications and risk factors for severe falls in patients on maintenance haemodialysis. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2012;27(1):352–7.
- 14. Bowling CB, Bromfield SG, Colantonio LD, Gutiérrez OM, Shimbo D, Reynolds K, et al. Association of reduced eGFR and albuminuria with serious fall injuries among older adults. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2016;11(7):1236–43.
- Brown SJ, Handsaker JC, Bowling FL, Boulton AJM, Reeves ND. Diabetic peripheral neuropathy compromises balance during daily activities. Diabetes Care 2015;38(6):1116–22.
- 16. Shin S, Chung HR, Kistler BM, Fitschen PJ, Wilund KR, Sosnoff JJ. Effect of muscle strength on gait in hemodialysis patients with and without diabetes. Int J Rehabil Res 2014; 37(1):29–33.
- 17. Majumdar SR, Leslie WD, Lix LM, Morin SN, Johansson H, Oden A, et al. Longer duration of diabetes strongly impacts fracture risk assessment: the Manitoba BMD Cohort. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2016;101(11):4489–96.
- Wong G, Hayen A, Chapman JR, Webster AC, Wang JJ, Mitchell P, et al. Association of CKD and cancer risk in older people. J Am Soc Nephrol 2009;20(6):1341–50.
- 19. Barbour KE, Stevens JA, Helmick CG, Luo YH, Murphy LB, Hootman JM, et al.; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Falls and fall injuries among adults with arthritis — United States, 2012. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2014;63(17):379–83.

- 20. Baxter NN, Habermann EB, Tepper JE, Durham SB, Virnig BA. Risk of pelvic fractures in older women following pelvic irradiation. JAMA 2005;294(20):2587–93.
- 21. Bennell K, Dobson F, Hinman R. Measures of physical performance assessments: Self-Paced Walk Test (SPWT), Stair Climb Test (SCT), Six-Minute Walk Test (6MWT), Chair Stand Test (CST), Timed Up & Go (TUG), Sock Test, Lift and Carry Test (LCT), and Car Task. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken) 2011;63(Suppl 11):S350–70.
- 22. El-Khoury F, Cassou B, Charles MA, Dargent-Molina P. The effect of fall prevention exercise programmes on fall induced injuries in community dwelling older adults: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. BMJ 2013; 347:f6234.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

Tables

Table 1. Participant (N = 157,753) Characteristics, Study of Falls and Fall-Related Injuries Among US Adults Aged 65 or Older With Chronic Kidney Disease (CKD), Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, 2014^a

Variable	Total, N (%)	CKD, N (%), 9,116	No CKD, N (%), 147,893
Demograph	ic Characteristics		
Sex			
Male	59,746 (44)	3,547 (45)	55,924 (44)
Female	98,007 (56)	5,569 (55)	91,969 (56)
Race ^b			
White	132,276 (79)	7,431 (75)	124,845 (79)
African-American	9,323 (9)	699 (12)	8,624 (9)
Other	3,957 (4)	254 (4)	3,703 (3)
Multiracial	2,129 (1)	167 (1)	1,962 (1)
Hispanic	6,583 (8)	406 (8)	6,177 (8)
Marital status ^b			
Married/ living with a partner	76,769 (56)	4,065 (52)	72,433 (56)
Separated/divorced	23,031 (14)	1,430 (15)	21,475 (13)
Widowed	49,687 (27)	3,154 (31)	46,236 (26)
Never married	7,212 (4)	419 (3)	6,750 (4)
Employment ^b			
Employed for wages	15,544 (10)	501 (5)	15,043 (10)
Self-employed	8,707 (5)	316 (3)	8,391 (5)
Retired	112,707 (72)	6,695 (74)	106,012 (72)
Other (unable to work, out of work, student, homemaker)	18,567 (13)	1,535 (18)	17,032 (13)
Education ^b			
≤High school graduate	65,267 (48)	4,005 (50)	61,262 (48)
>High school but <college graduate<="" td=""><td>40,050 (28)</td><td>2,445 (30)</td><td>37,605 (28)</td></college>	40,050 (28)	2,445 (30)	37,605 (28)
≥College graduate	50,533 (23)	2,601 (19)	47,932 (24)
Physical Function, H	ealth, and Lifestyle Fa	actors	
General health ^b			
Excellent	20,506 (12)	335 (4)	20,143 (13)
Very good	47,064 (28)	1,353 (14)	45,587 (29)
Good	51,967 (33)	2,835 (31)	48,881 (33)
Fair	26,449 (18)	2,654 (31)	23,609 (17)
Poor	10,972 (8)	1,895 (20)	8,940 (7)
Access to health care			
Yes	154,846 (98)	8,976 (98)	145,870 (99)

^a Not all BRFSS respondents answered the question about CKD. Percentages may not total 100% because of missing values. Percentages are rounded to the nearest whole number.

^b Significant differences between groups (P < .05).

(continued on next page)

(continued)

Table 1. Participant (N = 157,753) Characteristics, Study of Falls and Fall-Related Injuries Among US Adults Aged 65 or Older With Chronic Kidney Disease (CKD), Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, 2014^a

Variable	Total, N (%)	CKD, N (%), 9,116	No CKD, N (%), 147,893
No	1,789 (2)	124 (2)	1,665 (1)
Current smoker	12,736 (9)	650 (7)	12,086 (9)
Heavy drinker (men >2 drinks/day; women >1 drink/day)	5,900 (4)	219 (3)	5,681 (4)
Difficulty walking/climbing stairs ^b	40,615 (27)	4,471 (52)	36,198 (26)
Engaged in any exercise in past month ^b	108,953 (69)	5,189 (56)	103,764 (69)
Obese (BMI ≥30) ^b	39,566 (28)	3,162 (38)	36,404 (27)
Chronic conditions in addition to CKD (ever diagnosed)			
Diabetes ^b	32,429 (23)	3,591 (43)	28,838 (22)
Cancer	27,133 (17)	2,441 (29)	24,692 (16)
Arthritis ^b	84,017 (53)	6,344 (72)	77,673 (52)
Had ≥1 falls in past year ^b	43,885 (29)	3,529 (41)	40,356 (28)
Had fall-related injury in past year ^b	16,062 (10)	1,566 (16)	14,496 (10)

^a Not all BRFSS respondents answered the question about CKD. Percentages may not total 100% because of missing values. Percentages are rounded to the nearest whole number.

^b Significant differences between groups (P < .05).

Table 2. Probability of Falls and Fall-Related Injuries, Among US Adults (N = 157,753) Aged 65 or Older With Chronic Kidney Disease (CKD) (N = 9,116) and Without CKD (N = 147,893), Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, 2014^a

Predictors	OR (95% CI) Falls	OR (95% CI) Fall-Related Injury
Model 1. Compares CKD group vs non-CKD group	1.81 (1.63-2.01) ^b	1.50 (1.27-1.78) ^b
Model 2. Comparison in Model 1 adjusted for demographic characteristics from Table 1	1.75 (1.58-1.94) ^b	1.46 (1.24-1.72) ^b
Model 3. Comparison in Model 1 adjusted for physical function, health, and lifestyle factors from Table 1	1.36 (1.21-1.53) ^c	1.26 (1.08-1.44) ^c
Model 4. Comparison in Model 1 adjusted for chronic conditions from Table 1	1.53 (1.38-1.70) ^b	1.42 (1.20-1.69) ^b
Model 5. Comparison in Model 1 adjusted for demographic characteristics and physical function, health, and lifestyle characteristics from Table 1	1.32 (1.18-1.48) ^c	1.25 (1.06-1.49) ^c
Model 6. Comparison in Model 1 adjusted for demographic, physical function, health/lifestyle characteristics and chronic conditions	1.26 (1.13-1.47) ^c	1.23 (1.04-1.40) ^c

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; OR, odds ratio.

^a Not all participants responded to the question about CKD.

^b Indicates *P* < .001.

^c Indicates P < .01.

Table 3. Predictors of Falls and Fall-Related Injuries in People With Chronic Kidney Disease, Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, 2014

Predictors	AOR (95% CI) ^a Falls	AOR (95%CI) ^a Fall-Related Injury
Men versus women	0.79 (0.65–0.93) ^b	0.59 (0.44-0.80)
Married/ living with a partner versus other ^c	0.96 (0.78-1.17)	0.90 (0.69-1.08)
Education		
≤High school graduate	1 [Reference]	1 [Reference]
>High school but <college graduate<="" th=""><td>1.37 (0.98-1.76)</td><td>1.17 (0.81-1.72)</td></college>	1.37 (0.98-1.76)	1.17 (0.81-1.72)
≥College graduate	1.01 (0.83-1.22)	0.72 (0.54–0.90) ^b
Any exercise last month, yes versus no	0.68 (0.56-0.81) ^b	0.70 (0.60–0.93) ^b
Difficulty climbing/walking stairs, yes versus no	2.84 (2.30-3.44) ^b	1.70 (1.27-2.30) ^b
Obese or overweight versus normal weight ^d	0.87 (0.67-1.12)	0.86 (0.60-1.27)
Heavy drinker versus others ^e	1.54 (0.89-2.98)	1.19 (0.93-2.07)
Current smoker versus others ^f	1.21 (0.85-1.71)	1.08 (0.90-1.44)
Has diabetes versus does not have diabetes	1.25 (1.02-1.53) ^b	1.07 (0.81-1.44)
Diabetes diagnosed ≤64 y versus diagnosed ≥65 y	1.45 (1.04-2.02) ^b	1.62 (1.08–2.53) ^b
Arthritis history, yes versus no	1.79 (1.46-2.20) ^b	1.54 (1.06-2.24) ^b
Cancer history, yes versus no	1.03 (0.81-1.30)	1.50 (1.04–2.15) ^b

Abbreviations: AOR, adjusted odds ratio; CI, confidence interval.

^a Indicates adjustments made for race and age. The outcome is falls and fall-related injuries in the past 12 months (yes vs no).

^b Indicates *P* < .01.

^c Includes widowed, divorced, separated, and never married.

^d People with BMI \geq 25 were categorized as overweight or obese, and people with BMI from 18.5 to <25 were categorized as normal weight.

^e Men who regularly consume more than 2 drinks per day and women who regularly consume more than 1 drink per day. Others were those who consumed fewer drinks or did not drink alcohol at all.

[†]Includes nonsmokers and former smokers.

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

Volume 15, E113

SEPTEMBER 2018

ORIGINAL RESEARCH

Patterns of Screen Time Among Rural Mexican-American Children on the New Mexico-Mexico Border

Jill A. McDonald, PhD, MS^{1,2}; Christopher Sroka, PhD³; Elizabeth Olivares, MPH²; Merranda Marin, PhD, LP^{2,4}; Maria Gurrola, PhD, MSW^{2,5}; Joseph R. Sharkey, PhD, MPH⁶

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2018/18_0070.htm

Suggested citation for this article: McDonald JA, Sroka C, Olivares E, Marin M, Gurrola M, Sharkey JR. Patterns of Screen Time Among Rural Mexican-American Children on the New Mexico-Mexico Border. Prev Chronic Dis 2018;15:180070. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd15.180070.

PEER REVIEWED

Abstract

Introduction

The prevalence of obesity is 26% among Hispanic children and teenagers and 47% among Hispanic adults. One contributor to obesity is sedentary behavior, such as using electronic screen devices (ie, screens). Low-income and Hispanic youths spend more time using such devices than other youths.

Methods

We interviewed 202 parents of Mexican-origin children aged 6 to 10 years in 2 rural communities near the US–Mexico border to determine screen use among children. We tested for associations between covariates and heavy screen use (\geq 4 hours/day) and calculated adjusted odds ratios (AORs) to identify independent, modifiable risk factors for such use.

Results

More than two-thirds (68.3%) of households had an annual income of less than \$24,000, 89.1% spoke primarily Spanish, and 92.1% had internet access. The percentage of children with heavy screen use was 14.9% on weekdays and 25.2% on weekends. Smartphones were used by 62.4% of children, desktops or laptops by 60.9%; homework was the most common reason for use of these devices. One in 3 children used them for social media. Increased odds of heavy screen use were associated with having a television on while the child ate (weekday AOR = 3.02; 95% confidence interval [CI], 1.08–8.45 and weekend AOR = 2.38; 95% CI, 1.04–5.40) and using electronics to entertain (weekend AOR = 2.94; 95% CI, 1.15–7.51). More than 3 family meals per week (AOR = 0.40; 95% CI, 0.17–0.94 compared with \leq 3 meals) and 2 or 3 family activities per week (AOR = 0.33; 95% CI, 0.12–0.87 compared with \leq 1 activity) were associated with decreased odds of heavy weekend use.

Conclusion

Even in low-income, Spanish-speaking communities, children have access to electronic devices, social media, and the internet, and a substantial fraction of them are heavy users. Efforts to reduce screen time might focus on understanding and changing the social norms that promote it.

Introduction

In 2015–2016, Hispanic adults had a higher age-adjusted rate of obesity (47.0%) than non-Hispanic white (37.9%) or non-Hispanic black (46.8%) adults in the United States (1). Moreover, the prevalence of obesity in 2015–2016 among children and teenagers aged 2 to 19 years was 25.8% among Hispanics, 22.0% among non-Hispanic blacks, and 14.2% among non-Hispanic whites (1). The 2015 Youth Risk Behavior Survey showed that 16.2% of Hispanic and 13.3% of non-Hispanic white ninth-graders in New Mexico were obese, while an additional 16.8% of Hispanic and 15.5% of non-Hispanic white ninth-graders were overweight. Obesity rates in both populations are increasing (2).

Behaviors that contribute to obesity among children and teenagers include sedentary behavior and the consumption of excessive calories (3–5). Sedentary behavior is defined as any waking behavior that has a low level of energy expenditure (<1.5 metabolic equivalents) while in a sitting, reclining, or lying posture (6). The component of such behavior that is studied most often is screen time. Screen time is time spent on screen-based behaviors (6), such as



watching television, playing video games, and using computers, smartphones, or other electronic devices with screens. Use of devices with screens other than televisions has increased dramatically in the United States in recent years (7).

Perhaps one reason the rate of obesity is higher among Hispanic children and teenagers than among their non-Hispanic counterparts is that the former spend more time using electronic screen devices (8). For example, in the 2015 New Mexico Youth Risk Behavior Survey, 27.3% of Hispanic and 21.7% of non-Hispanic white ninth-graders spent 3 hours or more watching television each weekday (2). And in the 2015 New Mexico Youth Risk and Resilience Survey in the largely Hispanic county of Otero, in the US-Mexico border region, 27.7% of middle-school students (sixth- to eighth-graders) watched 3 hours or more of television, and 28.5% used computers or video games for 3 hours or more on weekdays (9). Consistently, low-income and racial/ethnic minority children and teenagers report more time using electronic devices for recreational purposes than do their non-Hispanic white counterparts (8). Other demographic groups associated with greater screen time include boys, older children, younger mothers, and less-educated parents (7,8,10). Little is known about screen time in Hispanic subpopulations, especially Hispanic children in elementary school. Studying screen time in younger children is important because risk factors for obesity can begin to operate as early as infancy (11).

The Salud Para Usted y Su Familia (Health for You and Your Family) project (12) is studying the determinants of obesity among Mexican American children in rural, low-income border communities in New Mexico. As a first step in designing an intervention to reduce the risk for childhood obesity in these communities, we collected data on the prevalence of risk factors, including screen time. The main objective of this study was to describe the demographic correlates of heavy screen use among Mexican American children in 2 small, rural communities on the New Mexico–Mexico border. A secondary objective was to assess the association of selected modifiable household norms with heavy screen use.

Methods

From July through December 2016, we conducted a cross-sectional survey of 202 mothers or primary caregivers of Mexican-origin children aged 6 to 10 years (in grades kindergarten through 4) in 2 *colonias* (rural communities that lack adequate water, sewer, or decent housing) (13). We recruited study participants from the unincorporated community of Chaparral (population, 14,631) in Otero County and Doña Ana County and the village of Columbus (population, 1,244) in Luna County (14). Chaparral and Columbus are 20 and 3 miles from the Mexican border and 84% and 88% Hispanic, respectively (14).

We hired and trained *promotores de salud* (promoters of health), bilingual indigenous community health workers, as promotor–researchers to recruit participants and collect data for the project (15,16). Promotor–researchers recruited a convenience sample from their communities by approaching potential respondents door-to-door and at schools, school bus stops, shopping centers, and community events. When 2 parents were available, mothers were preferred as participants. Promotor–researchers determined eligibility by administering a 9-item questionnaire. Eligibility criteria included having lived in the community for at least 1 year, being the primary caregiver for a Mexican American child aged 6 to 10 years, and living with a spouse or partner who shared childcare responsibilities. Mexican origin was defined as Mexican nativity in the child or 1 or more of the child's biological parents or grandparents.

Our goal was a sample size of 200, 100 from each community. Promotor-researchers approached 1,093 individuals, of whom 1,091 (99.8%) completed the questionnaire. Among these, 260 (23.8%) were eligible. The modal reason for ineligibility was not having a child aged 6 to 10 years. Among eligible respondents, 202 (77.7%) signed informed consent agreements, and all those who signed completed interviews.

Promotor–researchers administered the informed consent and the study instruments in English or Spanish, depending on the respondent's preference. The primary study instrument, an 88-item survey, took 45 minutes and was conducted at the time of recruitment or later at a convenient location. Study participants received a \$5.00 gift card.

We asked participants with 2 or more children aged 6 to 10 years to choose 1 child and answer survey questions with that 1 reference child in mind. Interviewers prompted participants to respond about that child with phrases such as, "Going back to the child you were thinking about"

Variables

The 88 survey questions covered a range of factors associated in the literature with childhood obesity, including demographic variables, diet, and physical activity. It also included factors associated with screen time: 1) internet access; use of smartphones, computers or laptops, and other electronic devices among children, mothers, and fathers; 2) household norms related to screen use (Box); and 3) reasons for use and types of electronic devices used by all children in the household.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

Box. Household Norms Related to Screen Use as Defined by the Questions Relow

- · Is the TV on when your child eats?
- · When eating together as a family, is there anyone who uses electronics (cell phone, games, etc.)?
- · During a normal week, how often does your family eat a meal together?
- · When your child misbehaves, do you ever take away his/her outdoor play time?
- · When your child misbehaves, do you ever take away his/her electronics?
- · Does it ever seem the only way to keep your child entertained is to en-
- courage his/her use of TV, tablet, video games, or other electronics?
- · How many times a week does your family do active things together?

We defined screen time as the number of hours per day that the child used electronic screen devices at home. Mothers were asked, "How many hours does your child spend at home on a normal day during the week using electronics (TV, videogames, computer games, cell phone)?" and "How many hours does your child spend at home on a normal day on the weekend using electronics (TV, videogames, computer games, cell phone)?" Possible responses were none, 1 or 2 hours, 3 hours, or 4 hours or more. The 2 outcome variables were heavy screen use on weekdays and heavy screen use on weekends. We defined heavy screen use as 4 hours or more per day (17).

Analysis

To assess which variables should be included in a multivariate analysis, we first conducted individual tests of association between the outcome variables and potential risk factors. We used χ^2 and Fisher exact tests for unordered categorical variables and Cochran-Armitage tests for trend for ordered variables. Variables were included in the multivariate model if 1) the variable was associated (P < .25) in the weekday or weekend analysis, or 2) the variable was associated with screen time in the literature (ie, child's age, child's sex, maternal education, and income/Medicaid status). Internet access met the first criterion, but it was excluded because none of the heavy users lacked internet access. Weekday and weekend use were fit by using separate models.

Analysis was conducted by using SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc). The institutional review boards of the institutions with which the authors are affiliated reviewed and approved the study protocol.

Results

Among the 202 children in the study, 117 (57.9%) were aged 6 to 8 and 85 (42.1%) were aged 9 or 10 (Table 1). Mean age was 8.1 years (standard deviation, 1.4 y). Among the parent respondents, 192 (95.0%) were female, 144 (71.3%) were born in Mexico, 181 (89.6%) had a high school education or less, and 143 (70.8%) had 5 or more members in their household. Among the 202 study households, 99 of 145 (68.3%) had a total monthly income of less than \$2,000 (excluding "don't know" responses); 180 (89.1%) had a member who receives Medicaid, and 180 (89.1%) spoke primarily Spanish. The children used Spanish-language electronic devices exclusively in 46 (22.8%) households; most used English exclusively or English and Spanish. Most (n = 108 [53.5%])households had cell phone plans, and 92.1% had internet access.

Approximately one-quarter (53 of 202; 26.2%) of children used screens for more than 2 hours per day during the week at home, and 30 (14.9%) were heavy weekday users. On weekends, 84 (41.6%) children used screens for more than 2 hours per day, and 51 (25.2%) were heavy weekend users. Screen time was greater on weekend days (P = .002). Heavy use during weekdays or weekends was not significantly associated with child's age, child's sex, or any other demographic characteristic except household size (Table 1). We found a trend toward less screen use on weekends as household size increased. We also found that a greater percentage of children in Columbus (32.0%) than in Chaparral (18.6%) were heavy weekend users.

The unadjusted analysis of 7 household norms (Table 2) found that norms encouraging screen use were common. Six of 7 norms qualified for inclusion in the adjusted analysis, but we included all 7 norms. In the adjusted analysis (Table 3), no demographic variables other than household size were associated with screen time. Larger households were less likely to report heavy weekend screen use. In contrast, 4 of 7 norms were associated with heavy weekday use, heavy weekend use, or both. Most (59.9%) families had the television on while the child ate, a practice associated with heavy screen use both on weekdays (AOR = 3.02; 95% confidence interval [CI], 1.08-8.45) and weekends (AOR = 2.38; 95% CI, 1.04–5.40) (Table 3). Three of 4 families ate meals together more than 3 times per week, and heavy weekend screen use among children in these families was less prevalent than in families who ate meals together 3 times or fewer per week (AOR = 0.40; 95% CI, 0.17-0.94). Parents who used television or electronics for entertaining their child reported heavy weekend use more than twice as often (AOR = 2.94; 95% CI, 1.15-7.51) as parents who did not. Finally, families who were physically active together 2 or 3 times per week were associated with less weekend screen

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

time than families active together at most 1 time (0 or 1) per week (AOR = 0.33; 95% CI, 0.12–0.87).

Parents reported multiple reasons why children (as a group) in their households used desktops or laptops and smartphones on weekdays (Figure 1). Two-thirds of all users used these devices for homework. Just more than half of all users used them for games and for internet/YouTube. No single reason for use was significantly associated with heavy weekday or heavy weekend use.



Figure 1. Frequency of reasons for use of smartphones, desktops, or laptops by children on weekday in study households, according to level of use in the reference child, Chaparral and Columbus, New Mexico, 2016. Parents could indicate more than 1 reasons for use; thus, percentages do not sum to 100.

Among devices used by all children in study households, smartphones (62.4%) and desktop or laptops (60.9%) were dominant (Figure 2). Only 8.9% of children used none of the devices listed. No devices were significantly associated with heavy weekday or weekend screen time.



Figure 2. Frequency of use of types of electronic devices by children in study households, Chaparral and Columbus, New Mexico, 2016.

Among mothers, 89.2% used smartphones, 25.0% used desktops or laptops, and 7.3% used game consoles. Paternal patterns of use were similar. Parental patterns of use were not significant predictors of heavy screen use among children.

Discussion

This study found that in 2 rural communities in New Mexico near the Mexico border, most families had cell phones and access to the internet in 2016. Among these families, one in 4 had a child aged 6 to 10 years who spent 2 hours or more per weekday using electronic devices at home, and one in 7 had a child who spent 4 hours or more per weekday using electronic devices at home. Most families reported that a television was on while children ate, and someone was using electronic devices during meals in one-quarter of the households. Social norms of television use during meals, not eating as a family frequently, encouraging children to entertain themselves with electronics, and not participating as a family in physical activities appear to be risk factors for heavy screen use in this study population.

In aggregate, the total screen time reported for many of these elementary-school-aged children exceed previous recommendations to limit screen time to 2 hours per day (18). Comparison with other populations of children is difficult because of differences in ages of study populations, outcome measures, and scope. In a population of Latino participants in the Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children (WIC) in Oregon, 42% of children aged 2 to 5 years spent 2 hours or more per day

on noneducational screen time (19). The National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey found that 47% of children aged 2 to 15 years spent more than 2 hours per day viewing television and video and using computers (20). Among Hispanic media users aged 8 to 12 years in 2015, mean daily screen time was 5 hours and 34 minutes nationally (8). The National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) reported weekday screen time for children who were more similar in age to those in our study population. For 2011-2012, NSCH reported that 7.8% of children aged 6 to 11 years old in New Mexico watched television or videos or played video games for 4 hours or more per weekday and that 2.9% spent 4 hours or more using computers, games, and other devices per weekday (17). Even if these percentages are summed (10.7%), the prevalence of heavy weekday screen use reported by NSCH is lower than the 14.9% reported in our study. Finally, comparison with screen time among Mexican children would be of interest, but the most comparable data available for Mexico, for children and teenagers aged 10 to 14 years, show that 27.7% have an average of more than 4 hours per day of screen time (21).

Our study suggests that it is important to measure screen time on both weekdays and weekends among school-aged children and that because weekend use is greater, measuring only weekday use might substantially underestimate total use. This finding is consistent with the findings of a 2006–2007 study of television viewing among mostly Mexican American fourth-graders in low-income schools along the Texas–Mexico border, where median television viewing was greater on weekend days than on weekdays (2.5 hours vs 1.5 hours) (22). Most studies do not distinguish between weekend use and weekday use (23).

Another study conducted in the US–Mexico border region found that parental rules or norms limiting television viewing were associated with less television viewing among children (22). This finding is consistent with our finding that having a television on during meals is associated with heavy screen use on both weekdays and weekends. Our finding on television viewing during meals is also consistent with the findings of other studies showing that children in homes where the television is on all or most of the time are more likely to have more screen time than other children have (19,24). Watching television during meals is associated with poorer diets among children (25). A study in Texas found that three-quarters of urban overweight or obese Mexican American children aged 6 to 8 years had televisions in their bedrooms (26).

For weekend use, several norms in addition to television use during meals were significant in the adjusted analysis. These same associations were suggested in weekday results but lacked significance. In general, it appears that eating meals and engaging in activities as a family limits screen time, while using electronic devices to keep children occupied increases it. Examinations of such family activities in relation to screen time were reported previously (27,28). The American Academy of Pediatrics has recommended positive parenting activities, such as playing together, as one way to decrease screen time (3).

Our study population's access to computers and internet services can be compared with such access among the Hispanic population nationally. The 2015 American Community Survey established that 68.3% of Hispanic households had desktops or laptops and 70.9% had internet service; in limited–English-speaking populations, such as the one in our study, 53.0% of households had a computer (29). In our study, 108 (53.3%) households had cell phone plans, and 186 (92.1%) had internet access.

The extent to which our study population reflects the Mexican American population living in *colonias* in New Mexico is not clear. In our study population, 68.3% of households had an annual income of less than \$24,000. This percentage is comparable to the 69.1% of households of all races/ethnicities with an annual income of less than \$25,000 in 2016 in Columbus, New Mexico, but it is different from the 49.5% of households with an annual income of less than \$25,000 in Chaparral (12). Some aspect of how the study sample was collected might have resulted in the recruitment of families whose incomes are lower than the average income of residents in the 2 *colonias* in our study. The study's possible inclusion of low-income families who avoid participation in the census because of their undocumented status might account for this bias.

This study has several limitations. First, the study population was a convenience sample, and selection bias might have operated in the recruitment process and/or in the choice of the reference child by the parent when more than one child was eligible. No random sampling of households was considered possible in these communities. Consequently, the reported estimates might differ from those in these communities overall or in other New Mexico colonias. Second, parental awareness of the more socially desirable responses to questions about use of electronic devices by children might have introduced a reporting bias toward underreporting screen time or household norms that encouraged it, such as choosing the child with less screen time as the reference child. Third, the sample size was small and may have been underpowered to detect associations between household norms and children's screen time. The study's strengths were the collection of data by trained, bilingual, local promotor-researchers and the 78% participation rate. To our knowledge, ours is the first assessment of total screen time, as opposed to television viewing (23), in colonias along the US-Mexico border.

Although some Hispanic children of Mexican heritage live in poor, remote communities in the Southwest and their families

might have limited skills in English, the assumption that their access to the internet or electronic devices is limited would be incorrect. Along with adopting an American diet and its attendant risk of obesity (30), Mexican American children whom we studied in these New Mexican communities have adopted the same levels of computer use and other electronic screen use as have non-Hispanic white children elsewhere in the United States.

Checking the epidemic of obesity among the Hispanic population in the United States in such communities will depend on making behavioral changes early in life and addressing the twin issues of diet and physical inactivity, including reducing screen time without cutting off access to screen time that might be beneficial (3). Strategies found to be effective in nonminority populations in reaching such goals need to be tested in Hispanic and other racial/ ethnic minority populations.

Acknowledgments

This study was funded, in part, by the US Department of Agriculture–National Institute of Food and Agriculture's Agriculture and Food Research Initiative, grant no. 2015-68001-23234. The authors thank the *Salud Para Usted y Su Familia* study participants in Chaparral and Columbus, New Mexico; other members of the research team, including students and study promotores who participated in study design and data collection activities; and Mrs Laura Silva for her assistance with the literature review for this manuscript. No copyrighted surveys, instruments, tools, or other copyrighted materials were used in this research.

Author Information

Corresponding Author: Jill A. McDonald, PhD, MS, Department of Public Health Sciences and Southwest Institute for Health Disparities Research, College of Health and Social Services, New Mexico State University, PO Box 30001, Las Cruces, NM 88003-8001. Telephone: 575-646-8503. Email: jillmcd@nmsu.edu.

Author Affiliations: ¹Department of Public Health Sciences, College of Health and Social Services, New Mexico State University, Las Cruces, New Mexico. ²Southwest Institute for Health Disparities Research, College of Health and Social Services, New Mexico State University, Las Cruces, New Mexico. ³Economics, Applied Statistics and International Business Department, College of Business, New Mexico State University, Las Cruces, New Mexico. ⁴Department of Family and Child Science, College of Agricultural, Consumer and Environmental Sciences, New Mexico State University, Las Cruces, New Mexico. ⁵School of Social Work, New Mexico State University, Las Cruces, New Mexico. ⁶Department of Health Promotion and Community Health Sciences, Texas A&M School of Public Health, College Station, Texas.

References

- 1. Hales CM, Carroll MD, Fryar CD, Ogden CL. Prevalence of obesity among adults and youth: United States, 2015–2016. NCHS data brief, no 288. Hyattsville (MD): National Center for Health Statistics; 2017.
- 2. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. High school Youth Risk Behavior Survey. New Mexico 2015 results. https://nccd.cdc.gov/youthonline/app/Results.aspx?LID=NM. Accessed December 10, 2017.
- 3. Council on Communications and Media. Media use in schoolaged children and adolescents. Pediatrics 2016; 138(5):e20162592.
- 4. de Jong E, Visscher TL, HiraSing RA, Heymans MW, Seidell JC, Renders CM. Association between TV viewing, computer use and overweight, determinants and competing activities of screen time in 4- to 13-year-old children. Int J Obes (Lond) 2013;37(1):47–53.
- 5. Doherty M, Santiago-Torres M, Cui Y, Schoeller D, LaRowe T, Adams A, et al. The association between screen time and weight status in Hispanic children. BAOJ Obes Weight Loss Manag 2015;1(1):1–12.
- 6. Tremblay MS, Aubert S, Barnes JD, Saunders TJ, Carson V, Latimer-Cheung AE, et al. Sedentary behavior research network (SBRN) — Terminology Consensus Project process and outcome. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2017;14(1):75.
- 7. Common Sense Media Inc. Fact sheet: The Common Sense census: media use by kids age zero to eight, 2017. Hispanic/ Latino children's media use. San Francisco (CA); 2017. https:// www.commonsensemedia.org/sites/default/files/uploads/ research/0-8census_latinomediause_release.pdf. Accessed December 21, 2017.
- 8. Common Sense Media Inc. The Common Sense census: media use by tweens and teens. San Francisco (CA); 2015. https:// www.commonsensemedia.org/sites/default/files/uploads/ research/census_executivesummary.pdf. Accessed December 21, 2017.
- 9. Green D, Peñaloza L, FitzGerald C. New Mexico Youth Risk and Resiliency Survey: middle school survey results 2015, Otero County. Epidemiology and Response Division, New Mexico Department of Health; School and Family Support Bureau, New Mexico Public Education Department; and University of New Mexico Prevention Research Center. 2016. http://www.youthrisk.org/pdf/YRRS-2015-MS-countyreportotero.pdf. Accessed December 11, 2017.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

- Fakhouri TH, Hughes JP, Brody DJ, Kit BK, Ogden CL. Physical activity and screen-time viewing among elementary school-aged children in the United States from 2009 to 2010. JAMA Pediatr 2013;167(3):223–9.
- 11. Weng SF, Redsell SA, Swift JA, Yang M, Glazebrook CP. Systematic review and meta-analyses of risk factors for childhood overweight identifiable during infancy. Arch Dis Child 2012;97(12):1019–26.
- 12. Sharkey JR, McDonald JA, Kunz S, Umstattd Meyer R. Salud Para Usted Y Su Familia[Health For You And Your Family]: childhood obesity prevention in Arizona, New Mexico, and Texas border areas. Proceedings of the 48th Annual Conference of the Society for Nutrition Education and Behavior; 2015 Jul 25–28; Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. In: J Nutr Educ Behav 2015;47(4):S97–S98; Abstract no. NP13.
- 13. US Department of Housing and Urban Development. History of colonias in Arizona and New Mexico. https://www.hud.gov/states/shared/working/groups/frmwrkcoln/history. Accessed December 21, 2017.
- 14. US Census Bureau. American Factfinder. https:// factfinder.census.gov/faces/tableservices/jsf/pages/ productview.xhtml?src=CF. Accessed December 29, 2017.
- 15. Johnson CM, Sharkey JR, Dean WR, St John JA, Castillo M. Promotoras as research partners to engage health disparity communities. J Acad Nutr Diet 2013;113(5):638–42.
- 16. St John JA, Johnson CM, Sharkey JR, Dean WR, Arandia G. Empowerment of promotoras as promotora-researchers in the Comidas Saludables & Gente Sana en las Colonias del Sur de Tejas (Healthy Food and Healthy People in South Texas Colonias) program. J Prim Prev 2013;34(1-2):41–57.
- 17. Data Resource Center for Child & Adolescent Health. National Survey of Children's Health 2011/12. http:// childhealthdata.org/browse/survey. Accessed December 20, 2017.
- Khalsa AS, Kharofa R, Ollberding NJ, Bishop L, Copeland KA. Attainment of '5-2-1-0' obesity recommendations in preschool-aged children. Prev Med Rep 2017;8:79–87.
- 19. Asplund KM, Kair LR, Arain YH, Cervantes M, Oreskovic NM, Zuckerman KE. Early childhood screen time and parental attitudes toward child television viewing in a low-income Latino population attending the Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children. Child Obes 2015;11(5):590–9.
- 20. Sisson SB, Church TS, Martin CK, Tudor-Locke C, Smith SR, Bouchard C, et al. Profiles of sedentary behavior in children and adolescents: the US National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 2001–2006. Int J Pediatr Obes 2009; 4(4):353–9.

- 21. Encuesta Nacional de Salud y Nutricion. 2012: Resultados de actividad física y sedentarismo en personas de 10 a 69 años. https://ensanut.insp.mx/doctos/analiticos/ActividadFisica.pdf. Accessed May 2, 2018.
- 22. Springer AE, Kelder SH, Barroso CS, Drenner KL, Shegog R, Ranjit N, et al. Parental influences on television watching among children living on the Texas-Mexico border. Prev Med 2010;51(2):112–7.
- 23. Aftosmes-Tobio A, Ganter C, Gicevic S, Newlan S, Simon CL, Davison KK, et al. A systematic review of media parenting in the context of childhood obesity research. BMC Public Health 2016;16(1):320.
- 24. Rideout VJ, Foehr UG, Roberts DF. Generation M2: media in the lives of 8- to 18-year-olds. Menlo Park (CA): Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation; 2010. https://www.kff.org/other/ event/generation-m2-media-in-the-lives-of/. Accessed February 5, 2018.
- 25. Coon KA, Goldberg J, Rogers BL, Tucker KL. Relationships between use of television during meals and children's food consumption patterns. Pediatrics 2001;107(1):E7.
- 26. Salahuddin M, Pérez A, Ranjit N, Kelder SH, Barlow SE, Pont SJ, et al. Predictors of severe obesity in low-income, predominantly Hispanic/Latino children: the Texas Childhood Obesity Research Demonstration Study. Prev Chronic Dis 2017;14:E141.
- 27. Gingold JA, Simon AE, Schoendorf KC. Excess screen time in US children: association with family rules and alternative activities. Clin Pediatr (Phila) 2014;53(1):41–50.
- 28. Totland TH, Knudsen MD, Paulsen MM, Bjelland M, Van't Veer P, Brug J, et al. Correlates of irregular family meal patterns among 11-year-old children from the Pro Children study. Food Nutr Res 2017;61(1):1339554.
- 29. Ryan C, Lewis JM. Computer and internet use in the United States: 2015. American Community Survey reports. Washington (DC): US Census Bureau; 2017. www.census.gov/ content/dam/Census/library/publications/2017/acs/acs-37.pdf. Accessed December 10, 2017.
- 30. Vera-Becerra LE, Lopez ML, Kaiser LL. Child feeding practices and overweight status among Mexican immigrant families. J Immigr Minor Health 2015;17(2):375–82.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

Tables

Table 1. Characteristics of Study Population and Their Association With Heavy Screen Use (>4 Screen-Time Hours per Day) on Weekdays and Weekends Among Mexican-Origin Children Aged 6 to 10 Years, Chaparral and Columbus, New Mexico, 2016^a

Characteristic	Overall, No. (%) ^b (n = 202)	Weekday (n = 30)		Weekend Day (n = 51)	
		No. (%)	<i>P</i> Value	No. (%)	P Value
Child's age, y	1				
6-8	117 (57.9)	15 (12.8)	.34 ^c	27 (23.1)	.40 ^c
9 or 10	85 (42.1)	15 (17.6)		24 (28.2)	
Mean	8.1	8.1	_	8.3	_
Child's sex					
Male	108 (53.5)	16 (14.8)	>.99 ^c -	31 (28.7)	.26 ^c
Female	94 (46.5)	14 (14.9)		20 (21.3)	
Maternal age, y ^d					
20-29	51 (25.6)	10 (19.6)	.25 ^e	15 (29.4)	.44 ^e
30-39	95 (47.7)	14 (14.7)		17 (17.9)	
≥40	53 (26.6)	6 (11.3)		18 (34.0)	
Mean	35.7	34.2	_	37.5	-
Maternal birth country					
United States	58 (28.7)	8 (13.8)	>.99 ^c -	14 (24.1)	.86 ^c
Mexico	144 (71.3)	22 (15.3)		37 (25.7)	
No. of years of maternal education					
1-8	45 (22.3)	7 (15.6)	.71 ^e	15 (33.3)	.14 ^e
9-12	136 (67.3)	21 (15.4)		32 (23.5)	
>12	21 (10.4)	2 (9.5)		4 (19.0)	
No. of household members					
3	20 (9.9)	6 (30.0)	.051 ^e -	11 (55.0)	
4	39 (19.3)	6 (15.4)		11 (28.2)	
5	74 (36.6)	11 (14.9)		17 (23.0)	
≥6	69 (34.2)	7 (10.1)		12 (17.4)	
Monthly household income, \$					
<1,000	41 (20.3)	9 (22.0)	.13 ^e	12 (29.3)	.08 ^e
1,000-1,999	58 (28.7)	9 (15.5)		14 (24.1)	
2,000-2,999	26 (12.9)	4 (15.4)		3 (11.5)	
≥3,000	20 (9.9)	1 (5.0)		3 (15.0)	
Don't know	57 (28.2)	7 (12.3)		19 (33.3)	

Household member receives Medicaid

^a Data collected from 88-item survey of 202 mothers or primary caregivers from July through December 2016. Participants with 2 or more children aged 6 to 10 years were asked to choose 1 child and answer survey questions with that 1 reference child in mind.

^b Percentages may not sum to 100 because of rounding.

^c Determined by Fisher exact test.

^d Values do not sum to 202 because 3 respondents did not answer question.

^e Determined by Cochran–Armitage 2-sided trend test.

(continued on next page)
(continued)

Table 1. Characteristics of Study Population and Their Association With Heavy Screen Use (≥4 Screen-Time Hours per Day) on Weekdays and Weekends Among Mexican-Origin Children Aged 6 to 10 Years, Chaparral and Columbus, New Mexico, 2016^a

	Weekday (n = 30)		Weekend Day (n = 51)	
202)	No. (%)	<i>P</i> Value	No. (%)	<i>P</i> Value
22 (10.9)	3 (13.6)	> 00 ⁰	8 (36.4)	20 ⁰
180 (89.1)	27 (15.0)	>.99	43 (23.9)	.20
180 (89.1)	26 (14.4)		45 (25.0)	80 ⁰
22 (10.9)	4 (18.2)	.75	6 (27.3)	.80
46 (22.8)	9 (19.6)		15 (32.6)	
84 (41.6)	11 (13.1)	.59 ^c	21 (25.0)	.36 ^c
72 (35.6)	10 (13.9)		15 (20.8)	
87 (43.1)	14 (16.1)		22 (25.3)	
49 (24.3)	6 (12.2)		15 (30.6)	
21 (10.4)	3 (14.3)	01 ^C	5 (23.8)	OF ^C
15 (7.4)	5 (33.3)	.21	3 (20.0)	.95
14 (6.9)	2 (14.3)		3 (21.4)	
16 (7.9)	0		3 (18.8)	
102 (50.5)	16 (15.7)	04 ⁰	19 (18.6)	O 4 ^C
100 (49.5)	14 (14.0)	.84	32 (32.0)	.04
202 (100.0)	30 (14.9)	_	51 (25.2)	
	Overall, No. (%) ^b (n = 202) 22 (10.9) 180 (89.1) 22 (10.9) 46 (22.8) 84 (41.6) 72 (35.6) 87 (43.1) 49 (24.3) 21 (10.4) 15 (7.4) 14 (6.9) 16 (7.9) 102 (50.5) 100 (49.5) 202 (100.0)	Weekday (nNo. (%)22 (10.9)3 (13.6)180 (89.1)27 (15.0)180 (89.1)26 (14.4)22 (10.9)4 (18.2)46 (22.8)9 (19.6)84 (41.6)11 (13.1)72 (35.6)10 (13.9)87 (43.1)14 (16.1)49 (24.3)6 (12.2)21 (10.4)3 (14.3)15 (7.4)5 (33.3)14 (6.9)2 (14.3)16 (7.9)0102 (50.5)16 (15.7)100 (49.5)14 (14.0)202 (100.0)30 (14.9)	$\begin{array}{ c c c } \hline \text{Overall, No. (\%)}^{b} (n = \\ \hline 202)^{b} (n = \\ \hline 202)^{b} (n = \\ \hline 202 (10.9) & 3 (13.6) & P \text{ Value} \\ \hline 22 (10.9) & 3 (13.6) & 2.99^{c} \\ \hline 180 (89.1) & 27 (15.0) & 2.99^{c} \\ \hline \\ $	$\begin{array}{ c c c c } \hline \mbox{Weekday (n = 30)} & \mbox{Weekday (n = 30)} & \mbox{Weekday (n = 30)} \\ \hline \mbox{Weekday (n = 30)} & \mbox{Weekday (n = 30)} & \mbox{Weekday (n = 30)} & \mbox{No. (%)} \\ \hline \mbox{No. (%)} & \mbox{P Value} & \mbox{No. (%)} & \mbox{Solution (3.13.6)} & $>.99^{\circ}$ & $8 (36.4)$ \\ \hline \mbox{A3 (23.9)} & $>.99^{\circ}$ & $8 (36.4)$ \\ \hline \mbox{A3 (23.9)} & $>.99^{\circ}$ & $8 (36.4)$ \\ \hline \mbox{A3 (23.9)} & $>.99^{\circ}$ & $8 (36.4)$ \\ \hline \mbox{A3 (23.9)} & $>.99^{\circ}$ & $8 (36.4)$ \\ \hline \mbox{A3 (23.9)} & $>.99^{\circ}$ & $8 (36.4)$ \\ \hline \mbox{A3 (23.9)} & $$>.99^{\circ}$ & $$16 (27.3)$ \\ \hline \mbox{A4 (22.8)} & $9 (19.6)$ & $$15 (32.6)$ \\ \hline \mbox{A4 (41.6)} & $11 (13.1)$ & $$.59^{\circ}$ & $$15 (32.6)$ \\ \hline \mbox{A4 (41.6)} & $11 (13.1)$ & $$.59^{\circ}$ & $$15 (23.8)$ \\ \hline \mbox{A4 (41.6)} & $$10 (13.9)$ & $$15 (20.8)$ \\ \hline \mbox{A4 (41.6)} & $$11 (41.3)$ & $$$.21^{\circ}$ & $$15 (30.6)$ \\ \hline \mbox{A4 (22.8)} & $$6 (12.2)$ & $$$15 (23.8)$ \\ \hline \mbox{A4 (42.3)} & $$6 (12.2)$ & $$$$$$15 (23.8)$ & $$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$

^a Data collected from 88-item survey of 202 mothers or primary caregivers from July through December 2016. Participants with 2 or more children aged 6 to 10 years were asked to choose 1 child and answer survey questions with that 1 reference child in mind.

^b Percentages may not sum to 100 because of rounding.

^c Determined by Fisher exact test.

^d Values do not sum to 202 because 3 respondents did not answer question.

^e Determined by Cochran-Armitage 2-sided trend test.

Table 2. Household Norms and Their Association With Heavy Screen Use (≥4 Screen-Time Hours per Day) on Weekdays and Weekends Among Mexican-Origin Children Aged 6 to 10 Years, Chaparral and Columbus, New Mexico, 2016^a

			Weekday (n = 30)		Weekend I	Day (n = 51)
Household Norm	Category	(n = 202)	No. (%)	P Value ^b	No. (%)	<i>P</i> Value ^b
Is the TV on when your child eats?	No	81 (40.1)	6 (7.4)	00	13 (16.0)	01
	Yes	121 (59.9)	24 (19.8)	.02	38 (31.4)	10.
When eating together as a family, is there anyone who	No	153 (75.7)	20 (13.1)	05	37 (24.2)	FZ
uses electronics (cell phone, games, etc.)?	Yes	49 (24.3)	10 (20.4)	.25	14 (28.6)	.57
During a normal week, how often does your family eat	≤1	18 (8.9)	2 (11.1)		5 (27.8)	
a meal together?	2 or 3	32 (15.8)	10 (31.3)	.03	13 (40.6)	.08
	>3	152 (75.2)	18 (11.8)		33 (21.7)	
When your child misbehaves, do you ever take away	No	108 (53.5)	14 (13,0)	.44	28 (25.9)	.87
nis/ner outdoor play time?	Yes	94 (46.5)	16 (17.0)		23 (24.5)	
When your child misbehaves, do you ever take away	No	17 (8.4)	2 (11.8)	> 00	1 (5.9)	.08
his/her electronics?	Yes	185 (91.6)	28 (15.1)	>.99	50 (27.0)	
Does it ever seem the only way to keep your child	No	172 (85.1)	22 (12.8)		37 (21.5)	.006
video games, or other electronics?	Yes	30 (14.9)	8 (26.7)	.09	14 (46.7)	
How many times a week does your family do active	≤1	80 (39.6)	15 (18.8)		29 (36.3)	
things together?	2 or 3	65 (32.2)	8 (12.3)	.48	10 (15.4)	.01
	>3	57 (28.2)	7 (12.3)		12 (21.1)	
Total	_	202 (100.0)	30 (14.9)	-	51 (25.2)	_

^a Data collected from 88-item survey of 202 mothers or primary caregivers from July through December 2016. Participants with 2 or more children aged 6 to 10 years were asked to choose 1 child and answer survey questions with that 1 reference child in mind.

^b Determined by Fisher exact test.

Table 3. Adjusted Odds Ratios for Associations of Demographic Characteristics and Household Norms With Heavy Screen Use (\geq 4 Screen-Time Hours per Day) on Weekdays and Weekends Among Mexican-Origin Children Aged 6 to 10 Years, Chaparral and Columbus, New Mexico, 2016^a

	Adjusted Odds Ratio (95% Confidence Interval)			
Demographic Variable or Household Norm	Weekday	Weekend Day		
Community of residence				
Chaparral	1 [Reference]	1 [Reference]		
Columbus	0.63 (0.24-1.63)	1.22 (0.56-2.65)		
Child's age	1.17 (0.83-1.64)	1.24 (0.92-1.66)		
Child's sex	•			
Male	1 [Reference]	1 [Reference]		
Female	1.01 (0.41-2.48)	0.63 (0.29-1.38)		
Maternal age	0.95 (0.89-1.02)	1.04 (0.99-1.10)		
Years of maternal education	0.96 (0.80-1.16)	1.02 (0.88-1.17)		
No. of household members	0.79 (0.57-1.10)	0.73 (0.55-0.98)		
Monthly household income, \$ ^b		_		
<1,000	1 [Reference]	_		
Don't know	0.67 (0.18-2.51)	_		
1,000-1,999	0.92 (0.28–2.98)	_		
≥2,000	0.44 (0.11-1.69)	_		
Household member receives Medicaid ^b				
No	_	1 [Reference]		
Yes	_	0.33 (0.10-1.03)		
Television on during meals ^c				
No	1 [Reference]	1 [Reference]		
Yes	3.02 (1.08-8.45)	2.38 (1.04-5.40)		
Someone uses electronics while eating ^c				
No	1 [Reference]	1 [Reference]		
Yes	1.32 (0.50-3.54)	1.18 (0.49-2.88)		
No. of meals eaten together during the week ^c				
<3	1 [Reference]	1 [Reference]		
>3	0.44 (0.17-1.16)	0.40 (0.17-0.94)		
Outdoor play time limited for misbehavior ^c				
No	1 [Reference]	1 [Reference]		
Yes	1.25 (0.51-3.05)	0.85 (0.39-1.84)		
Use of electronic devices limited for misbehavior ^c	1			
No	1 [Reference]	1 [Reference]		

^a Data collected from 88-item survey of 202 mothers or primary caregivers from July through December 2016. Participants with 2 or more children aged 6 to 10 years were asked to choose 1 child and answer survey questions with that 1 reference child in mind.

^b Medicaid participation was used as a proxy for income in the weekend model because 28.2% of participants responded "don't know" to the income question. For the weekday model, only 3 reference children were heavy users and were not in a Medicaid household, so we chose to include household income in this model, treating the "don't knows" as a separate category and combining the \$2,000-\$2,999 and \geq \$3,000 groups. Internet access was not included in the models because none of the heavy users were without internet access.

^c Household norms were rephrased for this table.

(continued on next page)

(continued)

Table 3. Adjusted Odds Ratios for Associations of Demographic Characteristics and Household Norms With Heavy Screen Use (≥4 Screen-Time Hours per Day) on Weekdays and Weekends Among Mexican-Origin Children Aged 6 to 10 Years, Chaparral and Columbus, New Mexico, 2016^a

	Adjusted Odds Ratio (95% Confidence Interval)		
Demographic Variable or Household Norm	Weekday	Weekend Day	
Yes	0.78 (0.14-4.23)	5.84 (0.64-53.05)	
Feels electronics are the only way to keep children entertained ^c			
No	1 [Reference]	1 [Reference]	
Yes	2.17 (0.75-6.30)	2.94 (1.15-7.51)	
No. of times per week family does active things together ^c			
<1	1 [Reference]	1 [Reference]	
2 or 3	0.58 (0.19-1.75)	0.33 (0.12-0.87)	
>3	1.14 (0.36-3.63)	0.96 (0.38-2.46)	

^a Data collected from 88-item survey of 202 mothers or primary caregivers from July through December 2016. Participants with 2 or more children aged 6 to 10 years were asked to choose 1 child and answer survey questions with that 1 reference child in mind.

^b Medicaid participation was used as a proxy for income in the weekend model because 28.2% of participants responded "don't know" to the income question. For the weekday model, only 3 reference children were heavy users and were not in a Medicaid household, so we chose to include household income in this model, treating the "don't knows" as a separate category and combining the \$2,000-\$2,999 and ≥\$3,000 groups. Internet access was not included in the models because none of the heavy users were without internet access.

^c Household norms were rephrased for this table.

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

Volume 14, E95

OCTOBER 2017

ORIGINAL RESEARCH

A Diabetic Retinopathy Screening Tool for Low-Income Adults in Mexico

Kenny Mendoza-Herrera, MS¹; Amado D. Quezada, MS²; Andrea Pedroza-Tobías, MS¹; Cesar Hernández-Alcaraz, MS¹; Jans Fromow-Guerra, PhD³; Simón Barquera, PhD¹

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2017/17_0157.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Mendoza-Herrera K, Quezada AD, Pedroza-Tobías A, Hernández-Alcaraz C, Fromow-Guerra J, Barquera S. A Diabetic Retinopathy Screening Tool for Low-Income Adults in Mexico. Prev Chronic Dis 2017; 14:170157. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd14.170157.

PEER REVIEWED

Editor's Note: This article is the winner of the 2017 Student Research Paper Contest in the Graduate category.

Abstract

Introduction

A national diabetic retinopathy screening program does not exist in Mexico as of 2017. Our objective was to develop a screening tool based on a predictive model for early detection of diabetic retinopathy in a low-income population.

Methods

We analyzed biochemical, clinical, anthropometric, and sociodemographic information from 1,000 adults with diabetes in low-income communities in Mexico (from 11,468 adults recruited in 2014–2016). A comprehensive ophthalmologic evaluation was performed. We developed the screening tool through the following stages: 1) development of a theoretical predictive model, 2) performance assessment and validation of the model using crossvalidation and the area under the receiver operating characteristic curve (AUC ROC), and 3) optimization of cut points for the classification of diabetic retinopathy. We identified points along the AUC ROC that minimized the misclassification cost function and considered various scenarios of misclassification costs and diabetic retinopathy prevalence.

Results

Time since diabetes diagnosis, high blood glucose levels, systolic hypertension, and physical inactivity were considered risk factors in our screening tool. The mean AUC ROC of our model was 0.780 (validation data set). The optimized cut point that best represented our study population (z = -0.640) had a sensitivity of 82.9% and a specificity of 61.9%.

Conclusion

We developed a low-cost and easy-to-apply screening tool to detect people at high risk of diabetic retinopathy in Mexico. Although classification performance of our tool was acceptable (AUC ROC > 0.75), error rates (precision) depend on false-negative and false-positive rates. Therefore, confirmatory assessment of all cases is mandatory.

Introduction

In 2016, diabetes was declared a national epidemiologic emergency in Mexico (1). In 2006, the estimated prevalence of diabetes in Mexican adults was 14.4% (2). Mortality rates attributable to this disease in Mexico are among the highest in the world (3). By 2012, 74.7% of Mexican adults with diagnosed diabetes had inadequate glycemic control (4). Diabetes is associated with the development and progression of diabetic retinopathy (5–8), a major cause of sight loss and blindness in Latin American countries (9). A population-based survey from 2010 in the state of Chiapas found that 38.9% of adults aged 50 or older with diabetes had diabetic retinopathy and 21.0% had proliferative diabetic retinopathy (10).

Long-term diabetes and hypertension are consistently associated with diabetic retinopathy (5–8,11–13). The Mexican National Nutrition Survey 2006 found that the mean time since diabetes diagnosis among adults was more than 8 years (2). In 2012, an estimated 65.6% of adults with diabetes had hypertension (14). In this



context, an epidemic of diabetes complications, including diabetic retinopathy, could worsen in Mexico, and the study of screening systems for diabetic retinopathy is important.

Diabetic retinopathy ranks third in direct costs generated by diabetes complications in Mexico (15); these costs result from specialized procedures for diagnosis and treatment. A cost-benefit analysis to identify optimal cut points for identifying people who are at risk for diabetic retinopathy and who need a comprehensive ophthalmologic evaluation is an approach to developing an adequate-performance screening tool (16); however, such an approach would be complex because of the detailed cost information required.

Our objective was to develop a practical screening tool based on a predictive model and a simplification of a cost-benefit analysis to optimize cut points for early detection of diabetic retinopathy in low-income communities in Mexico.

Methods

We conducted a screening protocol for eye-related complications of diabetes from May 1, 2014, to June 30, 2016, in 3 low-income municipalities in the state of Morelos. We recruited 11,468 adults (aged ≥ 20 y) for a screening of chronic diseases in our mobile unit and community health centers. From these participants, we invited those with a type 2 diabetes diagnosis (n = 1,768 [15.4%]) to a comprehensive ophthalmologic evaluation. Exclusion criteria for this evaluation were signs of ocular infection or pregnancy.

Of the 1,768 participants, 538 declined to participate in the ophthalmologic evaluation, 1 person was excluded because the quality of photographs was not adequate for grading, and 229 participants did not have a photographic assessment at the time of analysis. One thousand participants (56.6%) completed the procedure. We obtained informed consent from all participants, and the protocol was approved by the ethics, research, and biosecurity committees of the Mexican National Institute of Public Health.

Data collection and definition of variables

All participants had at least 1 glycemic assessment (fasting [≥ 8 h] capillary or random capillary glycemia [glucometer method] or fasting venous glycemia [glucose oxidase method]). Fasting serum triglycerides, total cholesterol, and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol were assessed by enzymatic method (n = 418) and serum insulin with radioimmunoassay method (n = 112) for a portion of the sample; because of logistical and budgetary constraints, the entire sample could not be assessed for these variables.

High blood glucose was defined as a fasting glucose of 126 mg/dL or more or, if fasting glucose was unavailable, as random glucose of 200 mg/dL or more (17). Insulin resistance was classified by using a homeostasis model assessment value of 3.8 or more (18).

Hypertriglyceridemia was defined as triglycerides of 150 mg/dL or more, hypercholesterolemia as total cholesterol of 200 mg/dL or more, and hypoalphalipoproteinemia as high-density lipoprotein cholesterol of less than 50 mg/dL for women and less than 40 mg/dL for men (19,20).

Blood pressure was measured twice (interval of 30 seconds). We diagnosed high systolic/diastolic blood pressure when the average of the assessments was $\geq 140/\geq 90$ mm Hg. Likewise, we recorded whether participants reported a diagnosis of hypertension (21).

Weight, height, and waist circumference were measured by trained personnel using standard protocols. Body mass index (BMI; weight in kilograms divided by height in m^2 [kg/m²]) was calculated: overweight was defined as a BMI of 25.0 to 29.9 and obesity as a BMI of 30.0 or more (22). Abdominal obesity was defined as a waist circumference of 80 cm or more for women and 90 cm or more for men (19).

Data on sociodemographic characteristics and clinical history were collected by trained interviewers through an adapted version of the questionnaires applied in the National Health and Nutrition Survey of Mexico (23). We used the time since diabetes diagnosis as a proxy of duration of type 2 diabetes and categorized it into 4 intervals (<5 y, 5 y to <10 y, 10 y to <15 y and \geq 15 y). Participants reported whether they followed diet and physical activity recommendations to control their diabetes.

We conducted a principal component analysis of 15 characteristics related to household appliances and services (eg, ownership of car, telephone, computer, vacuum cleaner, washing machine, refrigerator, pay television, internet) as a proxy for socioeconomic status (SES). Similar methods have been used (14). These characteristics had a factorial loading of 0.30 or more. The first principal component was divided into tertiles and used as a proxy for low SES, medium SES, and high SES.

Ophthalmologic evaluation

All participants were interviewed by using a validated questionnaire for ocular assessment. The following data were collected by trained technicians: best-corrected visual acuity, refractometry (by using an automated refractor [Huvitz HRK-7000]), and intraocular pressure (by using a rebound tonometer [Icare TA01i]). Afterwards, all participants received a photographic evaluation of their posterior pole (45° nonmydriatic fundus camera [DRS-Centervue]). Participants were dilated with tropicamide only if the

quality of the photographs was not adequate for grading. We took 3 fields of the posterior pole using a standardized protocol. The first field centered on the optic nerve, the second field centered on the fovea, and third field was temporal to the macula but included the fovea. This protocol has an adequate level of sensitivity and specificity for grading referable stages of diabetic retinopathy (24).

All photographs were sent to Eye Knowledge Network (www.eyeknowledge.net). All cases were masked and reviewed by trained graders from the Hospital Luis Sánchez Bulnes of the Association for the Prevention of Blindness in Mexico. The cases were graded by using the Revised English Diabetic Eye Screening Program Grading System (25), which allows prompt referral of proliferative stages of diabetic retinopathy and macular edema. Diabetic retinopathy was recorded when a participant had background diabetic retinopathy, preproliferative diabetic retinopathy, or proliferative diabetic retinopathy.

Statistical analysis

We tabulated categorical variables as frequency and proportion distributions and quantitative variables as measures of central tendency (mean or median) and dispersion (standard deviation [SD] or interquartile range). We set statistical significance at an α of .05. We compared measures of central tendency according to diabetic retinopathy status of participants (has diabetic retinopathy or does not have diabetic retinopathy) by using the Student *t* test or Mann–Whitney *U* test, depending on the distribution of the quantitative variables. We used a χ^2 test or Fisher exact test to compare the prevalence of diabetic retinopathy across categories of nonquantitative variables. We conducted a descriptive analysis to compare sociodemographic and clinical characteristics and diabetic retinopathy risk factors between participants and nonparticipants.

We developed the screening tool in 3 stages: 1) we developed the theoretical predictive model, 2) we assessed the performance of the model and conducted a validation analysis, and 3) we optimized risk-score cut points for diabetic retinopathy classification.

Development of the theoretical predictive model

For multivariate analysis, we included only participants who had complete information on diabetic retinopathy status (the dependent variable), and we determined whether at least 95% of the participants provided information for each of the independent variables. If 5% or more of the participants did not provide information for an independent variable (theoretical risk factors of diabetic retinopathy), we used multiple imputation through a logistic regression model, where diabetic retinopathy, sex, age, and self-reported diabetes screening were the independent variables, to complete the information.

We generated a predictive probit model based on theoretical risk factors of diabetic retinopathy (5-8,11-13). We decided to use this model to develop our tool because of its easy interpretability as a *z* score from its linear equation and because it provides a predicted probability for the linear predictor (applying the standard normal cumulative function). Familiarity with this distribution provides a better understanding of coefficients and predicted *z* scores. The dependent variable was diabetic retinopathy, and the 4 predictors were time since diabetes diagnosis, high blood glucose, high systolic blood pressure, and physical inactivity. We estimated probabilities adjusted by covariables of having diabetic retinopathy given each risk factor category though predictive margins.

Performance assessment and validation

We used the *k*-fold cross-validation method (k = 10 partitions) and the area under the receiver operating characteristic curve (AUC ROC). To assess the performance of the model in training and validation data sets, we randomly divided the sample into 10 partitions. In each partition, one segment was reserved for model validation (validation data set, $n \sim 10\%$), while the rest of the sample in this partition was used as a training subsample (training data set, $n \sim 90\%$). We calculated the AUC ROC for each iteration and its mean for the 10 iterations.

Optimization of risk-score cut points for diabetic retinopathy classification

We developed a risk score for diabetic retinopathy based on the z predictor of our statistical model. In this way, the attributable score of each risk factor was equivalent to its probit coefficient.

The use of a cost-benefit analysis to select cut points implies knowledge of true and false classification costs; however, it is difficult to have such complete information. To select the optimal cut points of the z predictor to classify diabetic retinopathy, we decided to focus on misclassification costs only through the misclassification cost term (16). We identified points along the ROC curve that minimized the misclassification cost function for various scenarios of misclassification costs and diabetic retinopathy prevalence. The costs of true classification were assumed as null, and the examples of the variations of misclassification ratios were set according to consequences in health costs of screening for diabetic retinopathy.

We estimated sensitivity and specificity across AUC ROC and isocost curves, which minimized the costs of misclassification. Likewise, we estimated positive predictive values and negative predictive values.

We considered the following scenarios for the optimization of the cut points: diabetic retinopathy prevalence of 35.0%, 40.0%, and 45.0%, and the observed prevalence in our sample. We examined various ratios of cost misclassification (classification costs of false negatives divided by classification costs of false positives). We examined ratios of 1, 4, and 10, assuming that classification of a false negative would generate higher health care costs than would classification of a false positive.

The statistical analysis was conducted by using Stata version 13.1 (StataCorp LLC) and RStudio version 1.0.136 with the Optimal-Cutpoints package.

Results

The mean age of our sample was 57.2 y (SD, 11.0 y), and 73.0% were women. The prevalence of diabetic retinopathy was 31.7% (Table 1); 18.9% had background diabetic retinopathy, 5.7% had preproliferative diabetic retinopathy, and 7.1% of participants had active proliferative diabetic retinopathy.

The prevalence of diabetic retinopathy was significantly higher among participants with insulin resistance, high blood glucose, and hypertension than among participants without those conditions. Participants with diabetic retinopathy had significantly longer times since diabetes diagnosis, higher blood glucose levels, and higher systolic blood pressure than those without diabetic retinopathy. In contrast, the prevalence of diabetic retinopathy was lower among participants who were overweight or obese, had abdominal obesity, or used physical activity to control their diabetes than among participants without these characteristics. The prevalence of diabetic retinopathy was highest, by SES, in the lowest tertile of SES and highest, by marital status, among divorced adults (Table 1).

We found no significant differences in the distribution of sociodemographic characteristics, clinical characteristics, or diabetic retinopathy risk factors between participants and nonparticipants.

Development and cross-validation of predictive model

From all independent variables included in our model, except physical activity (data were missing for 17.0% of participants), had at least 95.0% of information. After multiple imputation analysis for physical activity, we obtained a probit model with 939 observations.

According to our multivariate analysis (Table 2), time since diabetes diagnosis was positively associated with the estimated probability of diabetic retinopathy. For example, the probability of diabetic retinopathy was 11.4% (95% confidence interval [CI],

7.9%–14.9%) when time since diabetes diagnosis was less than 5 years, whereas the probability was 56.0% (95% CI, 49.5%–62.6%) when time since diabetes diagnosis was 15 years or more. Similarly, the probability of diabetic retinopathy was higher among those with high blood glucose (35.6%) and high systolic blood pressure (37.4%) than among those without those conditions (23.9% and 29.3%, respectively). On the other hand, participants who reported using physical activity to control diabetes had a lower predicted probability of diabetic retinopathy (25.4%) than those who reported not using physical activity (34.8%).

According to the cross-validation analysis (Table 3), the diagnostic performance of our model was similar between training data sets (mean AUC ROC = 0.780) and validation data sets (mean AUC ROC = 0.778).

Risk-score cut points for diabetic retinopathy classification

According to the prevalence of diabetic retinopathy observed with misclassification ratios of 1, 4, and 10, the optimal cut points were -0.046, -0.640, and -1.209, respectively (Table 4).

Four points minimized the misclassification costs given the ROC curve of our model (Figure). The optimized cut point according to a misclassification ratio of 4 and the diabetic retinopathy prevalence observed in our sample (31.7%) was z = -0.640, with a sensitivity of 82.9%, a specificity of 61.9%, a positive predictive value of 50.3%, and a negative predictive value of 88.6% (Table 4).

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY



Figure. Area under the receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve and points along the ROC curve corresponding to optimized cut points given a cost ratio (classification costs of false negatives divided by classification costs of false positives) equal to 4 and various scenarios of diabetic retinopathy prevalence: a) 31.7%, the observed prevalence in the study population; b) and c) prevalence of 35.0% and 40.0%; and d) prevalence of 45.0%.

On the basis of our data, we propose a risk-score screening tool (Box): A health care provider (can be a nonspecialized provider) asks the patient 2 questions (on time since diabetes diagnosis and use of physical activity to control diabetes) and obtains 2 measurements (blood glucose and systolic blood pressure). Each response is scored, the scores are summed, and a final score is calculated. The health care provider consults a simple chart that shows 4 levels of diabetic retinopathy prevalence, chooses the prevalence that most closely matches the prevalence of the community in which the patient resides, and then identifies the cut point that corresponds with the prevalence. If the patient has a score equal to or greater than the cut point, the patient should be directed to receive a comprehensive ophthalmologic evaluation.

Box. Proposed Screening Tool for Diabetic Retinopathy in Mexican Adults Aged \geq 20 With Type 2 Diabetes, Given a Cost Ratio (Classification Costs of False Negatives Divided by Classification Costs of False Positives) of 4

Application Instructions:

- 1. Check one box per question.
- 2. Sum the corresponding scores of each checked box and then subtract 1.48.
- 3. Use the cut point closest to the diabetic retinopathy prevalence of the population in which you are applying this tool.
- 4. If the patient obtained a higher or equal score to the cut point used, the patient must be referred to specialized health services for a comprehensive ophthalmologic evaluation.

Risk Factors for Diabetic Retinopathy	Score					
The information of the following 2 questions must be obtained by direct interview:						
1. How long have you been diagnosed with type 2 diabetes	5?					
<5 years 🗆	0					
5 to 9 years 🗆	0.55					
10 to 14 years	1.16					
≥15 years □	1.41					
2. Do you use physical activity to control blood sugar?						
No 🗆	0					
Yes \square (If you checked yes for this question, you must subtract 0.33)	-0.33					
The information of the following 2 questions must I from measurements carried out by the interviewer:	be obtained					
3. The patient had fasting capillary or venous glucose high 126 mg/dL or random capillary glucose higher or equal to	er or equal to 200 mg/dL?					
No 🗆	0					
Yes 🗆	0.41					
4. The patient presented systolic blood pressure higher or mm Hg?	equal to 140					
No 🗆	0					
Yes 🗆	0.27					
Sum of scores						
Subtract	1.48					
Final score						

- If prevalence of diabetic retinopathy is close to 31.7%, then cut point is -0.640
- If prevalence of diabetic retinopathy is close to 35.0%, then cut point is -1.017
- If prevalence of diabetic retinopathy is close to 40.0%, then cut point is -1.017
- If prevalence of diabetic retinopathy is close to 45.0%, then cut point is -1.190

Discussion

We developed a practical screening tool for diabetic retinopathy that could be used by nonspecialized health care personnel in lowincome settings. The tool requires information on 4 risk factors. Other risk scores exist (26,27); unlike these, we optimized various cut points according to misclassification costs and diabetic retinopathy prevalence. This optimization allows the application of this tool in various contexts.

We assumed that classifying people as not having diabetic retinopathy when they actually have the condition (false negative) would result in higher long-term health care costs than would classifying them with the disease when they do not have it (false positive), because without timely diagnosis and treatment, these people are likely to progress to advanced stages of the condition. We recommend using the cut points for misclassification ratios of 4 and 10, which gives greater importance to sensitivity than to specificity. Although this recommendation substantially decreases specificity, it does not imply negative health effects, because all people with type 2 diabetes should receive an ophthalmologic evaluation when diabetes is diagnosed (17).

Although the rate of false positives generated by our tool could increase health care costs (as a result of comprehensive ophthalmologic evaluations), the application of our tool could help improve compliance with recommendations for obtaining these evaluations. In addition, the benefits of timely diagnosis and treatment could compensate for any increases in health care costs.

Although we did not have complete information for a cost-benefit analysis, we showed how results changed when the relative importance of the cost of false negatives (type 2 error) to the cost of false positives (type 1 error) varied. We set false-negative rates to be higher than false-positive rates because the health care costs resulting from delays in diagnosis and treatment of false negatives may be high in the context of the screening of diabetic retinopathy. Although the classification performance of our tool was acceptable (AUC ROC > 0.75), the precision of classification depends on the false-negative rate and false-positive rate. Therefore, confirmatory assessment of all cases is mandatory. Additionally, the negative cases identified by this tool also are at some risk of diabetic retinopathy, so periodic exploratory evaluations should be performed in all patients with diabetes.

We presented misclassification ratios only as examples: different ratios could be assumed for future research or in different contexts. Our study demonstrated a simplified approach for developing a screening tool based on a misclassification-cost criterion. Future research should focus on the assignment of costs for the 4 classification types (true positives, true negatives, false positives, and false negatives) on diabetic retinopathy screening context.

We found that systolic blood pressure and the lack of physical activity were associated with diabetic retinopathy; some studies showed that high systolic blood pressure is a potentially modifiable risk factor for diabetic retinopathy (7,12). Physical inactivity could be another important modifiable risk factor for diabetic retinopathy because it is associated with poor glycemic control (28). Our study showed that a simple question about physical activity can predict a significantly lower probability of diabetic retinopathy. Although the question cannot determine whether a person is implementing this lifestyle recommendation, it may reflect awareness and knowledge of self-care practices.

Consistent with other researchers (29,30), we observed a negative effect of obesity on diabetic retinopathy. Participants with overweight and obesity had lower levels of blood glucose and less time since diabetes diagnosis than did underweight and normal-weight participants (data not shown). We believe that the negative effect of obesity on diabetic retinopathy may be attributed to the fact that people with excess weight are experiencing an earlier stage of diabetes than people with normal or low weight.

We found a higher proportion of women (73.0%) than men in our study sample possibly because women engage in self-care practices and informal unpaid activities more than men do; this engagement may have facilitated their attendance to the recruitment process. We found a lower systolic blood pressure among women than among men (data not shown), which, given the higher proportion of women, could have underestimated the effect of systolic blood pressure in our analysis.

Our study has limitations. We did not measure HbA1c, which prevented us from adjusting our model by a variable of long-term glycemic control. However, our model adequately predicted diabetic retinopathy using parameters that are easier to measure and less expensive than an HbA1c test, which is not available at all primary health care service locations in Mexico.

An important portion of the population with type 2 diabetes may not receive a diagnosis for years (17). In Mexico, almost half of the population with diabetes is not diagnosed during routine health care, and many of them have complications that indicate many years of living with the disease (2). However, it was not possible to assess how long our study participants had been living with diabetes. Because the onset of type 2 diabetes can occur at any point during adulthood (random error), age is not the best indicator of diabetes duration. Instead of age, we used time since diagnosis as a variable for diabetes duration. Self-report of time since diabetes

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

diagnosis may underestimate duration, but we considered it to be a nondifferential systematic error that did not affect our results. People with type 2 diabetes may recall onset of their disease inaccurately, but the inaccuracy is the same across the population of people with diabetes, and recall of onset is independent of the diabetic retinopathy condition.

The high health cost of diabetic retinopathy in Mexico is due in part to the lack of a program designed to prevent diabetes complications (15). A challenge for our team will be to develop pilot studies that evaluate the feasibility, functionality, and costs of offering our screening tool at primary health care service locations as a strategy for strengthening the system for ophthalmologic evaluation of people with diabetes.

Early detection strategies must be implemented to reduce the burden of diabetic retinopathy. Our new screening tool is a promising approach and a practical strategy with an adequate performance to detect risk of diabetic retinopathy in adults with type 2 diabetes in low-income communities in Mexico.

Notes

The authors thank Luisa Torres-Sanchez, Selene Pacheco-Miranda, and Hector Lamadrid-Figueroa and ophthalmologists Raul Velez-Montoya and Gerardo García-Aguirre. This study was funded by the World Diabetes Foundation (WDF-13788), by a scholarship from the Mexican Council of Science and Technology (Spanish acronym: CONACYT), and by National Institutes of Health–Fogarty RO3 project no. TW009061. The authors declare no financial or personal conflict of interest.

Author Information

Corresponding Author: Simón Barquera, PhD, Instituto Nacional de Salud Pública, Cuernavaca, Morelos, México, Avenida Universidad #655 Col. Sta. Ma. Ahuacatitlán, CP 62100. Telephone: 52-777-329-30-17. Email: sbarquera@insp.mx.

Author Affiliations: ¹Center for Nutrition and Health Research, National Institute of Public Health, Cuernavaca, Morelos, México. ²Center for Evaluation and Surveys Research, National Institute of Public Health, Cuernavaca, Morelos, México. ³Association for the Prevention of Blindness in Mexico, México City, México.

References

1. Mexican Ministry of Health. Epidemiological emergency statement EE-4-2016 for all the states of Mexico due to the magnitude and transcendence of diabetes mellitus cases, November 1, 2016. Mexico City (MX): Mexican National Center for Preventive Programs and Disease Control (CENAPRECE); 2016. http://www.cenaprece.salud.gob.mx/ programas/interior/emergencias/descargas/pdf/EE_4.pdf. Accessed August 23, 2017.

- 2. Villalpando S, de la Cruz V, Rojas R, Shamah-Levy T, Avila MA, Gaona B, et al. Prevalence and distribution of type 2 diabetes mellitus in Mexican adult population: a probabilistic survey. Salud Publica Mex 2010;52(Suppl 1):S19–26.
- 3. Barquera S, Pedroza-Tobias A, Medina C. Cardiovascular diseases in mega-countries: the challenges of the nutrition, physical activity and epidemiologic transitions, and the double burden of disease. Curr Opin Lipidol 2016;27(4):329–44.
- 4. Jiménez-Corona A, Aguilar-Salinas CA, Rojas-Martínez R, Hernández-Ávila M. Type 2 diabetes and frequency of prevention and control measures. Salud Publica Mex 2013; 55(Suppl 2):S137–43.
- 5. Kim YJ, Kim JG, Lee JY, Lee KS, Joe SG, Park JY, et al. Development and progression of diabetic retinopathy and associated risk factors in Korean patients with type 2 diabetes: the experience of a tertiary center. J Korean Med Sci 2014; 29(12):1699–705.
- 6. Mohamed Q, Gillies MC, Wong TY. Management of diabetic retinopathy: a systematic review. JAMA 2007;298(8):902–16.
- 7. Liu Y, Wang M, Morris AD, Doney AS, Leese GP, Pearson ER, et al. Glycemic exposure and blood pressure influencing progression and remission of diabetic retinopathy: a longitudinal cohort study in GoDARTS. Diabetes Care 2013; 36(12):3979–84.
- 8. Klein R, Klein BE, Moss SE, Cruickshanks KJ. The Wisconsin Epidemiologic Study of Diabetic Retinopathy: XVII. The 14year incidence and progression of diabetic retinopathy and associated risk factors in type 1 diabetes. Ophthalmology 1998; 105(10):1801–15.
- 9. Limburg H, Espinoza R, Lansingh VC, Silva JC. Functional low vision in adults from Latin America: findings from population-based surveys in 15 countries. Rev Panam Salud Publica 2015;37(6):371–8.
- Polack S, Yorston D, López-Ramos A, Lepe-Orta S, Baia RM, Alves L, et al. Rapid assessment of avoidable blindness and diabetic retinopathy in Chiapas, Mexico. Ophthalmology 2012; 119(5):1033–40.
- 11. Matthews DR, Stratton IM, Aldington SJ, Holman RR, Kohner EM; UK Prospective Diabetes Study Group. Risks of progression of retinopathy and vision loss related to tight blood pressure control in type 2 diabetes mellitus: UKPDS 69. Arch Ophthalmol 2004;122(11):1631–40.
- 12. Klein BE, Klein R, Moss SE, Palta M. A cohort study of the relationship of diabetic retinopathy to blood pressure. Arch Ophthalmol 1995;113(5):601–6.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

- Yau JW, Rogers SL, Kawasaki R, Lamoureux EL, Kowalski JW, Bek T, et al. Global prevalence and major risk factors of diabetic retinopathy. Diabetes Care 2012;35(3):556–64.
- 14. Campos-Nonato I, Hernández-Barrera L, Rojas-Martínez R, Pedroza A, Medina-García C, Barquera-Cervera S. [Hypertension: prevalence, early diagnosis, control and trends in Mexican adults]. Salud Publica Mex 2013;55(Suppl 2):S144–50.
- 15. Barquera S, Campos-Nonato I, Aguilar-Salinas C, Lopez-Ridaura R, Arredondo A, Rivera-Dommarco J. Diabetes in Mexico: cost and management of diabetes and its complications and challenges for health policy. Global Health 2013;9(1):3.
- 16. López-Ratón M, Rodriguez-Álvarez MX, Cardaso-Suárez C, Gude-Sampedro F. OptimalCutpoints: an R package for selecting optimal cutpoints in diagnostic tests. J Stat Softw 2014;61(8).
- 17. American Diabetes Association. 2. Classification and diagnosis of diabetes. Diabetes Care 2017;40(Suppl 1):S11–24.
- 18. Qu HQ, Li Q, Rentfro AR, Fisher-Hoch SP, McCormick JB. The definition of insulin resistance using HOMA-IR for Americans of Mexican descent using machine learning. PLoS One 2011;6(6):e21041.
- 19. Alberti KG, Eckel RH, Grundy SM, Zimmet PZ, Cleeman JI, Donato KA, et al. Harmonizing the metabolic syndrome: a joint interim statement of the International Diabetes Federation Task Force on Epidemiology and Prevention; National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute; American Heart Association; World Heart Federation; International Atherosclerosis Society; and International Association for the Study of Obesity. Circulation 2009;120(16):1640–5.
- 20. National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III). Third Report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III) final report. Circulation 2002;106(25):3143–421.
- 21. Aronow WS, Fleg JL, Pepine CJ, Artinian NT, Bakris G, Brown AS, et al. ACCF/AHA 2011 expert consensus document on hypertension in the elderly: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation Task Force on Clinical Expert Consensus documents developed in collaboration with the American Academy of Neurology, American Geriatrics Society, American Society for Preventive Cardiology, American Society of Hypertension, American Society of Nephrology, Association of Black Cardiologists, and European Society of Hypertension. J Am Coll Cardiol 2011;57(20):2037–114.

- 22. World Health Organization. Obesity: preventing and managing the global epidemic. Report of a WHO consultation. Geneva (CH): World Health Organization; 2000. Technical report series no. 894.
- 23. Olaiz G, Rivera-Dommarco JA, Shamah-Levy T, Rojas-Martínez R, Villalpando S, Hernández-Ávila M: Encuesta Nacional de Salud y Nutrición 2006. Cuernavaca (Morelos): 2006.
- 24. Vujosevic S, Benetti E, Massignan F, Pilotto E, Varano M, Cavarzeran F, et al. Screening for diabetic retinopathy: 1 and 3 nonmydriatic 45-degree digital fundus photographs vs 7 standard early treatment diabetic retinopathy study fields. Am J Ophthalmol 2009;148(1):111–8.
- 25. Broadbent D. Diabetic retinopathy: fundamentals for primary care. Diabetes & Primary Care 2013;15(4):201–10.
- 26. Wang J, Chen H, Zhang H, Yang F, Chen RP, Li YB, et al. The performance of a diabetic retinopathy risk score for screening for diabetic retinopathy in Chinese overweight/obese patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Ann Med 2014; 46(6):417–23.
- 27. Azrak C, Palazón-Bru A, Baeza-Díaz MV, Folgado-De la Rosa DM, Hernández-Martínez C, Martínez-Toldos JJ, et al. A predictive screening tool to detect diabetic retinopathy or macular edema in primary health care: construction, validation and implementation on a mobile application. PeerJ 2015; 3:e1404.
- 28. Umpierre D, Ribeiro PA, Kramer CK, Leitão CB, Zucatti AT, Azevedo MJ, et al. Physical activity advice only or structured exercise training and association with HbA1c levels in type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA 2011; 305(17):1790–9.
- 29. Klein R, Klein BE, Moss SE. Is obesity related to microvascular and macrovascular complications in diabetes? The Wisconsin Epidemiologic Study of Diabetic Retinopathy. Arch Intern Med 1997;157(6):650–6.
- 30. Klein R, Klein BE, Moss SE, Davis MD, DeMets DL. The Wisconsin epidemiologic study of diabetic retinopathy. III. Prevalence and risk of diabetic retinopathy when age at diagnosis is 30 or more years. Arch Ophthalmol 1984; 102(4):527–32.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.

Tables

Table 1. Prevalence of Diabetic Retinopathy^a by Sociodemographic and Clinical Characteristics, and Means/Medians for Other Clinical Characteristics by Diabetic Retinopathy^a Status of Study Population in 3 Low-Income Municipalities, Mexico, 2014–2016

Characteristics	Total (N = 1,000)	Has Diabetic Retinopathy, % (n = 317)	Does Not Have Diabetic Retinopathy, % (n = 683)	<i>P</i> Value ^b
Overall	1,000	31.7	68.3	
Sex ^c				
Female	730	30.6	69.4	20
Male	270	34.8	65.2	.20
Socioeconomic status ^{c,d}				
Low	332	35.5	64.5	
Middle	332	32.8	67.2	.04
High	331	26.6	73.4	
Marital status ^c				
Single	100	20.0	80.0	
Married	675	31.6	68.4	.01
Divorced	77	41.6	58.4	
Widowed	133	35.3	64.7	
Can speak an indigenous language ^c				
Yes	47	34.0	66.0	74
No	949	31.5	68.5	./1
Education ^c				
None	162	34.6	65.4	
Some elementary school	454	33.5	66.5	
Some junior high school	237	32.9	67.1	.06
Some high school	82	23.2	76.8	
Some bachelor's degree or more	63	19.1	80.9	
Health system affiliation ^c				
None	83	30.1	69.9	26
				.20

Abbreviations: HOMA, homeostasis model assessment; IMSS, the Mexican Social Security Institute (Spanish: Instituto Mexicano del Seguro Social); IQR, interquartile range; ISSSTE, the Institute for Social Security and Services for State Workers (Spanish: Instituto de Seguridad y Servicios Sociales de los Trabajadores del Estado).

^a Diabetic retinopathy classification according to Revised English Diabetic Eye Screening Program Grading System (grade 1, grade 2, or grade 3) (25).

^b χ^2 test (contingency tables for more than 2 categories or proportion comparison), Student *t* test, or Mann–Whitney *U* test.

^c The percentage of participants with missing data was <5.0% or with complete information.

^d Socioeconomic index developed by using first principal component methodology.

^e Prevalence of diabetic retinopathy was 32.5% among those measured for triglycerides, total cholesterol, and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (n = 418).

^f Prevalence of diabetic retinopathy was 25.9% among those measured for insulin (n = 112).

^g The percentage of participants with missing data \geq 5.0%.

^h Determined by answer to question "Do you have any other treatment for sugar control?" Exercise (no/yes) and diet (yes/no) were provided as possible responses.

ⁱ Prevalence of diabetic retinopathy was 30.7% among those measured for fasting capillary glucose (n = 423).

¹ Prevalence of diabetic retinopathy was 31.6% among those measured for random capillary glucose (n = 402).

^k Prevalence of diabetic retinopathy was 32.5% among those measured for fasting venous glucose (n = 418).

(continued on next page)

(continued)

Table 1. Prevalence of Diabetic Retinopathy^a by Sociodemographic and Clinical Characteristics, and Means/Medians for Other Clinical Characteristics by Diabetic Retinopathy^a Status of Study Population in 3 Low-Income Municipalities, Mexico, 2014–2016

Characteristics	Total (N = 1,000)	Has Diabetic Retinopathy, % (n = 317)	Does Not Have Diabetic Retinopathy, % (n = 683)	<i>P</i> Value ^b
IMSS	150	27.3	72.7	
ISSSTE	72	23.6	76.4	
Seguro Popular	681	33.5	66.5	
Private	13	46.2	53.8	
Other	1	0.0	100.0	
Body mass index, ^c kg/m ²				
<25.0	247	44.9	55.1	
25.0-29.9	416	30.8	69.2	<.001
≥30.0	321	23.1	76.9	
Abdominal obesity (waist circumferend	ce ≥80 cm for women and	l ≥90 cm for men) ^c		
Yes	869	30.4	69.6	000
No	115	42.6	57.4	.008
Triglycerides ≥150 mg/dL ^e	•			
Yes	294	34.0	66.0	
No	124	29.0	70.1	.32
Cholesterol ≥200 mg/dL ^e				
Yes	168	37.5	62.5	
No	250	29.2	70.8	.08
High-density lipoprotein cholesterol <5	0 mg/dL for women and	<40 mg/dL for men ^e		
Yes	329	31.3	68.7	
No	89	37.1	62.9	.30
Insulin resistance HOMA index ≥3.8 ^f				
Yes	48	39.6	60.4	001
No	64	15.6	84.4	.004
High blood glucose ^c (fasting glucose ≥:	126 mg/dL or random glu	icose ≥200 mg/dL)		
Yes	603	38.1	61.9	. 004
				<.001

Abbreviations: HOMA, homeostasis model assessment; IMSS, the Mexican Social Security Institute (Spanish: Instituto Mexicano del Seguro Social); IQR, interquartile range; ISSSTE, the Institute for Social Security and Services for State Workers (Spanish: Instituto de Seguridad y Servicios Sociales de los Trabajadores del Estado).

^a Diabetic retinopathy classification according to Revised English Diabetic Eye Screening Program Grading System (grade 1, grade 2, or grade 3) (25).

^b χ^2 test (contingency tables for more than 2 categories or proportion comparison), Student *t* test, or Mann–Whitney *U* test.

^c The percentage of participants with missing data was <5.0% or with complete information.

^d Socioeconomic index developed by using first principal component methodology.

^e Prevalence of diabetic retinopathy was 32.5% among those measured for triglycerides, total cholesterol, and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (n = 418).

^f Prevalence of diabetic retinopathy was 25.9% among those measured for insulin (n = 112).

^g The percentage of participants with missing data \geq 5.0%.

^h Determined by answer to question "Do you have any other treatment for sugar control?" Exercise (no/yes) and diet (yes/no) were provided as possible responses.

¹ Prevalence of diabetic retinopathy was 30.7% among those measured for fasting capillary glucose (n = 423).

¹ Prevalence of diabetic retinopathy was 31.6% among those measured for random capillary glucose (n = 402).

^k Prevalence of diabetic retinopathy was 32.5% among those measured for fasting venous glucose (n = 418).

(continued on next page)

(continued)

Table 1. Prevalence of Diabetic Retinopathy^a by Sociodemographic and Clinical Characteristics, and Means/Medians for Other Clinical Characteristics by Diabetic Retinopathy^a Status of Study Population in 3 Low-Income Municipalities, Mexico, 2014–2016

Characteristics	Total (N = 1,000)	Has Diabetic Retinopathy, % (n = 317)	Does Not Have Diabetic Retinopathy, % (n = 683)	<i>P</i> Value ^b
No	345	20.0	80.0	
General hypertension ^c (previous diagno	osis or measurement of b	lood pressure ≥140/≥90 mm ł	lg)	
Yes	524	35.5	64.5	006
No	469	27.3	72.7	.008
Physical activity used to control diabete	es ^{g, h}			
Yes	272	26.8	73.2	01
No	554	35.6	64.4	10.
Diet used to control diabetes ^{g, h}				
Yes	345	30.4	69.6	22
No	483	34.4	65.6	.23
Age, mean (SD), y ^c	57.2 (11.0)	57.9 (9.3)	56.9 (11.7)	.16
Time since diabetes diagnosis, median (IQR), y ^c	7.0 (3.0-14.0)	13.0 (8.0-18.0)	5.0 (2.0-10.0)	<.001
Fasting capillary glucose, median (IQR), mg/dL ⁱ	149.0 (118.0-221.0)	194.5 (140.0-243.0)	137.0 (113.0-195.0)	<.001
Random capillary glucose, median (IQR), mg/dL ^J	214.5 (155.0- 295.0)	240.0 (182.0-325.0)	196.0 (148.0-273.0)	<.001
Fasting venous glucose, median (IQR), mg/dL ^k	153.0 (117.0-219.0)	198.0 (146.0-252.0)	135.5 (110.0-197.0)	<.001
Insulin, median (IQR), μIU/mL ^f	9.75 (6.7-13.8)	10.4 (7.3–15.6)	9.5 (6.6-13.7)	.48
Systolic blood pressure, median (IQR), mm Hg ^c	127.5 (115.5-142.0)	131.5 (118.5-147.5)	126.5 (114.0-140.0)	<.001
Diastolic blood pressure, median (IQR), mm Hg ^c	72.0 (64.0-79.5)	72.5 (65.0-80.5)	71.5 (63.5-79.5)	.19

Abbreviations: HOMA, homeostasis model assessment; IMSS, the Mexican Social Security Institute (Spanish: Instituto Mexicano del Seguro Social); IQR, interquartile range; ISSSTE, the Institute for Social Security and Services for State Workers (Spanish: Instituto de Seguridad y Servicios Sociales de los Trabajadores del Estado).

^a Diabetic retinopathy classification according to Revised English Diabetic Eye Screening Program Grading System (grade 1, grade 2, or grade 3) (25).

^b χ^2 test (contingency tables for more than 2 categories or proportion comparison), Student *t* test, or Mann–Whitney *U* test.

^c The percentage of participants with missing data was <5.0% or with complete information.

^d Socioeconomic index developed by using first principal component methodology.

^e Prevalence of diabetic retinopathy was 32.5% among those measured for triglycerides, total cholesterol, and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (n = 418).

^f Prevalence of diabetic retinopathy was 25.9% among those measured for insulin (n = 112).

^g The percentage of participants with missing data \geq 5.0%.

^h Determined by answer to question "Do you have any other treatment for sugar control?" Exercise (no/yes) and diet (yes/no) were provided as possible responses.

¹ Prevalence of diabetic retinopathy was 30.7% among those measured for fasting capillary glucose (n = 423).

^j Prevalence of diabetic retinopathy was 31.6% among those measured for random capillary glucose (n = 402).

^k Prevalence of diabetic retinopathy was 32.5% among those measured for fasting venous glucose (n = 418).

Table 2. Predictive Multivariate Model in the Development of a Screening Tool for Diabetic Retinopathy for Use in Low-Income Communities, Mexico, 2014–2016

	Predictive Probit Model (n = 939) ^a			
Risk Factors for Diabetic Retinopathy	Coefficient (SE)	<i>P</i> Value ^b	Estimated Probability ^c , % (95% CI)	<i>P</i> Value ^b
Time since diabetes diagnosis, y				
<5	_d	_d	11.4 (7.9-14.9)	_d
5 to <10	0.55 (0.13)	<.001	24.9 (19.2-30.6)	<.001
10 to <15	1.16 (0.14)	<.001	46.6 (39.4-53.9)	<.001
≥15	1.41 (0.13)	<.001	56.0 (49.5-62.6)	<.001
High blood glucose (fasting venous or capillary g	(lucose ≥126 mg/dL o	r random capi	llary glucose ≥200 mg/dL)	
No	_d	_d	23.9 (19.5-28.3)	_d
Yes	0.41 (0.10)	<.001	35.6 (32.2-39.0)	<.001
High systolic blood pressure (≥140 mm Hg)				
No	_d	_d	29.3 (26.2-32.4)	_d
Yes	0.27 (0.10)	.007	37.4 (32.3-42.5)	.007
Physical activity used to control diabetes ^e				
No	d	_d	34.8 (31.4-38.2)	_d
Yes	-0.33 (0.11)	.002	25.4 (20.9-30.0)	.002
Constant	-1.48 (0.12)	<.001	d	_d

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; SE, standard error.

^a Multivariate probit model with any grade of diabetic retinopathy (grade 1, grade 2, or grade 3) as dependent variable according to Revised English Diabetic Eye Screening Program Grading System (25).

^b P value for probit coefficients or for comparison of estimated probabilities among categories and lowest category of different variables.

^c Obtained by predictive margins.

^d Lowest category or estimated probability of constant.

^e Determined by answer to question "Do you have any other treatment for sugar control?" Exercise (no/yes) was provided as a possible response.

Table 3. Cross-Validation Analysis (*k* = 10) of Predictive Probit Model (n = 939) in the Development of a Screening Tool for Diabetic Retinopathy for Use in Low-Income Communities, Mexico, 2014–2016

Iteration	Training Data Set (n ~ 90%), AUC ROC (95% CI)	Validation Data Set (n ~ 10%), AUC ROC (95% Cl)
1	0.775 (0.742-0.809)	0.806 (0.720-0.891)
2	0.780 (0.747-0.813)	0.784 (0.690-0.877)
3	0.783 (0.751-0.815)	0.756 (0.642-0.870)
4	0.782 (0.750-0.814)	0.764 (0.659–0.869)
5	0.777 (0.744-0.810)	0.806 (0.712-0.899)
6	0.779 (0.747-0.811)	0.780 (0.664-0.896)
7	0.786 (0.754-0.818)	0.723 (0.603-0.842)
8	0.783 (0.750-0.815)	0.754 (0.653-0.855)
9	0.774 (0.740-0.807)	0.830 (0.746-0.914)
10	0.778 (0.746-0.811)	0.776 (0.672-0.881)
Average	0.780	0.778

Abbreviations: AUC ROC, area under the receiver operating characteristic curve; CI, confidence interval.

Table 4. Diagnostic Tests for Cut Points of a Screening Tool for Diabetic Retinopathy for Use in Low-Income Communities, by Misclassification-Cost Ratio and Various Scenarios of Diabetic Retinopathy Prevalence, Mexico, 2014–2016

	Predictive Probit Model (n = 939) ^a					
Misclassification Cost Ratio ^b	Sensitivity, %	Specificity, %	Positive Predictive Value, %	Negative Predictive Value, %	z Cut Point	
Diabetic retinopathy prevalence	of 31.7% (observed)				
1	56.4	83.0	60.7	80.4	-0.046	
4	82.9	61.9	50.3	88.6	-0.640	
10	96.6	28.7	38.7	94.9	-1.209	
Diabetic retinopathy prevalence	of 35.0%					
1	60.1	81.1	63.2	79.1	-0.121	
4	90.9	45.9	47.5	90.4	-1.017	
10	96.6	28.7	42.2	94.1	-1.209	
Diabetic retinopathy prevalence	of 40.0%					
1	67.8	76.4	65.7	78.1	-0.305	
4	90.9	45.9	52.8	88.4	-1.017	
10	96.6	28.7	47.5	92.8	-1.209	
Diabetic retinopathy prevalence of 45.0%						
1	71.5	74.0	69.2	76.0	-0.374	
4	96.0	31.7	53.5	90.6	-1.190	
10	96.6	28.7	52.6	91.3	-1.209	

^a Multivariate probit model with any grade of diabetic retinopathy (grade 1, grade 2, or grade 3) as dependent variable according to Revised English Diabetic Eye Screening Program Grading System (25). Estimated coefficients from the multivariate probit model are shown in Table 2.

^b Misclassification-cost ratio = cost of classification of false negatives divided by cost of classification of false positives. Ratios of 1, 4, and 10 were used, assuming that false-negative classification of a person receiving diabetic retinopathy screening would generate greater health costs than would a false-positive classification.

PREVENTING CHRONIC DISEASE PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH, PRACTICE, AND POLICY

Volume 15, E146

N<u>OVEMBER 2018</u>

ESSAY

Achieving Excellence in the Practice of Chronic Disease Epidemiology

Renee M. Calanan, PhD^{1,2,3}; Michelle Sandoval-Rosario, MPH^{1,2,4}; Janae D. Price, MPH^{1,2,5}; Claudine M. Samanic, PhD^{1,2,6}; Hua Lu, MS¹; Kamil E. Barbour, PhD^{1,2}

Accessible Version: www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2018/18_0526.htm

Suggested citation for this article: Calanan RM, Sandoval-Rosario M, Price JD, Samanic CM, Lu H, Barbour KE. Achieving Excellence in the Practice of Chronic Disease Epidemiology. Prev Chronic Dis 2018;15:180526. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd15.180526.

Heart disease, diabetes, cancer, arthritis, and other chronic diseases are the leading causes of death and disability and the leading drivers of health care costs in the United States (1). Health disparities and inequalities exist across chronic diseases, behavioral risk factors, environmental exposures, social determinants, and health care access by sex, race and ethnicity, income, education, disability status, and other social characteristics (2). A white paper developed by the Council of State and Territorial Epidemiologists' (CSTE's) Chronic Disease Epidemiology Capacity Building Workgroup stated that for 3 of the Essential Public Health Services - surveillance, communication, and consultation - chronic disease epidemiologists (CDEs) perform functions that are critical to health departments (3). Collecting, analyzing, interpreting, and disseminating data on chronic diseases and related risk factors is vital to understanding and raising awareness about morbidity, mortality, associated costs, and disparities. These data are also vital inputs throughout the process of implementing evidence-based public health approaches to reduce the burden of chronic diseases in the United States.

Chronic disease surveillance is changing, with new priorities that are more upstream, more clinical, more cross-cutting, and more granular than previous priorities; new data sources, such as electronic health records, to supplement traditional sources; and new technologies. Today's state, territorial, local, and tribal CDEs increasingly need to be strategic, innovative, collaborative, and efficient while wearing many hats and taking on leadership roles: statistician, informaticist, demographer, cartographer, evaluator, communications specialist, privacy officer, strategist, convener, and others. CDEs need to expand partnerships across multiple sectors to leverage data and resources to address social, environmental, and economic conditions that affect health and advance health equity. Timely and locally relevant data, metrics, and analytics are of utmost importance in this work to guide, focus, and assess the effect of prevention initiatives, including those targeting the social determinants of health and enhancing equity (4). Concurrently, chronic disease surveillance is challenged by data gaps, limitations in data access and timeliness, increases in data collection costs, decreases in funding, and inadequate staffing. The CSTE's 2017 Epidemiology Capacity Assessment Report enumerated 304 CDEs in all 50 states and the District of Columbia (5). Survey respondents from the 51 jurisdictions indicated a need for 137 additional CDEs (a 45% increase) to reach full capacity, and most (88%) jurisdictions indicated a need to improve capacity in the Essential Public Health Services in chronic disease epidemiology (5).

The public health structure varies across states, and many state public health agencies provide epidemiological technical assistance and resources to local public health agencies. The size, resources, and other demands of local public health agencies might prohibit the hiring of dedicated CDEs or even the ability to have general epidemiologists perform chronic disease epidemiology and surveillance services. In 2016, the National Association of County and City Health Officials conducted a study on the funding, workforce, programs, and partnerships at local public health agencies; 1,930 local public agencies responded to the study survey (6). The survey showed that 49% of local public health agencies directly provided chronic disease epidemiology and surveillance services in the past year; this percentage ranged from 44% to 65% according to the size of the population served: 44% for small populations (<50,000), 56% for medium populations (50,000–499,999), and 65% for large populations (≥500,000) (6). Increasing the number of CDEs to build capacity and enhance expertise in surveillance, communication, and consultation is critically important. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's (CDC's) State Chronic Disease Epidemiology Assignee Program aims to address the workforce shortage of CDEs in states.



CDC's State Chronic Disease Epidemiology Assignee Program

Since 1991, the CDC's State Chronic Disease Epidemiology Assignee Program has helped states build chronic disease epidemiology capacity by placing a CDC employee (hereinafter referred to as field assignee) in a state or local public health agency. Field assignees assist states by providing epidemiologic consultation and leadership for surveillance systems; offering expertise in designing epidemiological studies, analyzing data, evaluating chronic disease prevention and health promotion programs, and disseminating findings; providing data and identifying priority populations for public health program planning; and mentoring and training entry-level and mid-level CDEs and other staff members in epidemiologic methods and data interpretation.

To date, CDC's State Chronic Disease Epidemiology Assignee Program has benefited 36 states and New York City during its 28year history (Figure). Field assignees have served in their state position for up to 12 years. Currently, the program has 4 field assignees; they are in Arizona, Colorado, Illinois, and Indiana. The field assignees' work has directly enhanced chronic disease epidemiology capacity, and CDC has provided forums and training (eg, introduction to CDC surveillance systems, Evaluation 101, geospatial data methods, Behavior Risk Factor Surveillance System weighting methodology, public health law, legal epidemiology) for the field assignees and state CDEs. Field assignees serve as a liaison between the state or local public health agency and CDC. As a CDC employee, field assignees have access to CDC subject matter experts, training, data sets, analytic software, and an electronic library for broad access to the scientific literature, which can help supplement state resources and further contribute to statewide capacity in the practice of chronic disease epidemiology.



Figure. States that have hosted an assignee through the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's State Chronic Disease Epidemiology Assignee Program, 1991–2018. The program has benefited 36 states and New York City.

Accomplishments of Chronic Disease Epidemiology Field Assignees

Field assignees have contributed to capacity building in their states in numerous ways (Box). In recent years, field assignees have focused on analyzing and disseminating state and local data on health disparities and improving data-informed decision-making processes to target public health interventions for chronic disease prevention and management. Colorado's field assignee has worked to enhance data usage for chronic disease program planning. This field assignee collaborated with a state chronic disease grant program to develop a new data-driven approach to scoring grant applications. This new approach was designed to increase the effect of grantee programs on health disparities by elevating scores of applications proposing to serve areas of greater need. To develop the new approach, a county ranking was created by using a principal components analysis of county data on the burden of disease and the social determinants of health, and a new methodology was developed to apply the results of the county rankings to the scores of grant applicants. Arizona's field assignee contributed to several state reports to inform program priorities, including the Arizona American Indian Health Status Summary Report for Data Year 2015 (7), which was shared statewide with tribal leaders and partners working with tribal communities. The report informed targeted interventions and focused on health disparities. Indiana's field assignee contributed to several quality improvement initiatives for chronic disease programming and surveillance,

such as the development and implementation of out-of-hospital and telemedicine programs for heart disease and heart failure patients in rural areas that lacked both primary care providers and specialists. Illinois's field assignee applied a novel approach for the state to better understand implementation of evidence-based interventions for high blood pressure and glycemic control among Federally Qualified Health Centers, organizations that serve approximately 1.2 million of Illinois's most vulnerable citizens. The field assignee is also leading efforts to assess feasibility of a statewide quality improvement collaborative.

Box. Examples of Responsibilities and Expectations of Assignees in the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's State Chronic Disease Epidemiology Assignee Program

• Provide general epidemiological consultation and assistance to the state public health agency, local public health agencies, and partners as appropriate.

• Ensure collaboration across chronic disease programs and with internal and external stakeholders for epidemiology, surveillance, and evaluation activities.

• Consult with chronic disease program managers about how data can be used to support and target chronic disease prevention efforts and develop strategies for strengthening those efforts.

• Enhance data collection, analysis, interpretation, and dissemination.

• Mentor, develop resources for, and conduct trainings for state and local chronic disease program staff members and epidemiologists to strengthen epidemiology capacity and enhance data usage.

• Serve as preceptor and mentor for student interns, fellows, and preventive medicine residents.

• Build partnerships with other agencies and stakeholders across multiple sectors to increase data sharing and usage.

- Develop and implement chronic disease surveillance plans.
- Develop and implement chronic disease program evaluation plans.

Contribute to the development of chronic disease and related state plans.

• Provide technical assistance in writing chronic disease-related grant applications, cooperative agreements, and requests for proposals.

• Make presentations at national and local conferences and meetings on behalf of the state public health agency.

• Publish state reports and articles in peer-reviewed scientific journals.

• Participate in Council of State and Territorial Epidemiologists subcommittees and workgroups.

Past, Present, and Future Capacity-Building Efforts

Many other chronic disease epidemiology capacity-building efforts have occurred or are ongoing. Formal state and local capacity-building programs have included, but are not limited to, CDC/ CSTE's Applied Epidemiology Fellowship and CDC/National Association of Chronic Disease Directors' Applied Chronic Disease Epidemiology Mentoring Program (8,9). These have been successful programs, but expanded efforts are needed. Governmental agencies, foundations, universities, and others committed to chronic disease–related public health capacity building should collaborate with those working in other subject areas to build capacity on cross-cutting competencies. Examples of topics include those identified by CSTE's chronic disease epidemiology capacity assessment: using informatics tools in support of epidemiologic practice; understanding institutional review board processes; using systems thinking in epidemiologic planning and policy development; leading community public health planning processes; practicing culturally sensitive epidemiologic activities; conducting program evaluations; and others (10).

Future efforts should build on past and current efforts, be informed by national assessment results, and target jurisdictions with subpar levels of chronic disease epidemiology capacity. Training efforts should be tailored to address changes occurring in public health and chronic disease surveillance. To achieve excellence in chronic disease epidemiology and to build capacity, the following are needed: 1) identify champions for enhancing capacity, 2) continually review and update the essential roles of CDEs, 3) expand the skills and competencies of the current and future workforce, 4) develop and enhance partnerships to improve data sharing, 5) leverage and link existing data sources, 6) improve the availability of local data, 7) fill data gaps to better measure determinants of health and health disparities, and 8) make data more actionable. Strong commitment is vital to building and maintaining capacity-building efforts in chronic disease epidemiology and surveillance in state, territorial, local, and tribal public health agencies. Throughout these capacity-building efforts and across all chronic disease epidemiology and surveillance efforts, the default view must be through a health equity lens.

Acknowledgments

The authors recognize Paul Z. Siegel, MD, Geraldine S. Perry, DrPH (retired), and Timothy J. Cunningham, ScD (deceased), who helped to create and sustain the State Chronic Disease Epidemiology Assignee Program, and Janet B. Croft, PhD, who provided information for this essay. Support for CDC field staff was provided by CDC cooperative agreements 5 NU58DP005970-04-00, 5 NU58DP004796-05, 6 NU58DP004793-05-02, 5 NU58DP004805-03, and NB01OT009244. The findings and conclusions in this report are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official position of CDC. No copyrighted material, survey, instrument, or tool was used.

Author Information

Corresponding Author: Renee M. Calanan, PhD, Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment, 4300 Cherry Creek Dr S, Denver, CO 80246. Telephone: 303-692-2876. Email: rcalanan@cdc.gov.

Author Affiliations: ¹Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia. ²Commissioned Corps, US Public Health Service, Rockville, Maryland. ³Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment, Denver, Colorado. ⁴Arizona Department of Health Services, Phoenix, Arizona. ⁵Illinois Department of Public Health, Springfield, Illinois. ⁶Indiana State Department of Health, Indianapolis, Indiana.

References

- 1. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. About chronic diseases. https://www.cdc.gov/chronicdisease/about/index.htm. Accessed October 2, 2018.
- 2. Frieden TR; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). CDC health disparities and inequalities report United States, 2013. Foreword. MMWR Suppl 2013; 62(3):1–2.
- 3. Council of State and Territorial Epidemiologists. Essential functions of chronic disease epidemiology in state health departments. http://www.cste2.org/webpdfs/EssentialFunctionsWhitePaperEditedFinal092204.pdf. Accessed October 2, 2018.
- 4. DeSalvo KB, Wang YC, Harris A, Auerbach J, Koo D, O'Carroll P. Public Health 3.0: a call to action for public health to meet the challenges of the 21st century. Prev Chronic Dis 2017;14:E78.
- 5. Council of State and Territorial Epidemiologists. 2017 Epidemiology capacity assessment report. https:// www.cste.org/resource/resmgr/eca/2017_ECA_Report_Web_ final.pdf. Accessed October 2, 2018.
- 6. National Association of County and City Health Officials. 2016 National profile of local health departments. http:// nacchoprofilestudy.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/ ProfileReport_Aug2017_final.pdf. Accessed October 2, 2018.
- 7. Arizona Department of Health Services. Arizona American Indian health status summary report for data year 2015. https:// azdhs.gov/documents/director/tribal-liaison/health-statusreport-2015.pdf. Accessed October 16, 2018.
- 8. Council of State and Territorial Epidemiologists. CDC/CSTE applied epidemiology fellowship. http://cstefellows.org/. Accessed October 2, 2018.

- 9. National Association of Chronic Disease Directors. About applied chronic disease epidemiology mentoring program. https://www.chronicdisease.org/members/group_content_ view.asp?group=128220&id=322741. Accessed October 2, 2018.
- 10. Council of State and Territorial Epidemiologists. 2013 National assessment of epidemiology capacity: findings and recommendations for chronic disease, maternal and child health, and oral health. https://www.cste.org/resource/resmgr/ PDFs/CSTE2013nationalassessment.pdf. Accessed October 2, 2018.

The opinions expressed by authors contributing to this journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Public Health Service, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or the authors' affiliated institutions.